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PART 1

General Provisions
Article 1: Scope andApplication
a) Securities may not be offered in the Kingdom except in accordance with these Rules.
b) For the purpose of the application of these Rules, offering securities shall mean:
1) issuing securities;
2) inviting the public to subscribi@ secuities or the direct or indirect marketing of securities; or

3) any statement, announcement or communication that has the effect of selling, issuing or
offering securities

c) Offering securitiesmentionedin paragraph (b) of this Article shall not inclugeeliminary
negotiations or contracts entered into with or among underwriters.

d) The provisions of these Rules shall not apply to units in investment funds including Real Estate
Investment Funds.

Article 2: Preliminary Provisions

a) Any reference to the ACapital Market Lawo in
by Royal Decree No. M/30 dated 2/6/1424H.

b) Expressions and terms in these Rules have the meaning which they bear in the Capital Market Law
and in the Glossary of Defined Terms Used in the Regulations and Rules of the Capital Market
Authority, unless the contrary intention appears.

c) Any person subject to these Rules may appeal to the Committee in respect of any decision or action
that the Authaty takes under these Rules.

Article 3: Types ofOffers of Securities

Securities may be offered in the Kingdom by way of:

1) an exempt offer;

2) a private placement offer;

3) a public offer; or

4) aParallelMarketoffer.

Article 4: Liability for Incorrect or Incomplete Documents

Liability for an incorrect or incomplete prospectus, supplementary prospecggisiration document,
supplementary registration documeshareholders' circular, supplementary shareholders' circular,

offering document or other documents relating tooffer or registrationshall be determined in
accordance with the Capital Markeaw or the Companies Law, as applicable.

t
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PART 2
Exempt Offer

Article 5: Scope andApplication

The provisions of thipartapply to anexempt offer of securities in the Kingdom.

Article 6: Exempt Offer

a) Without prejudice to the Securities Business Regulations andCapial Market Institutions
Regulations, an offer shall be exempt from the requirements of these Rules in any of the following
cases:

1) Where the securities aresiged by the government of the Kingdom

2) Offers of contractually based securitipsovided that the offer of unlisted contractually based
securities shall be limited to any of the following cases:

a. Where all offerees are investors under the categoriesiitutional and Qualified Clients.
b. Where all offerees are employees of the issuer or of any of its affiliates.

3) Where an issuer whose shares are not listed on the Exchange increases its capital by offering
new shares to existing shareholders

4) Where the dkree is an affiliate of the issuenless it is an offer of a class of shares that is listed
on the Exchange

5) Where all of the offerees are employees of the issuer or of any of its affilidtss it is an
offer of a class of shares that is listedthe Exchange

6) Offers in an insolvency situation where shares are offered to creditors.

7) Where an issuewhose shares are not listed the Exchangéncreases its capital by way of
debt conversion.

8) Where thesubscriptiorin total value for the securities being offeiiedess than 10 million SR
or an equivalent amourih accordance to the following conditions:

a. The offer shallbe not made more than one time during the twelve months after the
completion of the offer

b. Subscription inthe offeredsecurities shall be limited to (50ffereesor less éxcluding
investorsunder the categories of Institutional and Qualified Clieptevided that the
amountpayable per offeregexcludinginvestorsunder the categories of hitstional and
Qualified Client$ shall not exceetivo hundred thousarR or anequivalenamount

c. Declarationby the offeree who participata the subscriptiorior suchofferedsecurities
(excludinginvestorsunder the categories of Iistional andQualified Client$ to the
offeror or theCapital Market Institutiotif the offer is carried out throughGapital Market
Institution) of its acknowledgment tthe risks associated with the investmentluding
what may result iftoss of the full amourtf the investmentand thehat theAuthority shall
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notgive any assurance as to the accuracy and completeness of the documents related to the
Offering or its completenessnd expressly disclaim any liabilityhats@ver for any loss

arising from or incurred in reliance upon any part of thedecuments,and its
acknowledgment thahe offeroror theCapital Market Institutioiif the offer is carried out

through aCapital Market Institutiopdoes not have to notify the Authority of the suitability

of such an investment.

9) If the offering is made through a capital market institution authorised to carry out arranging
activities in the course of carrying out securities crowdfunding, in accordance with the
following requirements and conditions:

a. The offeringshallbe for new shares in the issuer, and the issuer shall not use the proceeds
of the offering to provide loans or invest in otleetities orcompanies om investment
funds

b. The issueris not a company whose shares are listed on the Exchargenpaay wholly
owned bya company whose shares are listed on the Exchange, or any other issuer or other
category of issuers as determined by the Authority.

c. The totalvalue forthe offeredshares of the same class through all securities crowdfunding
platforns or a limited offering of the same issu@uring the(12) months following the
end of the offerinfy shall not exceed ten million SR or its equivalent, and that the offering
through a securities crowdfunding platform shall not coincide with any otheimoffior
the same issuer through another securities crowdfunding platform or a private placement.

d. The offering shall be limited to clients registered with the securities crowdfunding platform,
and the amount i nc usubseriptiorshall net axcded25,080 SRi | cl i e
or its equivalent for each offering.

e. Retalil clients shall not be allowed to participate in subscribing in the shares of an issuer
that was not established in the Kingdom.

f. The issuer shall prepare an offering documenadoordance with the requirements of
Annex ( ) of these rules, and that the offering document is available to clients registered
with the securities crowdfunding platform through the website of the capital market
institution at least five days prito thedate specified to start the offering.

g. The offering period shall not exceed (45) days, and the total proceg®tering during
that period shall not be less than (80%) of the total value of the offering that was disclosed
in the offering document. lthe event that the offering is not completed, the capital market
institution must return the subscription amounts to the subsciibétsout imposing any
feeg within a period not exceeding (5) days from the end of the offering period.

h. The capital market institution shall allow rtstail client who has subscribed to cancel his
subscription within (48) hours from the time of submitting the subscription application
until the end of the offémg period (whichever comes first)and the apital market
institution shall inform its client who has subscribed in the offered sharenediately
and without delaly of the completion of the offering or its cancellation and when its shares
are registered in the issuerds sharehol ders

i. If amaterial change occurred to the offering document prior to the start of the offering or
after the start of the offering and before its end, the issuer must notify the capital market
institution as soon as it becomes aware of such change. In this casapitaé market
institution may, at its discretion, request the issuer to resubmit the offering document, and
it may also rampose the fiveday period stipulated in subparagraph (f/9) of paragraph (a)

10
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of this Article. The capital market institution musttifits client who has subscribed in
the offered shares immediately and without delay of that change, and the client who
subscribed before being notified of that change has the right to cancel or amend his
subscription before the end of the offering pério
j.  If a material changeccurred on the information disclosed in the offering document after
the end of the offering period and before the cheind subscribed in the offered shaies
registered in the issuerds $yhhe capitalonardeer s r e
institution as soon as it becomes aware of such chaigecapital market institution must
notify its client who has subscribed in the offered shares immediately and without delay of
that change, and the client who subscribed iroffered shares has the right to cancel or
amend his subscription.
b) The offeror or theCapital Market Institutior(if the offer is carried out through Capital Market
Institution) shall when makingan exempt offer, notify the Authorityn a quarteny basis ofthe
total numberand valueof the exempt offes theCapital Market Institutiohasmade In addition
thefollowing informationmust be submitted to the Authorityrespect of each exempt offer:
1) type ofexempt offer;
2) categorie®f the offerees;
3) amount paid by each offereategoryin Saudi riyals;
4) date ofthecommencemerntif the offeing;
5) date ofthecompletion of the offéng;
6) name and nationality of the issuer;
7) name and nationality of thadferor;
8) price paid for each security;
9) type of securityand
10) total size of the offeng.
11) Information of clients who subscribed in shares if the offering was in accordance with
subparagraph (9) of paragraph (a) of this Article, with a statement of any contravention of the
requirements and conditions impoghkdrein (if any).

12) Declaration by the offereandicated in shparagraph (c) of paragraph (8) of this Article,
including the following information

a. The totalamount payable per offeregno participaten the subscriptiofior such securities
and the numbeaind description of the securities.

b. Name of the offeree who participatethe subscriptioffior such securitieand its passport
number oMNational ID and signature.

c. Declaration date.

¢) The notification referred to in paragraph (b) of this Artitlest contai the informatiorrelated to
offers that are not complets follows:

11
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1) on-goingofferings

2) name of relevant issuer;

3) name of relevanfferor;

4) the expected date of completion of the affgrand
5) typeand clas®f the offeredsecurities.

d A person (referred to as a Atransferoro) who
paragraph (a) of this article, may not offer or sell such shares to any person (referred to as a
fitransfereed) unl ess t he aldMbrketlnstitubion ansl aHere onesf ma d e
the following requirements is met:

1) the price to be paid for the shares does not ex@®dhousand SR or an equivalent amount;

2) the shares are offered or sold to an investor under the categories of Institutional and Qualified
Clients;

3) the shares are being offered or sold in such other circumstances as the Authority may prescribe
for these purposes.

e) If the requirement in subpageaph (1) of paragraph (d) of this Article cannot be fulfilled because
the price of the shares being offered or sold to the transferee has increased since the date of the
original offering, the transferor may offer or sell shares to the transferee ifptiretnase price
during the period of the original offering did not exceed 25 thousand SR or an equivalent amount.

f) If the requirement in paragraph (e) of this Article cannot be fulfilled, a transferor may offer or sell
the shares if he sells his entirediiog of such shares to one transferee.

g) The provisions of paragraphs (d), (e) and (f) of this Article shall apply to all subsequent transferees
of such shares.

h) The restrictions in paragraphs (d), (e), (f), and (g) of this Article shall cease to applgpmpoval

of listing on the Exchange of shares of the same class as the shares that are subject to such
restrictions.

12
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PART 3

Private Placement Offer

Chapter 1: Private Placement OfferConditions

Article 7: Scope andApplication

The provisions of thi®artapplyto a private placement of securitiés the Kingdom.

Article 8: Types ofPrivate Placement Offer

a) An offer of securities is a private placement where it is not an exemptpitaic offeror aParallel

b)

MarketOffer and falls under any of the following cases:

1) the subscriptionis restricted tdanvestors under the categories|otitutional and Qualified
clients or

2) the offer is a limited offer.

The Authority may, in circumstances other than those described in paragraph (a) of this Article and
upon application of a person seeking to make an offer of securities, determineckthah affer

shall be treated as a private placement subject to compliance with such limitations as the Authority
may impose.

Article 9: Limited Offers

a)

b)

An offer of securities is a limited offerdtt the subscriptiois limited tono more thar§100) offerees
(excludinginvestors under the categories of Institutional and Qualified Cliamd the amount
payable per offeredoes not excee@00 thousandSR or an equivalent amount.

Securities of the same class may not be offered as a limited offer under paragraph (a) of this Article
more than once in@velve-monthperiod ending with the date of the offer in question.

Article 10: Private Placement Requirements

a)

No person may offer securities by way of private placement unless the following requirements are
met:

1) the offer is made throughCapital Market Institutioticensedo carry out arrangingctivities
and

2) the offeror notifies the Authority in accordance with Anneg®sor (3) of these Rules (as
applicablé at leastendays prior to the proposed date of the offer and submits the following to
the Authority:

a. adeclaration by the offerar the formset out in Annex4) of these RulesOr a declaration
by the sponsor in the form set out in Anr{dXa) of these Rules if the offer was made by
a special purposes entity

b. a declaration from th€apital Market Institutiorthrough whichthe offer is made, in the
form set out in Annexb) of these Rules; and

c. copies of any offering documents to be used in advertising the offer.

13
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If a material change to the offering documents mentioned in paragraph (a) of this Article arises after
their dateof submission to the Authority and prior to the start of the affeafter the start of the

offer and beforets end the offeror must immediately notify the Authority of such changen
knowledge The Authority, h itsowndiscretion, may then require the offeror tefite the offering
documents. At the discretion of the Authority, sucffilierg may restart theten-daynotice period
referred to in subparagraph (2) of paragraph (a) of this Article.

If having received theprivate placement notification and the information provided urider
subparagraph (2) gfaragraph (a) of this Article the Authority considers that the proposed offer of
securities may not be in the interest of itineestorsor may result in a breach ofglCapital Market

Law or its Implementing Regulationghen it may take the following actions:

1) carry out any enquiries which it considers appropriate including requiring the concerned person
or its representative to appear before the Authority to answquéstions of the Authority and
to explain any matters that the Authority considers relevant to the private placement offering;
or

2) require the concerned person or others to provide additional information or to confirm, in such
manner as the Authority mapecify, that the information provided is accurate.

If, having taken action pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Article, the Authority determines that the
private placement is not in the interesttiof investorsor may result in a breach of the Capital
Market Law or its Implementing Regulations, the Authority may after giving the offeror a suitable
opportunity to be heard, issue a notification to the offeror stating that the offer is not to be made, or
publish a notice prohibiting the offer, sale or transfeéhe securities to which the private placement
relates.

After the offer has completed, the offeror the Capital Market Institutiormust provide the
Authority withintendays a lisof the categoriesf all persons who have acquired the securities and
details of the total proceeds of the offer.

Where the offer is not completed by the proposed offer end date specified in the private placement
notification provided to the Authority in accordance witlbgaragraph (2) of paragraph (a) of this
Article, the offeroror the Capital Market Institutiormust provide the Authority withiten days

with a notification in writing signed by the offeror confirming that the offer has failed to complete.
The offeror orthe Capital Market Institutiormay extendthe offering periodprovided that such
extension shall be notified to the Authoriigfore the end dat& the offer period

Without prejudice to paragraph (e) of this Article, the offenotheCapital Marketinstitution in
casewhere the offer is debtinstrumentsssuance progranmust provide the Authority within ten
days from the completion of the offering of easfuanceof a programme the details of the total
proceeds and thissuance terms and conditis

The Issuerin case where the Issusra Saudi joinstock company or gpecial purpose entity whose
Beneficiary is a Saudi joirgtock company must depositSaudi Riyaldenominateddebt
instrumentsvith the Depository Center within a period not exceeding tenfdarysthe completion
of the offering or the completion of the offering of each issué#ribe offering was parof adebt
instruments issuang@ogram, provided that the request to depagihdebt instruments with the
Depository Center shall be made by the Capital Market Institution through whopritiage
placement is made

Without prejudice to the provisions of this Article, the issuer whose shares are listed in the

Exchange, whemffering convertible debt instruments by way of a private placement, shall be
subject to the following conditions:

14
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The number of shardato which convertible debt instrumentsay be convertedhall not
exceedl5%% of the i ssuerodés total number of shares.

2) Convertible debt instruments shall not be offered by way of a private placerasnthan once
during the twelve months following the end of the offer.

3) Theissuer shall submit an application to the Authority for the registration of the shares resulting
from conversion of convertible debt instruments in accordancetmgttequirement®f these
Rules and as prescribed by the Authority.

Article 11: Responsbilities and Obligations of the Capital Market Institution
The Capital Market Institutionhroughwhich the offer is made must

a) ensure that all of the conditions arehuirements in paragraphs (a), (e), (@), and (h)of Article
(10) andArticle (12) of these Rules have been fulfilled.

b) disclose thassuance profile for theadbtinstruments referred to in paragraph (h) of Article 10 of
these Ruleent h e E x ¢ h a nig acoosdaneeewlithba farmeprescribedby the Authority
within a period not exceeding ten days from the completion of the offerithg @ompletion of the
offering of each issuandkthe offering was parmf adebt instruments issince program

Article 12: Information to Investorsand Private Placement Advertisements

a) The offeror must ensure that investors are provided with sufficient information on the private
placement to enable them to make an informed investment decision and that such information is
complete clear, correct and not misleading.

b) The private placementffering documents to be used in advertising the offer must contain a
prominent statement in the form set out in Ani@xof these RulesThe private placement offer
documents, used in the announcentsd special purposes entity, shall contain a clear statement
in the form set out in Annef6)(a) of these Rules.

c) No person may make or communicate a securities advertisement (as defined in the Securities
Business Regulations) in respect of a private placernatess the securities advertisement
complies with the applicable provisions of the Securities Business RegulatidntheCapital
Market InstitutiondRegulations

Article 13: No Continuing Obligations

Except as set out in the provisions of this Part, an offeror of securities by way of a private placement is
not required to inform the Authority of any material developments relating to such securities.

Article 14: SecondaryMarket Activity

a) A person (referred to as a Atransferoro) who h

may not offer or sell such securities to any p
sale is made through Capital Market Institutioand where one of the following requirements is
met:

1) the price to be paid for the securities in any one transaities noexceed200) thousandSR
or an equivalent amount;

2) the securities are offered or sold to iavestor under the categories Mbifstitutional and
Qualified Clientsor

15
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3) the securities are being offered or sold in such other circumstances as the Authority may
prescribe for these purposes.

b) If the requirement in subparagraph (1) of paragraph (a) of this Article cannot be fulfillagseeca
the price of the securities being offered or sold to the transferéednaasedince the date of the
original private placement, the transferor may offer or sell securities to the transferee if their
purchase price during the period of the origimrate placemerdid notexceed200 thousan®R
or an equivalent amount.

c) If the requirement in paragraph (b) of this Article cannot be fulfilled, a transferor may offer or sell
the securities if he sells his entire holding of such securities to onectieasf

d) The provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Article shall apply to all subsequent transferees
of such securities.

e) The restrictions in this Article shall cease to apply upon approval of listing on the Exchange of
securities of the same claas the securities that are subject to seskrictions.

Chapter 2: Registration of Debt Instruments Offered by way of Private Placement for
the Purpose of Direct Listing on the Exchange

Article 15: Scope and Application

This chapter aims to regulate tegistration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange in the Kingdom.

Article 16: Requirement to Comply with the Listing Rules

An offeror may not register debt instruments offered by wagrivfite placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange without making prior arrangements for listing those securities on the
Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Article 17: Required Approvals

The issuer may not register debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of
direct I|listing on the Exchange without obtainincg
and the Companies Law and its Implementing Reguigtiand ensure that there are no restrictions
preventing their registration and direct listing. In case of registration of debt instruments offered by way

of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange by a special purposdhentity,

debt instruments offered by way of private placement may not be registered unless the approval of the
board of speci al purposes entity and the sponsor

Article 18: Appointment of Representativesf the Issuer

a) The issuer must appoint two representatives, one of whom must be a director and the other must be
a senior executive, to act as its representatives before the Authority for all relevant purposes relating
to the Capital Market Law, the Companies Law, theiplementing Regulations, other relevant
laws and these Rules. In case where the registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange is made by a special purposes entity,
such entity and # sponsor shall appoint representatives for each of them, to attend before the
authority in matters related to these Rules, provided that the entity's representatives shall be from
the board members, while the sponsor's representatives are a board nmehabsgraor executive.
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b) The issuer must provide details in writing of how its representatives may be contacted including
office, mobile number, and electronic mail address, in addition to written details regarding the
met hods of ¢ ont apresdntatiges if theeoffes was made by @ speaiakepurposes
entity.

C) The issuer and its representatives, referred to in paragraph (a) of this Article, must provide the
Authority, without delay, with all the information, clarifications, books, records amasfthat the
Authority requests from them, for the purpose of implementing the Capital Market Law, the
Companies Law, their Implementing Regulations, other relevant laws and these Rules. Which must
be complete, clear, correct, and not misleading.

Article 19: Appointment of Advisors

a) Where an issuer makes an application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, the issuer must appoint a financial
advisor and a legal advisor.

b) By way of exception from paragraph (a) of this Article, the appointment of a legal advisor is not
required ifthe applicatiorfor registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchargsubmitted by an issuer who has securities listed
on the Exchange.

c) The issuer of debt instruments offered by way of private placement that were listed by way of direct
listing on the Exchange must appoint a financial advisor and a legal advisor vidmeitting an
application for the voluntary cancellation of listing pursuant to the Listing Rules.

d) The Authority may, at any times, require the issuer to appoint a financial advistegaigdvisor
or both, or any other advisors, to advise the issueh@application of the Capital Market Law, its
Implementing Regulations, the Exchange Rules, the Companies Law or its Implementing
Regulations.

e) Where alegal advisor(if any) or afinancial advisor gives advice to an issuer in relation to the
application br registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose
of direct listing on the Exchange or any matter related to the application of these Rules, the Capital
Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rulesust ensure that it gives
appropriate advice in accordance with the rules of its profession

Article 20: Requirements andObligations of the Financial Advisor

a) The financial advisor must be authorised by the Authority to carry out arranging actinitiesy
other securities business related to the services which the financial advisor agreed with the issuer
to provide.

b) Upon an application to the Authority of an issuer for registration of debt instruments offered by
way of private placement for the pugeoof direct listing on the Exchange, the financial advisor
must:

1) be the main point of contact for the Authority in relation to the application.
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satisfy itself, having conducted due diligence and made enquiry from the issuer and its advisors,
that the issar has satisfied all conditions required for the registration of debt instruments
offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange and has
satisfied all other relevant requirements;

3) provide to the Authority any informiah or clarifications in such form and within such time
limit as the Authority may require for the purpose of verifying whether the financial advisor
and the issuer have complied with the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or
the Exchange Rak; and

4) provide the Authority with a letter in the form set out in AnE8) of these Rules.

If matters which should be taken into account by the Authority come to the attention of the financial
advisor during the period between the provision of the letter described in subparagraph (4) of
paragraph (b) or subparagraph (4) of paragraph (d) chtticde (as applicable) and the completion

of direct listing of the debt instruments offered by way of private placement, the financial advisor

must notify the Authority thereof without delay.

In the event that the registration of debt instruments offeyeday of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange is made by a special purpose entity, the financial advisor
shall, upon submitting an application to the Authority for the registration of debt instruments offered
by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, comply with the
following:

1) To be the main point of contact with the Authority in relation to the application.

2) Ensure, after performing due diligence, and ask the special purposes entyotiser and
their advisors, that the sponsor and the special purposes entity have met all the conditions
required to register the entity's debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange and any othated requirements.

3) provide any information or clarifications to the Authority as required within the time limit set
by it for the purpose of verifying the compliance of the financial advisor, sponsor and special
purposes entity of the Capital Market Land its Implementing Regulations and Exchange
Rules.

4) Submit a letter to the Authority as contained in An(#)(a) of these Rules.

Article 21: Requirements andObligations of the Legal Advisor

a)

b)

The legal advisor must be licensed to practice law ifKthgdom.

On an application of an issuer for the registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, the legal advisor to the issuer must
provide the Authority with a letter in the form srit at Annexe$21)or (21)a) of these Rules.
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Article 22: Conditions for Registration of Debt Instruments Offered by way of Private
Placementfor the Purposeof Direct Listing on the Exchange

The conditions for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose
of direct listing on the Exchange are:

1

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

The issuer must be a joint stock compama special purposes entity authorised in accordance
with the Rulesdr Special Purposes Entities

Any application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange must be accompanied by a registration document for debt
instruments offered by way pfivate placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange.

When submitting an application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, the issuer must have tygenaar

either by itself or through one or more of its subsidiaries, the same main activity for at least the
previous three years before submitting the application.

When submitting an application for registration of debt instruments offered by wayvatepr
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, the issuer must have audited financial
statements that cover at least the previous three financial years and that were prepared in accordance
with the accounting standards adopted by SOCPA.

If the period covered by the most recent audited financial statements has ended m@s¢ than
months prior to the expected date of approval of the application for registration of debt instruments
offered by way of private placement for the purpose ottligting on the Exchange, it shall submit

to the Authority a reviewed interim financial statements covering any period from the date of the
end of the period covered by the latest audited financial statements until the expected date of
approval of the gplication for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, or submit audited annual financial statements (as
applicable). In all cases, the period covered by the latest auditeohirfieancial statements
submitted to the Authority shall not have ended more than (6) months before the date of approval
of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on thexBhange.

Where the issuer has undergone material restructuring, an application for registration of debt
instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange
may not be submitted until one financial year hapstd from the date of completion of that
material restructuring. For the purposes of this paragraph, "material restructuring" shall mean:

a. disposing any of the issuer's asset that has contributed in gengB&gor more of the
issuer's revenue or n@come as per the most recent annual financial statements;

b. acquiring assets with a value exceediB@%) or more of the net asset value of the issuer as
per the most recent annual financial statements;

c. acquiring a company with a shareholder equity coristgu30%) or more of the issuer's
shareholder equity as per the most recent annual financial statements.

The senior executives of the issuer must have an appropriate expertise and experience for the
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management of the issuerods business.

8) If reviewed interimfinancial statements are issued during the application period, the issuer must
provide a copy of such statements to the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable.

9) Where the request to register the debt instruments offered by way of private placentkat for
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange is made for debt instruments that have been or will be
offered within a debt instrument issuance program, the issuer shall prepare a single registration
document that covers the maximum amount of debt instrtgribat have been or will be offered
by way of private placement within the program.

10) Debt instruments offered by way of private placement may not be registered for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange unless the maturity date of theirdghiments that are the subject
of the registration application is at | east on
of the application.

11) Convertible debt instruments offerbg way of private placement may not be registered for the
pumpose of direct listing on the Exchange unléss class of shardsto which they may be
converteds listed

12) An application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange may deepted if it does not meet the requirements of
this Article if the Authority is satisfied that it will be in the interest of the investors and that investors
have received the necessary information to arrive at an informed judgment concerning the issuer
and the debt instruments that are the subject of the application.

13) Where an issuer already has securities that are listed on the Exchange, paragraphs (3), (4), (5), (6)
and (8) of this Article shall not apply.

14) Where the registration of debt instruments iteby way of private placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange is by a special purposes entity, paragraphs (3), (4), (5) and (7) of this
Article shall apply only on the sponsor.

15) Where the registration adéssetlinked recourse dbt instrumentsor debtbased recourse debt
instrumentsffered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange
by a special purposes entity, paragrag)iof this Article shall apply on the sponsmnly.

16) Where the registration afebt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange by a special purposes entity, paragraph (8) of this Article shall apply
on the special purposes entity and the sponsor.

Article 23: Requirement to Submit an Application for Registration to the Authority

An issuer seeking to register debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange must submit an application to the Authority which contains the
information required under these Rules, and submit to the Exchange, at the same time, an application
for listing of such securities in accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules.
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Article 24: Supporting Documents

a) The issuer, or the sponsor if thesuer is a special purposes entity, must submit to the Authority
with its application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange electronic copies of the following docufitesttall
maintain original copies of such documents and submit it to the Authority at its request):

1) the letter of appointment of the financial advisor;
2) the letter of appointment of the legal advisor;

3) the authorization letters or powers of attorney ofrdpresentatives of the issuer empowering
them to sign the registration document for registering debt instruments offered by way of
private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange.

4) the issuer's employees list providing the contact debailolved with the application at the
issuer, in addition to the details of the financial advisor and the legal a{iVizay);

5) a list containing the names and civil registry numbers (or the equivalent to it #Sauul
nationals) of the directors anteir relatives, senior executives and their relatives and
shareholders;

6) a formal letter of application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, signed by a represehthive
issuer that contains the applicable information as required by ABhekthese Rules;

7) a declaration by the issuer in the form set out in And€®j of these Rules, and in case the
issuer is a special purposes entity, a declaration by the sponsor in the form set out in Annex
(10)a) of these Rules;

8) adeclaration and undertaking signed by the directors of the issuer and by each proposed director
of theissuer in the form set out in Ann€kl) of these Rules, and in case the issuer is a special
purposes entity, a declaration and undertaking signed by the directors of the sponsor and by
each proposed director of the sponsor in the form set out in Ahh¥a) of these Rules;

9) approvals required by the relevant governmental agencies, where applicable;

10) evidence of the issuer obtaining the required approvals as required under(ARidéthese
Rules;

11) the draft registration document for registering delstruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange, in Arabic;

122t he i ssuerodos certificate of commercial regi st

133t he i ssuerd6s articles of associ anfcasetmissuard byl a
is a special purposes entity, the sponsords a
to date;

14) the audited annual financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years
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immediately preceding submission bétapplication;

15) the latest interim financial statements produced since the date of the most recent audited annual
financial statements;

16) a presentation detailing the structure of the issuer and its subsidiaries, along with a detailed
description of the mosecent restructuring of the issuer (if applicable);

17) the letters of consent from all the advisors on the use of their names, logos and statements in
the registration document;

18) a letter from the financial advisor and the issuer setting out the inapplieghbieements, if no
disclosure requirements under these Rules are applicable;

19a |l etter from the issuer 6s f i(20&fmthede Rdles,ardlvi sor
in case the issuer is a speci ahciamdvispiothees ent
form set out in Annex20)(a) of these Rules;

A

20a |l etter from the issuer ds [2dfthése Rutby,andior i n
case the issuer is a special pur poteferment ity
set out in AnnexX21)(a) of these Rules;

21) a copy of the debenture agreement or any other document constituting or securing such
instruments must be included;

22) in case the issuer is a special purposes entity, the agreement governing the finattoe with
sponsor;

23) in case the issuer is a special purposes entity, the agreement with the custodian (where
applicable);

24) in case the issuer is a special purposes entity, any agreement governing the special purposes
entity's investment or management; and

25) any othe documentation that may be required by the Authority.

b) Following the approval of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of
private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange by the Authority and prior to
the drect listing, the issuer, or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity, must submit an
electronic copy (and shall maintain the original copies for submission at the Authority's request) of
the following documents:

1) A registration document foegistering debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange in Arabic signed on every page by the
representatives of the issuer who are appointed as authorised signatories;

2) the latest reviewed interifinancial statements (where applicable).

c) Following the approval of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of
private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange by the Authority, and after the
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completion of theffering of each tranche of a debt issuance program but prior to the listing thereof,
the following requirements must be complied with:

1) the issuer must submit the following documents to the Authority:

a. a guiding pricing supplement for each tranche underptiogram, signed by a duly
authorised representative of the issuer, as soon as the issuer submits it to the Exchange for
consideration under the Listing Rules;

b. the issuer's written confirmation that the debt instruments in question have been offered
in accordance with the provisions of this Part.

2) The guiding pricing supplement of each tranche under the program must include details in
respect of the issue, maturity and redemption dates (if any) of the debt instruments offered as
well as the pricing detail&nd

3) the guiding pricing supplement must provide the terms and conditions of the issue, in addition
to those set out in the private placement offering documents related to the debt instrument
issuance program.

The issuer, or the sponsor if the issuer $pacial purposes entity, must retain original copies (or
certified copy where appropriate) of all documents required pursuant to this Article for a period not
less than ten years from the completion of the direct listing of debt instruments offered bfy way
private placement. Without prejudice to this period, in the event such documents relate to any
litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or anrgang investigations,

the issuer must retain such documents until the closfithat litigation, claim or oigoing
investigation.

If the issuer has its securities already listed on the Exchange, subparaglaphg12),(13), (14),

(15), (16) and (20)f paragraph (a), and subparagraph (2) of paragraph (b) of this Artidlesh

apply to the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for
the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange.

In case the registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the ptirpose o
direct listing on the Exchange is made by a special purposes entity:

1) Subparagraphs (3), (4), (5), (10), (14), (15), (18), and (20) of paragraph (a), subparagraphs (1)
and (2) of paragraph (b), and paragraph (d) of this Article shall apply to the spoaddition
to the special purposes entity.

2) Subparagraph (17) of paragraph (a) of this Article shall apply only to the sponsor.

Article 25: Registration Document for Registration of Debt Instruments Offered by Way
Private Placement for the Purpose of Direct Listing on thé&xchange

a)

The registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose
of direct listing on the Exchange must contain all information which is necessary e anab
investor to make an assessment of the activities, assets and liabilities, financial position,
management and prospects of the issuer and its profits and losses, and must include information in
relation to the number and price of the debt instrumantsany obligations, rights, powers and
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privileges attaching to them. If the Issuer is a special purposes entity, the registration document for
debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the
Exchange shall inade all information necessary to enable the investor to evaluate the activity,
assets and liabilities of the special purposes entity, in addition to the sponsor's assets, liabilities,
financial position, management and prospects of the issuer and its praf losses, and it shall
include information on the number and price of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement that it wishes to list and any obligations, rights, powers and privileges associated with
them.

b) Annex (7) of these Rules setsut the minimum information which must be included in the
registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange if issuer does not have securities listed on the Exchange.

c) Annex @) of these Rules sets out the minimum information which must be included in the
registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of
direct listing on the Exchange where that issuer has securities currentlphstesl Exchange and
continues to have them listed throughout the registration and listing process.

Article 26: Supplementary Registration Document

a) A supplementary registration document must be submitted to the Authority if, at any time after
the registation document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange has been published and before completion of the direct
listing, the issuer, and the sponsor in relation to issuance of debt inssumgenspecial purposes
entity, becomes aware that:

1) there has been a significant change in material matters contained in the registration document
for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the
Exchange;

2) additional significant matters have become known which would have been required to be
included in the registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange.

b) A supplementary regisition document must contain the following (as applicable):
1) details of the change or new matters in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Article;

2) a declaration in the form specified at paragra@)lof section (1) of Annex7) of these Rules,
or paragraplf7) of section (1) of Annex8) of these Rules (as applicable).

3) a declaration by the directors, and the sponsor's directors if the issuer is a special purposes
entity, that there have been no significant changes in material matters nor additionabsignific
matters have arisen other than what has been disclosed in the supplementary registration
document; and

4) a declaration by the directors, and the sponsor's directors if the issuer is a special purposes
entity, that a copy of the supplementary registradocument has been submitted to the
Authority.
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C) Where a supplementary registration document is submitted to the Authority under this Atrticle, it
must be signed on every page by the relevant representatives of the issuer who are appointed as
authorised sigrtaries.

d) Where a supplementary registration document is submitted to the Authority under this Article, the
information contained therein must be complete and fulfils the requirements of the Capital Market
Law, its Implementing Regulations and the ExchaRgées. If the information supplied suggests
to the Authority that the proposed direct listing of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement may not be in the interest of the investors or may result in a breach of the Capital Market
Law, its Implenenting Regulations or the Exchange Rules, then it may cancel its approval of the
registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing
on the Exchange.

e) The supplementary registration document must npubéished or otherwise made available to the
public without obtaining the approval of the Authority.

Article 27: Authority Powersin Relation to the Application for Registration of Debt
Instruments Offered by Way of Private Placementfor the Purposeof Direct Listing on
the Exchange

a) The approval of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange will only be given by the Authority if:

1) the Authority has received natétion from the Exchange of the Exchange's conditional
approval of the corresponding application for listing pursuant to the Listing Rules;

2) the conditional approval mentioned under -palbagraph (1) of this paragraph has not been
withdrawn by the Exchangand

3) the Authority is satisfied that the information contained in the registration document for debt
instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the
Exchange is complete and fulfils the requirements of the Cabitaket Law and its
Implementing Regulations.

b) The Authority will review the application withif20) days of receiving all information and
documentation required pursuant to these Rules. The commencement of the period is not subject to
t he Aut hotoftheynéticationerafeerédpo in subparagraph (1) of paragraph (a) of this
Article provided that the notification must be submitted to the Authority prior to the end of the
review period, otherwise the Authority may extend the review period for ant@rexceedingl10)
days from the date of receipt of the notification.

c) If, having reviewed the application, the Authority considers that the proposed registration of debt
instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listitng dxchange
may not be in the interest of the investors or may result in a breach of the Capital Market Law, its
Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rules, then it may take any of the following actions:

1) carry out any enquiries which it considers mpiate;

2) require the issuer or its representative to appear before the Authority to answer questions and
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explain any matters that the Authority considers relevant to the application. In case the issuer
is a special purposes entity, the Authority may negjthie entity or its representative and the
issuer or its representative to appear before the Authority to answer questions and explain any
matters that the Authority considers relevant to the application;

3) require the issuer or third parties to provide itididal information or to confirm, in such
manner as the Authority may specify, that the information provided is accurate; or

4) defer making a decision for such period as may be reasonably necessary to carry out further
study or examination.

If, having taken action pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Article, the Authority determines that
approval of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange maybeadh the interest of the investors or may
result in a breach of the Capital Market Law its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rules,
the Authority may issue a "notification” to the issuer stating that the application has not been
approved.

The appoval of the application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange by the Authority shall be considered as
an approval of the registration document for debt instruments otigready of private placement

for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange.

The registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose
of direct listing on the Exchange must not be published and made availab&e gublic without
the approval of the application for registration.

Article 28: Publication of the Registration Document and Formal Notices

a)

b)

The issuer must publish the registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange and must ensure that it is made available
to the public at leagtl4) days prior to the direct listg of those instruments.

The registration document for debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose
of direct listing on the Exchange or the supplementary registration document (as applicable) shall
be made available to the pubtio the websites of the issuer, the Exchange, the Authority and the
financial advisor.

Where an issuer has published a disclosure after the publication of the registration document for
debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpodeeat listing on the
Exchange in a local newspaper, the disclosure must contain at least the following (if applicable):

1) the name and commercial registration number of the issuer, and in case the issuer is a special
purposes entity; the name and comménagistration number of the entity and the name and
commercial registration number of the sponsor;

2) the debt instruments that are the subject of the relevant application for registration of debt
instruments offered by way of private placement, and th&ieysype and class;
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3) the addresses and locations where the public may obtain the registration document for debt
instruments offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the
Exchange;

4) the date of the registration document fobtdastruments offered by way of private placement
for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange;

5) a statement that the disclosure is for information only and does not constitute an invitation to
acquire or purchase the debt instruments;

6) the names othie financial advisor, legal advis@f any),and receiving agents; and

7) adisclaimer as follows:

iThe Capital Mar ket Aut h o Companytakema respdmsbilit$p a u d i
for the contents of this disclosure, make no representations as to its accuracy or completeness,
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance
upon, any part of this disclosure. o

Article 29: Dissemination ofInformation

An issuer who is seeking to register debt instruments offered by way of private placement for the
purpose of direct listing on the Exchange or the issuer of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement thabave been direct listed is subject to the provisions of Article 34 of these Rules.

Article 30: Continuing Obligations

The continuing obligations contained in Part Seven of these Rules shall apply to the issuer who
submitted an application for the registoat of debt instruments offered by way of private placement

for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange from the date of direct listing of the debt instruments
that are the subject of the application.

Article 31: Dormant Applications

The Authoritymay, at its absolute discretion, cancel an application for registration of debt instruments
offered by way of private placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange where such
application has in the opinion of the Authority remained dormdrg.effect of such cancellation is that

if the issuer then wishes to register the same debt instruments that are the subject of the cancelled
application, it must make a new application in accordance with the process set out in these Rules.

Article 32: Fees

a) Anissuer who submits an application for registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on the Exchange is required to pay such fees to the
Authority as the Authority specifies.

b) An issuer whose sedties are registered and have been listed is required to pay such fees to the
Authority as the Authority specifies.
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PART 4
Public Offer

Chapter 1. General Provisions
Article 33: Application of the Provisionson Public Offers

a) The purpose of this Part is to regulate the registration and public offering of securities in the
Kingdom.

b) Securities may not be offered by way of a public offer except in accordance with this Part

c) A foreign issuer who submits an application listing its shares in th&lain Market pursuant to
the Listing Rules shall be subject to Arti¢B6) of these Rules

Article 34: Requirement to Comply with the Listing Rules

An offeror may not offer securities to the public without making prior arrangements for listing those
securities on th&xchange in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Article 35: Required Approvals

An offeror may not offer securities to the public without obtaining all approvals required pursuant to
the issuer's bylaws, theo@panies Law and iisnplementingregulationsIn casewhere securities are
publicly offered by a special purposes entity, such securities may not be offered unless the approval of
the special purposes entity's andshp o n boardsbapprovals are ohied.

Article 36: Appointment of representatives of the issuer

a) The issuer must appoint two representatives, one of whom must be a director and the other must be
a senior executive, to aa@s its representatives before the Authority for all relevant purposes relating
to the Capital Market Lawthe Companies Laviheir Implementing Regulationother relevant
lawsand these Rule#n case where the offer is made by a special purposes sntity entity and
the sponsor shall appoint representatives for each of them, to attend before the authority in matters
related to these Ruleprovided that the entity's representatives shall be from the board members,
while the sponsoriepresentativearea board membend a senior executive

b) The issuer must provide details in writing of how its representatives may be contacted including
office, mobile number, and electronic mail addressaddition to written details regarding the
methods of contaittg thes p o n sepreséngatives if the offer was made by a special purposes
entity.

c) The issuer and its representativeeferred to in paragraph (a) of this Articlaust provide the
Authority, without delay, with all the information, clarifications, Bsgrecordsand forms that the
Authority requests from them, for the purpose of implementing the Capital Market Law, the
Companies Law, their Implementing Regulations, other relevant laws and thesa/futfsmust
be completeclear, correct and not misleading.

Article 37: Fees

a) An issuer who submits an application for registration and offer of its securities is required to pay
such fees to the Authority as the Authority specifies.
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An issuer whose securities aegistered and have been listed is required to pay such fees to the
Authority as the Authority specifies.

Chapter 2: Advisors to the Issuer

Article 38: Appointment of advisors

a)

b)

Where an issuer makes an application for registration and offer of its securities that requires the
production of a prospectus or a shareholders' circular (as applicable), the issuer must appoint
financial advisor and legaldvisor.

Where an issuer whose securities are listed submits an application for the voluntary cancellation of
listing pursuant to the Listing Rules, the issuer must appoint financial advisor and legal advisor.

Where an issuer whose securities are listdmrts an application to reduce its capital, the issuer
must appoint financial advisor.

The Authority mayat any times,equire thassuer taappointafinancial advisor andegal advisor
or both, or any other advisots, advise the issuer on the apption of the Capital Market Law, its
Implementing Regulationsthe Exchange Rulesthe Companies Law or its Implementing
Regulations

Where a financial advisor or a legal advisor gives advice to an issuer in relation to the application
for registration andffer of its securities or any matter related to the application of these Rules, the
Capital Market Law, its Implementing Belations or the Exchange Rulésmust ensure that it

gives appropriate advice in accordance with the rules of its profession.

Article 39: Requirements andObligations of the Financial Advisor

a)

b)

The financial advisor must be authorised by the Authoritsatoy out arrangingctivitiesandany
othersecuities business related the servicesvhich the financial advisorgreed with the issuer
to provide

Upon an application to the Authority of an issuer for registration and offer of securities, the financial
advisor must:

1) be the main point of contact fthre Authority in relation to the application for registration and
offer of the securities;

2) satisfy itself, having conducted due diligence and made enquiry from the issuer and its advisors,
that the issuer has satisfied all conditions requirethxegidration and offer of the securities
and has satisfied all other relevant requirements;

3) provide to the Authority any information or clarifications in such form and within such time
limit as the Authority may require for the purpose of verifying whethefittacial advisor
and the issuer have complied with the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or
the Exchange Rules; and

4) provide the Authority with a letter in the form set out in An2®) of these Rules.
If matters which should be taken into account by the Authority come to the attention of the financial
advisor during the period between the provision of the letter desdnbsdbparagraph (4) of

paragraphlf) or subparagraph (4) of paragraphdtihis Article (as applicableand the completion
of the offer, the financial advisor must notify the Authority thereof without delay.
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d) In the event that the offer is made by a special purpose entity, the financial advisor shall, upon

submitting an applicationotthe Authority for offering and listing securities, comply with the
following:

1) To be the main point of contact with the Authority in relation to the application.

2) Ensure, after performing due diligence, and ask the special purpose entity, the sporssr and t
advisors, that the sponsor and the special purpose entity have met all the conditions required to
list and offer the entity's securities and any other related requirements.

3) provide any information or clarifications to the Authority as required witténtime limit set
by it for the purpose of verifying the compliance of the financial advisor, sponsor and special
purpose entity of the Capital Market Law and its Implementing Regulations and Exchange
Rules.

4) Submit a letter to the Authority as containaddinnex(20)(@) of these Rules.

Article 40: Requirements andObligations of the Legal Advisor

a)

b)

The legal advisor must be licensed to practise law in the Kingdom.
On an application adn issuer for the registration and offer of its securities, the legal advisor to the

issuer must provide the Authority with a letter in the form set out at Aan(2%) or (21)(a) of these
Rules.

Chapter 3: Conditions for a Public Offer

Article 41: Conditions for a Public Offer of Shares

The conditions for making a public offer of shares are:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

The issuer must be a joint stocmpany.

Any application for registration and offer of securities must be accompanied by a prospectus, except
where a prospectus is not required under these Rules.

When submitting an application for registration and offer of securities, the issuer meidideav
carrying on, either by itself or through one or more of its subsidiaries, the same main activity for at
least theprevious three years before submitting the application for registration andobffer
securities.

When submitting an application forgistration and offer of securities, the issuer must have audited
financial statements that cover at least the previous three financiabyebttsatvere prepared in
accordance with the accounting standards adopted by SOCPA.

If the period covered by the ast recent audited financial statements has ended more than six
months prior to the expected date of approval of the application for registration and offer of
securities,jt shall submit to the Authoritya reviewednterim financial statements covering any
period from the date of the end of the period covered by the latest audited financial statements until
the expected date of approval of the application for registration and offer of secarisabmit

audited annual financial statemei@s applicable)n all cases, the period covered by the latest
auditedinterim financial statements submittedttee Authority shall not have ead more than (6)
months before the date of approval of @dpplication for registration and offer of securities
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6) Where the issuer has undergone material restructuring, an application for registration and offer of
securities may not be submitted until one financial year has elapsed from the date of completion of
that material restructuring. For the purposes of thiagraph, "material restructuring" shaiean

a. disposing any of the issuer's asset thatdwagributed in generatin{80%) or moreof the
issuer'sevenueor net incomes per the most recent annual financial statements

b. acquiring assets with a value exdew (30%) or moreof the net asset value of the issasr
per the most recent annual financial statements

c. acquiring a company witla shardolder equity constituing (30%) or moreof the issuer's
shardolder equityas per the most recent annual finanstatements

7) The senior executives of the issuer must have an appropriate expertise and experience for the
management of the issuerds business.

8) Anissuer must, on its own or with its subsidiafieany) hold sufficient working capital to continue
operating for at least the twelve months immediately following the date of publication of the
prospectus.

9) If reviewed interim financial statements are issued during the application period, the issuer must
provide a copy of such statements to the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable.

10) An application for registration and offer of securities may be accepted if it does not meet the
requirements of this Article if the Authority is satisfied that it will be i ititerest ofheinvestors
and that the investors have received the necessary information to arrive at an informed judgment
concerning the issuer and the securities that are the subject of the application.

11) Where an issuer already has securities thaisiezllon the Exchange, paragrapsjs (@), (5), (6),
(8) and Q) of this Article shall not apply.

Article 42: Conditions for a Public Offer of Debt Instruments

a) The issuance alebt instrumentshall be in accordance withe conditions set out iArticle (41)
of these Rules as applicabknd where the offer is made by a special purposes entity, the issuer
must be a special purposes entity autaatin accordance with Special Purposes Entity's Rules.

b) Where an issuer wishes to launch a debt instrument issuance programme, it must produce a single
prospectus which covers the maximum value of debt instruments which may be issued under the
programme. If the Authority approves the prospectus, all debt metris which may be issued
under that programme must be offered wit{Zid) months after the approval of the prospectus.

c) An application for registration and offer of debt instruments may be accepted even if it does not
meet the requirements of this Artiégfehe Authority is satisfied that it will be in the interesttioé
investors provided that the issuer must provide the investors with the necessary information to
arrive at an informed judgment concerning the issuer and the securities that aredatieasubg
application.

d) In relation to an offer of debt instruments by a special purposes entity, the provisions of the
paragaphs (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7) of Artic{é1) of these Rules shall appbnly onthe sponsor

e) In relation to an offer of debt instruments by a special purposes entity, the provisions of the

paragraph (9) of Articld41) of these Rules shall apply dhe special purposes entity and the
sponsor.
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f) The provisions of paragraph (8) of Artigil) of the® Rulesshall not apply in case of issuing debt
instruments.

Article 43: Additional Conditions for a Public Offer of Convertible Debt Instruments and
Exchangeable Debt Instruments

a) The issuance of convertible debt instrumestisll be subject to the following conditions:
1) The conditions set out ifrticle (42) of these Rules, as applicable.

2) Convertible debt instruments may be registered and offered onlysh#res into which they
are convertible are already listed.

3) A prospectus for convertible debt instruments, which would be converted into shares which are
already listed on the Exchangaust contain the informatioset outin Annex (16) of these
Rules.

4) The Authority's approval of the application for registration and offer of a convertible debt
instrument is regarded as approval of the issuance oéléneant share upon conversion.

b) Theissuancef exchangeable debt instruments shall be subject to the fiotjaenditions:
1) The conditions set out in Articl@?2) of these Rules, as applicable.
2) Exchangeable debt instruments may be registered and offered only if the shares into which they
are exchangeable are already listed; and the issuer may not dispose®éghat to the shares

t hat may be exchanged before the expiration

3) A prospectus for exchangeable debt instruments must contain the information set out in Annex
(16) of these Rules.

Chapter 4: Application for Registration and Offer

Article 44: Underwriting
a) The offer of securities must be fully underwritten by one or n@@apital Market Institutions
licensedto carry outunderwritingactivities and thaCapital Market Institutiomust comply with
the Prudential Rules.
b) The provisions of paragraph (a) of this Article shall not apply to:
1) capital increases to acquire a company or an asset;
2) capital increaes by way of capitalisation issues;
3) capital increases by way of debt conversion;
4) capital increasthroughsharessuancevith the suspension of preemptive rights.
5) issuance of debt instruments;

6) issuance of convertible debt instrumerts

7) issuance oéxchangeable debt instruments.
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Article 45: Requirement to Submit an Application for Registration and Offer to the
Authority

An issuer seeking to register and offersigzurities must submit an application to the Authority which
contains the information required under these Raled submito the Exchanget the same timen
application for listingof suchsecurities in accordance withe provisions of the Listing Res

Article 46: Supporting Documents

a) The issueror the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes emiityt submito the Authority
with its application for registration and offer electronic coiethe following documentgt shall
maintain original copies of such documents and submit it to the Authority at its request)
1) the letter of appointment of the financial advisor;

2) the letter of appointment of the legal advisor;

3) the authorisation lettexm powers of attorney of the representatives of the issuer empowering
them to sign the prospectus or the shareholders' circular (as applicable);

4) the issuer's employedist providing the contact details involved with the application at the
issuer,in addiion to the details afhe financial advisor and the legal advisor;

5) a list containing the names and civil registry numbers (or the equivalent to it fedaumt
nationals) of the directors and their relatives, senior executives and their relatives and
shaeholders;

6) a formal letter of application for registration and offer, signed by a representative of the issuer
that contains the applicable information as required by A@eof these Rules

7) a declaration by the issuer in the form set out in Ani€} of these Rulgsand in case the
issuer is a special purposes entity, a declaration by the sponsor in the form set out in Annex
(10)a) of these Rules

8) adeclaration and undertaking signed by the directors of the issuer and by each proposed director
of theissuer in the form set out in Ann€kl) of these Rulesand in case the issuer is a special
purposes entity, a declaration and undertaking signed by the directors of the sponsor and by
each proposed director of the sponsor in the form set out in AhfEr) of these Rules

9) approvals required by the relevant governmental agencies, where applicable;

10) evidence of the issuer obtaining the requiapgrovals tooffer its securities to the public as
required under Articl¢35) of these Rules;

11) the draftprospectus or shareholders' circular (as applicable) in Arabic;

122t he i ssuerodos certificate of commercial regi st

133t he i ssuerds articles of assocandircasetheissued byl &8
isaspecial purposesent y, t he sponsords articles of asso
to date

14) the audited annual financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years
immediately preceding submission of the application;
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15) the latest interim financiatatements produced since the date of the most recent aartiteal
financial statements;

16) the legal due diligence report issued by the legal advisor regarding the application;
17) the financial due diligence report regarding the application;

18) a presentation dailing the structure of the issuer and its subsidiaries, aldtiga detailed
description of the most recent restructuring of the issuer (if applicable);

19) the letters of consent from all the advisors on the use of their names, logos and statements in
theprospectus or the shareholders' circular (as applicable);

20) a copy of the subscription applicatiforms;

21) a letter from the financial advisor and the issuer setting oundpplicablerequirementsif no
disclosure requirementsider these Rulemre appliable;

22a |l etter from the issuer 6s f i(20@fthese Rulesaadd vi sor
in case the issuer is a special purposes ent
form set out in Annex20)(a) of these Rules

2ya |l etter from the issuer d6s [2Bdfthése Rutbsandinor i n
case the issuer is a special purposes entity

set out in AnnexX21)(@) of these Rules

24) in the case of debinstruments or convertible debt instrumenmis exchangeable debt
instrumentsa copy of the debentuagreement or any other document constituting or securing
such instruments must be included;

25) the issuer's internal governance regulations including thieigs for conflict of interests,
standards and procedures for board membership and the charters for the audit committee and
the nomination and remuneration committee;

26) all underwriting commitment letters;

27) in case the issuer is a special purposes eitieyagreement governing the finance with the
Sponsor;

28) in case the issuer is a special purposes ertiy,agreement with the custodiawhgre
applicablé;

29) in case the issuer is a special purposes eumtity,agreement governing the special purposes
entity's investment or management; and

30) any other documentation that may be required by the Authority.

Following the approval of the application for registration and offer by the Authority and prior to
the listing, the issueror the sponsor if the issuer a special purposes entityyust submit an
electroniccopy @nd shall maintain the original copies for submission at the Authority's rgqbiest
the following documents:

1) a prospectus or the shareholders' circular (as applicable) in Arabic signed opageehy the
representatives of the issuer who are appointed as authorised signatories
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2) its updated commercial registratitasapplicablg, and in case the issuer is a special purposes
entity, the entity's updated commercial registrataomd the sponssrcommercial registration

3) the securities allocation model;
4) the latest reviewed interim financial statements (where applicable);

5) all signed underwriting, subnderwriting and distribution agreements entered into in
connection with the offer and the leadumager agreeme(ds applicable)

6) an updated and signed letter that conttirsapplicable information as required by Anri@x
of these Rulesand

Following the approval of the application for registration and offer by the Authority, and after the
compldion of the offering of each tranche of a debt issuance programme but prior to the listing
thereof the following requirements must be complied with:

1) the issuer must submit the following documents to the Authority:

a. a pricing supplement for each tranche&enthe programme, signed by a duly authorised
representative of the issuer, must be submitted in writing to the Authority as soon as the
issuer submits it to the Exchange for consideration under the Listing Rates;

b. theissuer's written confirmation to the Authority that the debt instruments in question have
been offered.

2) the issuer must notify the Authority as soon as possible of the final allocation of the debt
instruments offered as well as the total amount paidpared to the total value offered under
the prospectus;

3) the pricing supplement of each tranche under the programme must include details in respect of
the issue, maturity and redemption dates (if any) of the debt instruoftarexdas well as the
pricing details; and

4) the pricing supplement must provide the terms and conditions of an issue, in addition to those
set out in the prospectus related to the debt instrument issuance programme.

The issueror thesponsoiif the issue is a special purposes entityust retairoriginal copies(or
certified copy where appropriatef all documents required pursuant to this Article for a period not
less than ten years from the completion of the offéthout prejudice to this period, ihe event

such documents relate any litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or
any ongoing investigations, the issuer must retain such documents until the closure of that
litigation, claim or onrgoing investigation.

For an issuer who do@est have secuies already listed on the Exchange and is seeking to register
and offer debt instruments or convertible debt instrumentexchangeable debt instruments
subparagraph@ 6), (17), (25) and(26) of paragraph (a) of this Article shall not apply.

If the issuer has its securities already listed on the Exchange:
1) Subparagraphéb), (12),(13),(14),(15),(16),(17), (18), (20), (24), (25),(26), (27), (28), and
(29) of paragraph (2)and subparagraplt8), (4) and %) of paragraph (b) of thiarticle shall

not apply to the application for capital increase for acquisition of a company or purchasing an
asset
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Subparagraphés), (12), (13), (14),(15),(16), (17),(18), (20), (24), (25), (26), (27), (28pnd
(29) of paragraph (a) ansubparagraph(3), (4) and (5)pf paragraph (b) of this Article shall
not apply to the application for capital increase for debt conversion

3) Subparagraphg5), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), (17), (18), (24) (25), (27), (28).and (29) of
paragraph (a) and subparagra@h of paragraph (b) of this Article shall not apply to the
application for capital increase by way of rights issues

4) Subparagraphs (5), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), (17), (18), (24), (25), (26), (27), (28), and (29)
of Paragraph (a) and subparagraphsa) (5) of Paragraph (b) of this Article shall not apply
to the application for capital increaseoughsharessuancevith the suspension of preemptive
rights.

5) Subparagraphgb), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), (17), (25 and (26), of paragraph (a) and
subparagraplfd) of paragraph (b) of this Article shall not apply to the applicatmnthe
issuance of debt instruments or convertible debt instruroegschangeable debt instruments

6) The provisions of this Article shall not dgpo capitalisation issues.
g) In casehe offer is made by a special purposes entity:

1) Subparagraphs (3), (4), (5), (10), (14), (15), (21) and (23) of paragraph (a), subparagraphs (1)
and (4) of paragraph (b) and paragraph (d) of this Article shall appte teponsor in addition
to the special purposes entity.

2) Subparagraphs (16) and (19) of paragraph (a) of this Article shall apply only to the sponsor.
3) Subparagraphs (25) and (26) of paragraph (a) of this Article shall not apply.
Article 47: The Prospectus

a) The prospectus must contain all information which is necessary to enable an investor to make an
assessment of the activities, assets and liabilities, financial position, management and prospects of
the issuer and dfs profits and losses and must include information in relation to the number and
price of the securities and any obligations, rights, powers and privileges attaching .tdf tinem
Issuer is a Special Purpose Entity, the Prospectus shall includeoathétion necessary to enable
the Investora evaluate the activity, assets aiadbilities of the special purposes entity addition
to thesponsors assets, liabilities, financial position, management, expected opportunities, profits
and lossesandit shallinclude information on the number and price of securities and any obligations
Rights, powers and privileges associated with them

b) Annex(12) of these Rules sets out the minimum information which must be included in a prospectus
for shares.

c) Annex(13) of these Rules sets out the minimum information which must be included in a prospectus
for a rights issueand Annex13) (a) of these Rules satsit the minimum information which must
be included in a prospectus &hrareissuance with the suspensionpoéemptive rights

d) Annex(14) of these Rules sets out the minimum information which must be included in a prospectus
for debt instruments where the issuer does not have securities listed on the ExXthaadssuer
is a Special Purpose Entity, Anngdd)(a) of these Rules shall determine the minimum required
information to be included in prospectus of issuing dested debt instruments for a special
purposes entity. Moreover, annghd)(b) of these Rules shall determine the minimum required
informationto be included in prospectus of issuing adiséed debt instruments for a special
purposes entity
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e) Annex(15) of these Rules sets out the minimimformation which must be included in a prospectus
for debt instrumente/here thaissuer has securities currently listadthe Exchange and continues
to have them listed throughout the offer and listing process.

f) Annex (16) of these Rules sets out the minimum information which must be incluprbspectus
for convertible debt insumentsand exchangeable debt instruments

g) The draft of the prospectus that is submitted to the Authority must be in the Arabic language.

h) The draft prospectus submitted to the Authority must be annotated in the margin to indicate where
the informationrequired by the applicable paragraphs of these Rules has been included and any
changes from any previous drafts must be clearly marked. Each draft prospectus must indicate the
draft number and date of submission on its cover page.

Article 48: Issuances noRequiring a Prospectus

a) A prospectus is not required for the issue of further securities by an issuer whose securities are
already listed where:

1) the securities to be issued wouldri@ase the securities of a class already listed by no more than
(10% in any(12) montts period. For the purpose of determining this percentage a series of
issues in connection with a single transaction will be deemed a single issue, and a series of
transations that is regarded by the Authority as a single transaction will be deemed a single
issue;

2) shares issued as a result of capitalisation issue;
3) an employee share scheme;

4) shares issued as a result of the conversion of debt instruments that consiaiatoalready
listed;

5) shares issued as a resultapital increase bgonversion of debprovided that a shareholdérs
circular must b produced in accordance whiticle (74) of these Rules

6) shares issued as a result alpital increas¢hatis madeto acquire a company or purchase an
assepr ovided that a shar ehoihacerdanée withiArtidéds) ar mus
of these Rulesor

7) split of shares already issued.

b) Where an issuer wishes to issue securities in the circumstances spaqidgraph (a) of this
Article it must make an application for registration and offer to the Authority in accordance with
any applicable requirements under these Rules or as prescribed by the Authority. The relevant
securities may not be issued priothe approval of such application by the Authority.

c) The issuer must disclose any issuance made under this Article in the manner prescribed by the
Authority.

d) If the issuer is a special purposes entity, the provisions of subparagraphs (2), (3), (4)aft, (6)
(7) of paragraph (a) of this Article shall no apply.
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Article 49: Supplementary Prospectusand Supplementary Circular

a) A supplementary prospectus or supplementarly a r e h drtuthremust de submittedas
applicable) to the Authority jfat any time after that prospectus or circular has been published and
before completion of the offdin the case of a prospectus) or before the extraordinary general
assembly is convened (in the casa shareholders circular), the issuamnd the sponsor in relation
to issuance of debt instruments by a special purposes betityimes aware that:

1) there has been a significant change in material matters contained in the prospectus or the
s h ar e hardular éas apdicable); or

2) additional significant matters have become known which would have been required to be
included in the prospectus or the shareholders' circular (as applicable).

b) A supplementary prospectus or supplementary circular must congdiolittwing (as applicable):
1) details of the change or new matters in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Article;

2) adeclaration in the form specified at paragrdth ¢f section (1) of Annekl2) of these Rules,
paragraph (7) of section (1) of Annék3) of these Rulesparagraph 13) of section (1) of
Annex (13) (a) of these Rulesparagraph §) of section (1) of Annex 4 of these Rules,
paragraph (10) of section (1) of Anngbd)(a) of these Rules, paragraph (10) of section (1) of
Annex (14)(b) of the® Ruks,paragraph (9) of section (1) of Annéib) of these Rulespr
paragraphq) of section {) of annex16) of these Rulegparagraph (11) of section (1) of Annex
(17) of theseRules or paragraphi(l) of section (1) of Annex18) of these Rulesas the case
may be;

3) a declaration by the directgrand the sponsor's directors if the issuer is a special purposes
entity, that there have been no significant changes in material matters nor additional significant
matters have arisen other than what baen disclosed in the supplementary prospectus or
supplementary circular; and

4) a declaration by the directorand the sponsor's directors if the issuer is a special purposes
entity, that a copy of the supplementary prospectus or supplementary circuldredias
submitted to the Authority.

c) Where a supplementary prospectus or supplementary circular is submitted to the Authority under
this Article, it must be signed on every page by the relevant representatives of the issuer who are
appointed as authorised sijaries.

d) Where a supplementary prospectus is submitted to the Authority under this Article, an investor who
subscribed for securities prior to the disclosure of the supplementary prospectus is permitted to
rescind or amend his subscription for such sé&esrprior to the end of the offering period.

e) Where a supplementary prospectus or supplementary circular is submitted to the Authority under
this Article, the Authority must be satisfied that the information contained in such supplementary
prospectus or gplementary circular is complete and fulfils the requirements of the Capital Market
Law, its Implementing Regulations and the Exchange Rules. If the information supplied suggests
to the Authority that the proposed offer of securities may not be in threshwfthe investorsor
may result in a breach of the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange
Rules, then it may require the issuer to terminate the offer.

f) The supplementary prospectus or supplementary shareholders' circular must not be published or
otherwise made available to the public without obtaining the approval of the Authority.
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Article 50: Authority Powersin Relation to the Application for Registration and Offer

a) The approval of the application for registration and offer of securities will only be given by the
Authority if:

1) the Authority has receivedotification from the Exchange of the Exchange's conditional
approval of the corresponding application for listing pursuant to the Listing Rules;

2) the conditional approvahentioned under subaragraph (1) of this paragraphs not been
withdrawn by théexchange; and

3) the Authority is satisfied that the information contained in the prospectus or the shareholders'
circular (as applicable) is complete and fulfils the requirements of the Capital Markenddaw
its ImplementindRegulations

b) The Authority will review the application withir(45) days of receiving all information and
documentation required pursuant to these Riilébe application idor registrationand offerof
debt instruments, oegistratiorand offerof convertible debt instruments, the tharity will review
the application withir(20) daysof receivingall information anddlocumentation requirgoursuant
to these rulesThe commencement dhe periodis not subject tdaheAut hor i t yds recei
notification referred to in subparagraph) of paragraph (a) of this Articlprovided thatthe
notification must be submittad the Authority priorto the end of the review period, otherwise the
Authority may extend the resiv period for a termot exceedingl0) days from the date of receipt
of the notification

c) If, having reviewed the application, the Authority considers that the proposed offer of securities
may not be in the interest of the investorsmay result in a breach of the Capital Market Law, its
Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rules, then it may take any of the following actions:

1) carry out any enquiries which it considers appropriate;

2) require the issuer or its representative to appear before the Authority to answer questions and
explain any ratters that the Authority considers relevant to the applicaliocase the issuer
is a special purposes entity, the Authority may require the entity or its representative and the
issuer or its representative to appear before the Authority to answepgsiesid explain any
matters that the Authority considers relevant to the application

3) require the issuer or third parties to provide additional information or to confirm, in such
manner as the Authority may specify, that the information provided is aecara

4) defer making a decision for such period as may be reasonably necessary to carry out further
study or examination.

d) If, having taken action pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Article, the Authority determines that the
offer to be made pursuant to thgpéicationmay not be in the interest of thevestorsor may result
in a breach of the Capital Market Law its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rules, the
Authority mayissue a "notification” to the issuer stating that the application has nohppeved,
or publish a "notice" prohibiting the offer, sale or transfer of title of the securities to which the
application relates.

e) The approval of the application for registration and offer of securities by the Authority shall be
considered as an apprdwd the prospectus or the sharafens' circular, as applicable.
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f) The prospectus or shareholders' circular (as applicable) mubkerpublished and made available
to the public without the approval of the application for registration and offer of securities by the
Authority.

g) The Issuer and its financial advisemrior to the Authority's approval of the application for
registration andoffer of securitiesi are allowedto provide information on the Issuer and its
financial statements tthe group of potential investorsn order to ascertain the extent to which
potential investors are willing to participate in the subscriptiorheflssuer's shares if they are
offered, provided that this does not result in taking a binding undertaking to subscribe

h) The Issuer and its financial advisor may, prior to obtaining the approval of the Authority, request
the registration and presentatidrsecurities by providing information on the issuer and its financial
statements to a specific group@épital Market Institutioato conduct the advice activity for the
purpose ofreparingresearch anfinancialreports on the issuer, provided that suesearch and
reportsshall not be publisheldefore obtaining the approval of thAathority for the applicatiorof
registration anaffer of securities.

Article 51: Publicatonof Pr ospect us, Sharehol dersd Circu

a) The issuer must publish the prospectus and must ensure that it is made available to the public at
least(14) days prior to the start of the offering.

b) As an exception from paragraph (a) of this Article, anés must publish the prospectus and must
ensure that it is made available to the public at I€8tdays prior to thedate of thegeneral
assembly meeting where an offering of a rights issue is to be onadeereshareissuance with
the suspension of preemptive rights is to be made

c) Where an issuer must publish a shareholders' cincuémcordance with these Rulé@snust ensure
that it is made available to the public at ledst) days prior to thelate of therelevant general
assembly meeting.

d) The prospectus, the shareholders' circidar supplementary prospectus or any supplementary
circular (as applicable) shall be made available to the poblithe websites of the issuer, the
Exchange, the Authority arttie financial advisor

e) Where an issuer has published a disclosure after the publication of the prospectus or the
shareholdergircular in a local newspaper, the disclosure must contain at least the following (if
applicable):

1) the name and commercial reg&ton number of the issueand in case the issuer is a special
purposes entity; the name and commercial registration number of the entity and the name and
commercial registration number of the sponsor

2) the securities that are the subject of the relevapliaation for registration and offer and their
value, type and class;

3) the addresses and locations where the public may obtain the prospeitteashareholders'
circular;

4) the date of publication of the prospectuighe shareholdersircular;

5) astatement that the disclosure is for information only and does not constitute an invitation or
offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for securities;
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6) the names of the subscription lead manéfiany), underwriter, financial advisor, legal advisor
and reeiving agents;

7) a statement of the total value of securities that could be issued under an issuance programme
(if applicable); and

8) adisclaimer as follows:

AThe Capital Mar ket Aut h o rConipgnytakennd respbtnsibilitg a u d i S
for the cantents of this disclosure, make no representations as to its accuracy or completeness,

and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance
upon, any part of this disclosure. o

Article 52: Dissemination oflnfor mation

a) The Authority may require the publication of further information by, or impose additional
continuing obligations on, the issuer where it deems this appropriate. The Authority will notify the
issuer of its intentions in this regard and will allow representations by the issuer before imposing
any such requirements or obligations.

b) Except as permitted in paragraph (c) of this Article, information that is required to be disseminated
pursuant to thee Rules must not be given to a third party before the information has been filed with
the Authority and has been published.

c) The issuer may disclose information that is required to be disseminated pursuant to these Rules
before the information has beenefil with the Authority and has been published to any of the
following persons:

) the issuerds advisors to the extent necessar
these Rules;
22 the i ssuerds agent employed to release the i1

3) personswith whom the issuer is negotiating with a view to effecinggansaction or raising
finance, including prospective underwriters of an issue of securities or lenders.

d) The issuer must advise the above mentioned persons in writing that the informadiofidisntial
and that they must not deal in the iissuerds s
information has been made available to the public.

e) Where, in the opinion of the issuer, disclosure of any matter required by these Rules evould b
unduly detrimental to the issuer, and omission is not likely to mislead investors with regard to facts
and circumstances, knowledge of which is essential for the assessment of the securities in question,
the issuer may apply for a waiver from the relévaquirement. The issuer must in that case provide
to the Authority on a strictly confidential basis a statement of the requested waiver together with
the reasons why the issuer believes that the information should not be disclosed at that time. The
Authority may approve or reject the application for a waivérthe Authority approves the
application for a waiver, the Authority may at any time require the issuer to disclose any information
in relation to the waiver.

f) The provisions of this Article shall ply to the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity.
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Article 53: Application to Employee Share Schemes

a) Where an application for registration and offer of securities includegrébution of shares which
are not already listed to employees through an employee share scheme, the following requirements
must be fulfilled:

1) subscription to such shares is to be restricted to directors and employees of the issuer or its
subsidiariesand

2) the issuer must ensure that the total number of shares to be issued under the scheme does not
exceed15%) of the paidup capital of the issuer at any time.

b) The provisions of this Article shall not apply on special purposes entity.

Article 54: Dormant Applications

The Authority may, at its absolute discretion, cancel an application for registration and offer of
securities where such application has in the opinion of the Authority remained dormant. Thef effect

such cancellation is that if the issuer then wishes to seek approval for registration and offer of the same
securities, it must make a new application in accordance with the process set out in these Rules.
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PART 5

Financing Transactions for SpecialPurposes Entity
Chapter 1: New Financing Transactiong-or Special Purposes Entity

Article 55: Scope and Application

This Part sets out requirements applicable to each financing transaction entered into in relation to the
issuance of a new class or seéslebt instruments by a special purposes entity.

Article 56: Approval of New Financing Transactionsby the Authority

a) No financing transaction may be entered into in relation to the issuance of a new class or series of
debt instruments by a special purppeatity without obtaining an approval from the Authority for
the financing transaction application required under paragraph (a) of Aslef these Rules.

b) A financing transaction shall meet each of the applicable transaction conditions spedified in
Part.

c) For the purposes of this Chapter, the Authority's approval may include multiple issues of debt
instruments under a single issuance program. If the Authority approves the financing transaction,
all debt instruments to be issued under the progvdhbe offered within(24) months following
the approval of the Authority provided that the sponsor complies with the following requirements

1) submit to theAuthority, as soon as possibllefollowing documents:

a. pricing annex for each segment of the digstrument issuance program signed by a
representative of the entity attte sponsor auth@ad to signand

b. A confirmation letter by the sponstiy the Authority that the debt instruments in question
have been offered.

2) The pricing annex for each issue aébt instrument shall include details of the issuance,
maturity and redemption dates (if any) of the debt instruments to be included, and their price
details.

3) The Pricing Annex shall explain all terms and conditions of the issue.

4) The Sponsor shall notifthe Authority in writing of the final allocation results of the debt
instruments offered, and the total amounts paid against the total amount specified in the
application.

d) Neither a sponsor nor a special purposes entity shall offer or hold itself ollbvoadhird party
to offer or hold itself out, as offering debt instruments in the special purposes entity which are
subject of the application unless it has recei
(a) of this Article.

e) An applicant shlh commence the offer of debt instruments witline yearof receipt of the
AuthorityG approval under paragrafd) of this Article, failing which the approval shall lapse.
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Article 57: Procedures and Powers of the Authority in Relation to a Financing
Transaction Application

a) The sponsor shall submit an application to the Authority which contains the infornaatibn
declarations required in accordance with the requirements contained iRthese@ndaccording
to the type of offering

b) The Authority shll, upon receipt of all information and documents required, notify the sponsor in
writing of the same, and it may make any of the following decisions within the period specified in
paragrapl{c) of this Article:

1) approve the financing transaction applicat and in respect of a financing transaction in
relation tooffering debt instrumentprivately, the approval of the Authority is considered
obtained upon the lapse @f0) days from the date of the Authority notification referred to in
paragraph (b) athis Article unless the Authoritgerformany of theacions mentioned in this
Article before the lapse of the period specified in thisgaitagraph;

2) approve the financing transaction application subject to such conditiomgesiridions as it
considerappropriate; or

3) rejectthe financing transaction application.

c) For the purposes of paragrafiif) of this Article,the Authority shall make its decisiom iespect of
a financing transactiowithin (20) days, if the financing transaction is in relationte public
offering debt instruments, but if the transaction is related to privately offered debt instruments, the
Authority shall make its decision within 10 days.

d) If the authority, m considering an application made under paragapbf this Article,found that
approving the financing transaction applicatioay not be in the interest of the investors or may
result in a breach of the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange Rules
the Authority may:

1) Carry out any enquiries thdtdeens appropriate

2) Reguest the sponsdts representave or therepresentative of the special purposes entity, to
attend before the Authority to answer questions and explain any matter the Authority considers
relevant to the application

3) Request thapecial purposes entity or tlsponsor to provide such additional information as the
Authority considers appropriate within fourteen (14) days of the requestss the Authority
states otherwise

4) Verify any information provided by the sponsor or the sp@cieposes entity

e) The Authority may refuse to consider the application where the sponsor or the special purposes
entity has failed to provide information requested from it within the time specified-pesagraph
(3) of paragrapifd) of this Article.

f) The Authority may refuse the financing transaction application if the Authority believes that the

proposed financing transactiamay not be in the interest of the investorsnay result in a breach
of the Capital Market Law or its Implementing Regulations

44



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

Chapter 2: Financing Transactions Conditionsfor Special Purposes Entity

Article 58: Scope and Application

a) This Part sets out the conditions that a special purposes shall ensure that they are met with respect
to a financing transaction entered intoibyn relation to the issuance of a new class or series of
debt instruments.

b) A special purposes entity shall ensure that the conditions in Ar(@e$o (65) of these rules are
met with respect to every financing transaction.

c) Where a special purposestigy enters into a financing transaction involving the issue of -asset
linked recourse debt instruments or agsetked debt instruments, it shall also ensure that the
conditions inArticle (66) of these Rules are met.

d) Where a special purposes enstyters into multiple financing transactions, it shall also ensure that
the condition inA r t {67 bf these Rules are met.

Article 59: Financing Structures

There is no limit on the type of financing structure that may be utilised by the gpagiakes entity
in a financing transaction

Article 60: Appointment of a Custodian

The special purposes entityust havea custodian in accordance whliticle (32) of the Ruledor
Special Purpses Entities

Article 61: Investor Protection

Thedocumentation associated with the financing transaction shall inghpdepaiate arrangements
to protectthe interests of investors in accordance Witticle (68) of these Rules.

Article 62: Use ofProceeds

The proceeds of issuance of the debt instruments shadbbised, held, managefivhere relevant)

and investedh consistenc&vith the disclosure made under sk®ules as applicable, and with the

terms and conditions of the debt instruments.

Article 63: Payments andBank Accounts

Without prejudice tdrticle (62) of these Rules:

1) where the termand condition®f the debt instruments provide for such payments to be made to
the special purposes entity, all payments made by or on behalf of investors on subscription for debt
instruments of a special purposes erghgll bereceived into the account of the desigillbank;

2) all payments made by the special purposes estityl berealisedand made in accordance with
these Rules, all applicable laws and regulationshbyHaws of the special purposes entity and the
terms and conditions of the débstruments issuebly the special purposes entignd

3) where the termand condition®f the debt instruments provide for such payments to be made by

the special purposes entity to the investors, all payments siadlebepaid froman account of
special purposes entity
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Article 64:; Investments

Without prejudice tdArticle (62) of these Rules, all investments made by the special purposes entity
shall be subject, monited, managed (where applicabdeld realised in accordance witie Rules for
Special Purpses Entitigall applicable laws and regulations, thelbws of the special purposes entity
and the terms and conditions of the debt instruments issued by the special purposes entity.

Article 65: Enforceability

Each financing contract entered into by the special puroggyg in relation to a financing transaction
shall be:

1) legal, valid and binding on each party to it insofar as relevant to the interests of investors, except as
clearly disclosed in the prospectus or private placement offering document; and

2) consistent vth the disclosure provided under these Rules, as applicable.

Article 66: Financing Transactions Involving the Issue of Assekinked Recourse Debt
Instruments or Asset Backed Debt Instruments

Financing transaction involving the issue of adiséed recourse debt instruments or adsetked debt
instruments is subject to the following requirements:

1) In relation to issuin@s®t-linked recourseadebt istrumentghe sponsor shall keSaudijoint stock
companya Capital Market Institutioficensed to carry on securities business related to the business
of special purposes entities local bank or a finance companith the required licenses to carry
on their businessand activities from the relavant government entjtiesaccordance uh sub
paragraphX) of paragraph (a) drticle (11) of the Rules for Special Purpses Entities

2) Inrelation to issuingssé-backed debt istruments, the sponsor shall be a Ranidtockor limited
liability companya Capital Market Institutioticensed to carry on securities business related to the
business of special purposes entitiegcall bank or a finance compawjth the required licenses
to carry on their business and activities from the relavant government entities, in accordance with
subparagraph (2) of paragraph (a) of Arti¢lel) of the Rules for Special Purges Entities.

3) As anexceptiorto theprovisions of paragraph (1) of this Article, if a special purpesgisyissues,
or intends to issue, asdatked recoursalebt instruments through a privagiecementthe sponsor
may be &Saudilimited liability Company, in accordance with sphragraph (3) of paragrapé) (
of Article (11) of the Rules for Special Purpses Entities

4) the custodian shall hold custody of thed estate assets argkcuritiesownedby the special
purposes entitfif any), in accordance witlrticle (31) of the Rules for Special Purpses Entities.

Article 67: Multiple Financing Transactions

The sponsor shall be able to demonstrate to the Authibatyadequate legal safeguards are in place to
ensure that investors in a financing transaction are not at risk of losses arising from the liability of the
special purposes entity under any other financing transaction to which the special purposés entity
party, unless the transaction is a part of a financing transaction and it was clearly disclosed in the
prospectus or private placement offering document, as applicable.
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Chapter 3: Investors Protection

Article 68: Investors Protection

a)

b)

c)

The documentatioassociated with the financing transaction shall include adequate protections for
holders of debt instruments issued by the special purposes entity. This shall include at a minimum
the arrangements set out in this Article.

The documentation associated witle financing transaction shall include a valid, legally binding
and irrevocable arrangement enabling holders of debt instruments, acting by a majority of the
holders (by par value) eligible to vote of each class of holders of debt instrument issued by th
special purposes entity, to compel the special purposes entity:

1) to act in accordance with the instructions of the holders in relation to the financing transaction
to which their debt instruments relate; and

2) to repay all rights and claims of the speciakgmses entity with respect to the financing
transaction.

Neither the sponsor nor any affiliate of it, nor any person acting on behalf of the sponsor, may
exercise any voting rights with respect to debt instruments issued to it in a meeting of holders of a
class of debt instruments.

Article 69: Stop Orders

a)

b)

The Authority may at any time issue an order to a special purposes entity or its sponsor prohibiting
or restricting the marketing or sale of debt instruments in the special purposes entifyuthibrty

believes that the marketing or sale of those debt instruments may result in a breach of the Capital
Market Law or its Implementing Regulations.

A special purposes entity or sponsor served with a notice under paragraph (a) of this Article shall:

1) immediately cease, and procure that any person acting on its behalf ceases, the marketing or
sale of the debt instruments;

2) immediately notify any other person of whom it is aware marketing or selling the debt
instruments of the issue of the order; and

3) onrequest from the Authority, notify the Authority of the identity of any person involved in the
marketing or selling of the debt instruments.

a7



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

PART 6
Capital Alteration

Chapter 1: Capital Increase for Issuersof Listed Shares
Article 70: Scope andApplication

a) The purpose of this Parttis regulate the issuance, registrat@oml offemg or cancelatiomf shares
as a result oh capital alteation ofanissuer whose shares are listedtheMain Market

b) The Special purposes entities shall not be subject to the provisions of this Part.

c) A foreign issuer whose shares are listed orMha Market pursuant to the Listing Rules shadk
be subject to the provisions of this Part.

Article 71: Application Submission for Capital Increase of Issuers of Listed Securities
and Supporting Documents

Where an issuer wishes to register and offer new shares of a class alreadhy lisiisthg its capital
either by wayof rights issueshareissuance with theuspension of preemptive rightspitalisation

i ssue, debt conversion, acquisition of a compan
approval priortc al | i ng for the issuerés extraordinary g:¢
extraordinary general assembly of thsuer must be obtained within six months of the approval of the

Aut hori ty. If the assemblybés approval i s not obt

be deemed to be cancelled and the issuer will be required to resubmit its lettercaaitiapii it still
wishes to increase its capital.

Article 72: Conditions andRequirements Applicable to a Rights Issue or Capital Increase
with the Suspension of Preemptive Rights

a) In addition to any other applicable requirements uddtcle (46) of these Rules, where an issuer
wishes to submit an application for registration and offer of securities to the Authority in respect of
a rights issuer for registratio and offerof securitiesfor capital increase with the suspension of
preemptive rightsthe following conditions must be satisfied:

1) details of the proceeds of any previous rights issurepreviousshareissuances with the
suspension of preemptive rightaist be provided and such details must be compared with the
disclosure made under the previoakevantprospectusand

2) details of any qualifications made in the audited financial statements for the preceding financial
year must be provided

b) The increasef capital with the suspension of preemptive rights shall not exceed, for each issue,
(15%) of the issuer's capitahndthe offer of the shares of a capital increase with the suspension of
preemptive rights shall be limited to investors of the categofigaalified clients and institutional
clients.

¢) Investors, who own the shares of a capital increase with the suspension of preemptive rights, must
not dispose of such shares during a period of six months following their listing date.
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d) The issuer must subntiv the Authority after the approval of an application for registradioo
offer of securitiesfor capital increase with the suspension of preemptive rights and before listing
such securitiean electronic copy of thiest of shareholders and shares adlted tothem and the
issuer musinaintain the original copof thisdocumentand submitt to the Authority at request

e) Wherethe offer is not completed by the prescribed offer end date specifiguraspectugor the
shareissuance with the suspension of preemptive rights,financial advisor must provide the
Authority within ten day®f theoffer end datevith a notification in writing signed by the financial
advisor confirming that the offer has not completed. The fiehadvisor may, in consultation with
the issuer, extend the period of the offer betbmend date of the offegndthe investos of the
categories of qualified clients and institutional cliemts has subscribed to the shares prior to the
extension othe offer period may cancel or ameaheir subscriptios.

f) The issuer musin the eventof any discrepancy of5%) or morebetween the actual use of the
proceeds from a rights issue ashardssuancewith the suspension of preemptive rights and the
planned use of proceeds that was disclosed in the relevant prospectasediach discrepancy to
the public as it becomes aware of such discrepancy

Article 73. Conditions and Requirements Applicable to a Capitalisation Issue

Where an issuer wishes to increase its capital by way aapitalisation issue it must submit to the
Authority a letter of application that includes the minimum information set out in Af2&xf these
Rules.

Article 74: Conditions and Requirements Applicable to Capital Increase Through Debt
Conversion

a) In addition to any other applicable requirements uddtcle (46) of these Rules, where an issuer
wishes to increase its capital by way ofebtdlconversion, the issuerust submit the following
documents to the Authority:

1) a statement of the origin and amount of the debt; signed and certified by the board of directors
and the auditors of the issuand

2) alegal review report and a legal opinion issued by the isdagdkadvisor on the extent to
which the debt conversion transactiamplies with the relevant laws.

b) Where an issuer wishes to increase its capital by way of a debt conversion it must produce a circular
for its shareholders stating the information reqlileeenable the shareholders to make an informed
vote at the relevant extraordinary general assembly. This circular shall include, but is not limited to
the items set out in Anngd7) of these Rules.

c) The shar eh odsabmittesl to the Autharitnlrespect ok requesof a capital increase
by way of a debt conversiomust be produceid Arabicand beannotatedn the margin to indicate
where the information required by the applicable paragraphs offudsshave been includeshd
any changes from any previous drafts must be clearly madeed h dr aft sharehol d
must indicate the draft number and date of submission on its cover page.

Article 75: Conditions and Requirements Applicable to a Capital Increase to Acquira
Company or Purchase an Asset

In addition to any other applicable requirements urdécle (46) of these Rules, where the purpose

of a capital increase is to acquire a company or purchase an asset, the following requirements must be
complied with as applicable:
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1) The i ssuer mu st submit to the Authoritoy a r ef
comprising the issuerodos valwuation and a valuat
to be purchased

2) The issuer must submit to the Authority a financial due diligence report and a legal due diligence
report issued by the legal advisor fbe target company to be acquired or assets to be purchased

3) The issuer must produce a circular for its shareholders stagngformation required to enable
the shareholders to make an informed vote at the extraordinary general assembly. Thislkaitular
include, but is not limited to the items set out in An(E) of these Rules

4 The shar ehoisumitted @ the Autharity in eespect of a request of a capitataser
to acquire a company or purchase an assetstbe produced in Arabiand be annotated in the
margin to indicate where the information required by the applicable paragraphs & tles®ve

been included and any changes from any previous drafts must be clearly marked. Each draft
s har e hol d ewssiriicateithe draftihumber and date of submission on its cover page.

Chapter 2: Capital Reduction for Issuers of Listed Shares

Article 76. Conditions and Requirements Applicableto a Capital Reduction

a) Where an issuer wishes to reduce its share capital, it must submit to the Authority a letter of
application that includethe minimum information set out in Anné3) of these Rules, for the
Authority's approval prior to obtaining the approval of the relevant extraordinary general assembly
of the issuer on the capital reduction. The application must be accompanieddipttiag:
1) the letter of appointment for the financial advisor;
2) the letter of appointment for the legal adviGbany);

3) an external auditorés report on the reasons f
reduction on the issuetigbilities;

4) the proposed method of capital reduction and the expected effect of such reduction;
5) a copy of the shareholders' circular as per paragraph b) below; and
6) any other documentation as may be required by the Authority.

b) Where an issuer wishes to reduts share capital, it must also produce a circular for its shareholders
stating the information required to enable the shareholders to make an informed vote at the relevant
extraordinary general assembly. This circular shall include, but is not litoitéue following:

1) the general structure of the proposed reduction in share capital,

2) the rationale behind the proposed reduction in share capital, including a reasoned discussion
from management in this regard,

3) the risk factors related to the proposed otidm in share capital;
4) the proposed timing of the process; and

5) a statement from the directors of the issuer confirming that in the board's view, the proposed
reduction in share capital is in the best interests of the issuer and the shareholders.
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c) Theshark ol d e r s ésubmitted couHe Authority in respect of a capital reduction reguest
must be produced in Arabic language andabeotated in the margin to indicate where the
information required by the applicable paragraphs of tiiadeshave beenncluded and any
changes from any previous drafts must be clear
indicate the draft number and date of submission on its cover page.
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PART 7

Continuing Obligations
Chapter 1: Disclosures
Article 77. Scope andApplication

a) The purpose of this Part is regulatethe continuing obligationsf issuers whoseecuritiesare
listedon theMain Market

b) Provisions of Articlg(78), paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (6), (10), (11), (X28), (14), (15), (16),26),
(27), (28) and @9) of Article (80), paragraphs (a) and (e) of Artiql@l) , and Articles(82), (84)
and(86) of theseRulesshall apply to thesponsor.

c) Provisions of paragraphs (480) and B1) of Article (80) of theseRulesshall only apply to the
sponsor, in case the issuer is a special purposes entity.

d) Provisions of Article(85), Article (87), and paragraph (b) of Artici86) of theseRulesshall not
apply to the issues made by a special purposes entity.

e) A foreign issuer whose shares are listed orMhen Market pursuant to the Listing Rules shall be
subject to the provisionsf Article (78), Article (79), and paragraphd), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7),
(8). (9), (10), (11), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), (26), (27), (28), (29), (30), (31), (32), (33) and(34)
of Article (80), subparagraph (1) gbaragraph (a) and paragraphpgind(e) of Article (81), Article
(82), Article (83), Article (84), Article (85) and Article(86) of these Rules

Article 78. Complete, Clear, Accurate andnot Misleading Disclosures

a) All disclosures made by an issuer mustcbenplete, clear, accurate and not misleading and shall
comply with the means of disclosure specified by the Exchange in the Listing Rules.

b) Where, in the opinion of the issuer, disclosure of any matter required by these Rules would be
unduly detrimental tehe issuer, and omission is not likely to mislead investors with regard to facts
and circumstances, knowledge of which is essential for the assessment of the securities in question,
the issuer may apply for a waiver from the relevant requirement or ofieeraquest to delay the
disclosure. The issuer must in that case provide to the Authority on a strictly confidential basis a
statement of the requested waiver or delay together with the reasons why the issuer believes that
the information should not be dlssed at that time. The Authority may approve or reject the
application for a waiver or delay. If the Authority approves the application for a waiver or delay,
the Authority may at any time require the issuer to disclose any information in relationviaivee
or delay.

c) Allinformation and material developments stated in this Chapter shall be deemed confidential until
they are disclosed. Before disclosing such information and material developments, the issuer shall
be prohibited from communicating suchfdrmation to parties not bound by a confidentiality
obligation and an obligation to protect such information. An issuer must also take all necessary
steps to prevent the leakage of any information and material developments before disclosing them
as deschbed in the Listing Rules.

d) An issuer must determine the need to publish a disclosure to the public in response to rumours

related to any material developments, and the Authority may require such publication to be made
by the issuer as it sees appropriate.
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Article 79: Obligation to Disclose Material Developments

a) An issuer must discloge the Authority and the publiwithout delay any material developments
in its sphere of activity which are not public knowledge, and which may affect the assets and
liabilities or financial position or the general course of business of the issuer or its subsidiaries and
which may reaswably lead to movements in the price of the issuer's listed securities or significantly
affect an issuerds ability to meet its commitm

b) Exception from paragraph (a) of this Article, if the issuer is a sppuaigloses entity, the special
purposes entity shall disclose to the Authority and the public without delay any material
developments that fall within the scope of its activity and the knowledge of which is not available
to the general public, and which maffect the assets or liabilities of the special purposes entity
and can reasonably lead to a change in the price of the listed securities or have a significant impact
on the ability of the special purpose entity to meet its debt instrument related ohkgati

¢) In determining whether a development falls within the scope of this Article, an issuer must assess
whether a prudent investor would be likely to consider information about the development in
making his investment decisions.

Article 80: Disclosure ofSpecific Events

The issuer musimmediatelyand without delaydiscloseto the Authority and the publiany of the
following developments (regardless of whether or not they qualify as "material” Artatée (79) of
these Rules):

1) any transaction to purchase, sell, lease or mortgage an asset at a price equal to or grd#xé) than
of the net assets of the issuer according to the latest reviewed interim financial statements or audited
annual financiastatements, whichever is later;

2 any debt outside the issuerds ordinar@0% our se
of the issuerod6s net asset s; according to the |
annual financial stateents, whichever is later;

3) anylosses equalto or greaterti@@9of t he i ssuerds net assets; ac
interim financial statements or audited annual financial statements, whichever is later;

4 any signi fi can tsproduciangneironment dr hcévityiinsledimge(lbudnot limited
to) the availability of resources and the possibility of obtaining them;

5) any changes in the composition of the directtre audit committee r t o CEOOG6Ss posi ti
issuer and in case thissuer is a special purposes entity, any changes in the composition of the
directors the audit committeer t o CEO6s position of t he; sponso

6) any dispute including any litigation, arbitration, or mediation where the value involved is equal to
or greater thafb%) of the net assets of the issuer according to the latest reviewed interim financial
statements or audited annual financial statemeitighever is later;

7) any judicial decision issued against the board or any of the directors where the subject of the
decision involved relates to the business of the board or any of the directors in the issuer;

8) the increase or decrease in the net assdtedfsuer equal to or greater tHa0%) according to

the latest reviewed interim financial statements or audited annual financial statements, whichever
is later;
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9) the increase or decrease in the gross profit of the issuer equal to or greater than t@i¥tgaoco
the latest audited financial statements;

10) the entering into, or the unexpected termination of, any contract with revenues equal to or greater
than (5%) of the gross revenues of the issuer according to the latest audited annual financial
statements;

11) any transaction between the issuer and a related party or any arrangement through which the issuer
and a related party invest in any project or asset or provide financing therefore if this transaction or
arrangement is equal to or greater t(iz¥) of the gross revenues of the issuer according to the
latest audited annual financial statements;

12) any interruption in the principal activities of the issuer or its subsidiaries equal to or greater than
(5%) of the gross revenues according to the latest auditegshfinancial statements;

13 any changes in the issuerbés articles of associ
14) any change in its external auditors;

15) the presentation of any windiagp petition, the making of any windingp order or the gmintment
of a liquidator in respect of the issuer or its affiliates under the CompaniesoLamder any
regulations applicable to a foreign issuer whose shares are listedMaithidarket in accordance
with the Listing Rules includinghe commencemerdf any proceedings under the Bankruptcy
Regulations;

16) the passing of a resolution by the issuer or its affiliates that it be dissolved or liquidated, or the
occurrence of an event or termination of a period of time which would require the issuer to be put
into liquidation or dissolution;

17) Upon the issuance of any recommendatioraaesolution by the person of authority in the issuer
to submit an application to the court for commenang of the bankruptcy procedurasder the
Bankruptcy Law with a statemst of its impact on the issuer's financial position or the general
course of its business

18) Upon receiving a notification from the court regarding others registering an application with the
court for commencing a financial restructuring procedurgommening the liquidation procedure
or the administrative liquidation procedure for the issuer in accordance with the Bankruptcy Law
with a statement of its impact on the issuer's financial position or the general course of its;business

19) Upon registering an appation with the court for commencingpof the bankruptcy procedures
for the issuer in accordance with the Bankruptcy Law, with clarification of the subsequent steps and
durations therefoand a statement of its impact on the issuer's financial posticthe general
course of its business

20) Upon the issuance of the court's decisifirst(instanceor final) ordering the commencement of
any of the bankruptcy proceduref®r the issuer in accordance with the Bankruptcy | aith
clarification of thesubsequent steps and durations therafar a statement of its impact on the
issuer's financial position or the general course of its business

21) Upon the issuance of the court's decisi@irst( instanceor final) rejecting theapplication of
commencing anydnkruptcy proceduedfor the issuer in accordance with the Bankruptcy Law,
rejecting any of them and commencing the appropriate bankruptcy proceithra,statement of
the reasons for such rejectiand a statement dfsiimpact on the issuer's financial position or the
general course of its business
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22) Upon the issuance of the court's decisidirst( instanceor final) terminating the financial
restructuring procedurar theprotectivesettlement procedufer the issuem accordance with the
Bankruptcy Law or terminating any of them and commencing the appropriate bankruptcy
procedure in accordance with Bankruptcy Laith a statement of its impact on the issuer's
financial position or the general course of its business

23) Objecing beforethe competent court regarding t@mmencingr rejectingof thecommencement
of any bankruptcyroceduresinder theBankruptcyLaw, or the termination or netermination of
the protectivesettlement procedure or the finandiestructumg procedure under thBankruptcy
Law with a statement of its impact on the issuer's financial position or the general course of its
business

24) Upon the s$suance of theour decision in th@bjectonreferred to in paragraph (23) of this Article
to affirm or reverse the Coudecisionand to adjudicate theaseunderthe Bankruptcy Lawwith a
statement of its impact on the issuer's financial position or the general course of its business

25) Any material developments included in the repdins issuermprovides during the commenced
bankruptcy proceduraa accordance with the Bankruptcy Lavith a statement of its impact on
the issuer's financial position or the general course of its busumaless the officeholder, the
bankruptcy committee or the cpetent authority decides that such developments are confidential
according the Implementing Regulation of the Bankruptcy;Law

26) the making of any judgement, decision, order or declaration by a court or judicialNetiier at
firstinstance oron appealmi ch may adversely affect the issu
assets which in aggregate value represents a value in ex¢g8%9 of more of the net assets of the
issuer according to the latest reviewed interim financial statements or audlitedl dinancial
statements, whichever is later;

27) thecall for convening a general specialassembly and its agenda;
28) theoutcomeof the general or speciassembly;

29) any proposed change ihe capital of the issuewith a statement of its impact @he holders of
convertible debt instruments (as applicaple)

30) any decision to declare, recommend to declare or pay dividends or to make any other distributions
to the holders of its listed securities;

31) any decision or a recommendation not to pay dividends winiciid otherwise have been expected
to have been paid,;

32) any decision to call, repurchase, draw, redeem or propose to buy any of its securities and the total
amount and value thereof;

33) any decision not to make payment in respect of debt instruments or coleveeidt instruments;
or

34) any change in the rights attaching to any class of listed shares or to the debt instruments convertible
to such shares.

35) If the issuer is a special purposes entégy court proceedings taken or threatened against the

special purposes entity, any criminal or disciplinary procedures or sanctions to be inflicted on or
likely to be inflicted orthe special purposes entity.
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36) If the issuer is a special purposes entiy court proceedings taken or threatened against members
of the board of directors of a special purposes entity, any criminal or disciplinary proceedings or
sanctions to be inflicted on or likely to be inflicted on members of the board of directors of the
special purpose entity, If the subject matter of the procedure or sanction relates to the work of the
Board of Directors or one of its members in the Special Purpose Entity.

37) Paragraphs (27), (28) and (29) shall not apply where the issuer is a specisép@miity.
Article 81: Disclosureof Financial Information

a) Theannual financial statements and thist, second, and thirohterim financial statements of an
issuer must be disclosed to tAethority and the public upon their approval and prior to their
publication to shareholders or third partiéhere the issuer is a special purposes entity, such entity
must disclose its annual financial statements to the Authority and the public upoapibreival
and prior to publishing it to third partieSor the purposes of this Article:

1) interim financial statements are approedigtr beinga) approvedy the board of directors and
(b) signed by (i) a director authorised by the board of directigrdy the CEO and (iii) the
CFO; and

2) annual financial statements are approwedccordance with the provisionsthie Companies
Law andthe Corporate Governance Regulatidibhere the issuer is a special purposes entity,
the financial statements of suehtity are approved f t er bei ng approved by
of directors

b) The issuer shall disclosts interim and annual financial statemetitsough the electronic system
specifically designated for such purpose by the Exchange.

c) Theissuer must prege its interim financial statements in accordance with the accounting and
auditing standards adopted by SOCPA, and disclose them to the public within a period not
exceeding30) days after the end of the financial period included in such financial staeme

d) The issuer must prepaies annual financial statements in accordance with the accounting and
auditing standards adopted by SOCPA, and disclose them to the public within a period not
exceeding three months after the end of the annual financial period included in such financial
statements. The issuer must disclose these annual financial statements not IExH tsendar
days before the date of ¢ onveWheratheissuerésabpscialuer 6 s
purposes entity, thdisclosure taghe publicshall be wihin a maximum period df3) monthsafter
the end of the annuéihancialperiod included irsuchstatements.

e) Thecertified public accountamr theaccountingirm that audits thé s s Uimancialstatements
must be registered with the Authority in aodance with theRules for Registering Auditors of
EntitiesSubjectto the Authority's Supervision, and tlesuer must ensure that tbertified public
accountanbr the accounting firmthat audits its financial statemerdad any oftheir partners
complywith the SOCPA rules and regulations in relation to the ownership of shares or securities
of the issuer or any of its subsidiaries in order to ensurentieendency of theertified public
accountant or the accounting fiend any partner or employeetbét firm.

f) If the issuer is a special purposes entitye sponsor shall provide thpecial purposes entitf its
interim and annual financial statements and the report of the board of directors in a timely manner
to enable the special purposes entityufill its obligations under this article.

g) Inthe event where the issuer is a foreigner whose shares are listed on the Maiim\dadatiance
with the Listing Rules, it shall prepare itgerim and annudinancial statements in accordance
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with international standards issued by the International Accounting Standard Boarthe
purposes of this paragraph, the interim and annual financial statements shall be disclosed as follows:

1) In respect of the interim financial statemerdisclosure shall & made to the public within a
period not exceedm(30) daysafter the end of the financial period included in such financial
statemerd

2) In respect othe annual financial statementdisclosure shall be made to the public within a
period not exceeding) monthsof theend ofthe annual financial periogientioned irnthose
statementsand must disclosesuch financial statementsvithin a period not less than (21)
calendar days prior to the date of its annual general assembly.

Article 82: Board of Directors' Report

The issuer must provide the Authority with, and disclose to the shareholders, within three months from

the end of the financial year, a report issued byptaed ofdirectorscontaining the required information

pursuant to the Corporate Governance Regulationmaludling a review of the operations of the issuer
during the | ast financial year and of al/l rel eva
requires to assess the assets, liabilities and financial position of the issuer.

Article 83: Duties of Directors and Senior Executives

The directors and senior executives of an issuer exastise their powers and carry out their duties in
such a way as to serve the interests of the issuer.

Article 84: Provision of Documentsto the Authority

The issuer must send copies to fehority of any notices, documents or information that are sent or
otherwise mad available to its shareholdetmless they were disclosed on the Exchange.

Chapter 2: Restrictions on Dealings

Article 85: Dealings bySubstantial Holdersof Sharesand Convertible Debt Instruments

a) Any person must notify the Exchangesuchpersorbecometheowner of, olis interested in(5%)
or more of any class of voting shares or convertible debt instremietiite issueat the end of the
third trading day followinghe execution of the transaction or the occurrence of the event which
resultssuchownership or intereshe person notifigtion to the Authority shall also include a list
of persons, in whiclthosepersors, have an interest in the shares or convertible debt instruments
which they own or control"

b) The person referred to in paragraph (a) of this Article must notify the Exehratige event of any
change to the list gfersongeferred to in paragraph (a) of this Artigieeluding any evenivhich
requires the inclusion of a person to that ligherexclusion of any persevho has beepreviously
included in that listSuchnotification must be madat the end of the third trading day following
the occurrence of the relevant event.

c) For the purposes of this Article, a person's notification to the Exclamgaant tgaragraph (a)
of this Article, regarding its ownership onténest in(5%) or moreof any class of voting share$
the foreign issuewhose shares alisted on the Min Market in accordance with the Listing Rules,
limited to those listed irhe Main Market pursuant to thieisting Rules
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d) For the purposes of thiarticle, in calculating the total number of shares or convertible debt
instruments in which a person is interested, that person will be deemed to be interested in any shares
or convertible debt instruments owned by or controlled by any of the followisgner

1) arelative of that person;
2) acompany controlled by that person; or

3) any other persons with which that person has agreed to act in concert to acquire an interest in
or exercise voting rights in the shares or in the convertible debt instrumentsssuée i

e) The noticareferred to in this Article shall be in accordance with the form pregardtis regard
The notice referred to in paragraph (a) tbfs Article must contain at least the following
information:

1) the names of the persons who own or hthe right to dispose of the subject shares or
convertible debt instruments;

2) details of the ownership processid

3) details of any loans or financial support for the ownership process that the person has received
from any other persons

Article 86 Dealings ofDirectors and Senior Executives

a) The directors, senior executives or audit committee members of the issuer and any of their
associates may not deal in any securities of theeissuring the following periods:

1) during the(15) calendar days preceding the end of the financial quarter and until the date of the
disclosure of the reviewed interim financial statement of the ishadris required to be
disclosed pursuant to paragrga of Article (81) of these Rulesand

2) during the(30) calendar days preceding the end of the financial year and until the date of
di sclosing the issuer d&s ,arthdinterim dnaneial stateanentsf i nan
for the fourth quarter ithe issuer has disclosed them after reviewing thenfudfiling the
requiremerd of Article (81) of these Rules

b) The prohibition referred to in paragraph (a) of this Article shall not apply to exercising the
subscription's right in rights issues and $haée of such rights.

c) Uponterminationof a directoils membershijm the board of directors or director's dismissal from
the board of directordermination of any of thaudit committels membeship, or resignationf
any of senior executigof the issueduring any of the periods referred to in paragraph (a) of this
Article, this period (where applicable) shall apply to the direcadit committee's membenr
senior executive, and any of their associates.

Article 87: Restrictions onShares

a) The substantial shareholders in the issskownin the prospectusr registration documerds
owners ofthe issuer'ssharesmust not disposany of their shares during a period of six months
from the date on which thesuersshareStradingfirst commences on the Exchangecept where
the issuestates alongerlock upperiodin the prospectusr registration document

b) If the registered owner specified in the prospeciusegistration documernis differentto the
beneficial owner, then the beneficial owner must undertake that the registered holder shall not
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dispose any of such shares for a period of six months from the date on which trading in the shares
first commences on the Exchange. A person shall beettest a beneficial owner of shares if he

has the ultimate beneficial ownership or control of the shares, whether through a chain of companies
or otherwise.

Shares granted to the persons described in paragraph (a) of this-@uticlg the lockup period

as a result of a capital increase by way of a capitalisation issue must not be disposed tuntil lock
period described in paragraphs @)d(b)of this Article is lifted
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PART 8

Offer or Registration in Parallel Market
Article 88. Scopeand Application

a) The purpose of thiBart isto regulate theegistrationand offeing of shareon theParalleIMarket
beside regulating thegistrationof sharesn the Parallel Market

b) Shares may not be offer@dthe Parallel Markebr registredunlesspursuant tdhis Part

¢) The Instructions of Book Building Process and Allocation Methods in Initial Public Offerings shall
not apply to shares offerings conducted under these Rules.

d) The Corporate Governance Regulat@drall be deemed indicative to abkiuers whose shares are
listed on theParallel Market unless another law, regulations or a resolution of the Board of the
Authority states that some provisions thereof are mandatory on isguess shares are listed o
theParallel Market

e) Theoffer, under this Part, shall be limited to the categories of qualified investors, and the financial
advisor of the issuer is responsible for ensuring compliance with this paragraph

f) Inall casesCapital Market Institutioashall ensuréhat their clients of qualified investors are aware
of therisks involved insubscribing of shares offer@dthe ParallelMarket

Article 89: Appointment of Representativeof the Issuer

a) The issuer must appoint two representatives, oménofn must be a director and the other must be
a senior executive, to act as its representatives before the Authority for all purposes relating to the
Capital Market Lawthe Companies Lavtheir implementing regulationsther relevant lawand
these Rules

b) The issuer must provide details in writing of how its representatives may be contacted including
office, mobile number, and electronic mail address.

c) The issuer and its representatives, referred to in paragraph (a) of this Antisieprovide the
Authority, without delay, with all the information, clarifications, bookes;ordsand forms that the
Authority requests from them, for the purpose of implementing the Capital Market Law, the
Companies Law, their Implementing Regulations, otelvant laws anthese Rules, hich must
be completeclear, correct and not misleading.

Article 90: Appointment of Advisors

a) Where an issuer makes an applicatior registration and offering ahares in th@arallelMarket
or the registration of its sharédsatrequires the production of a prospectisareholders' circular
or the registration documenfwhere applicable), the issuer must appoint a financial advisor
authorised by the Authority to carry oatrangingactivities and any other securitiezctivities
related to thegreedservicedo be provided.

b) Thefinancial advisorwho is appointed pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Article, is subject to the

obligations set out under paragrajb) and(c) of Article (39) of these Rulegsand the reference to
Annex (20) shall be replaced with Anngg5).
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¢) Where arissuer whose shares are listedtiheParallel Marketundertakes a voluntary cancellation
of listing, the issuer must appoint a financial advisor.

d) Where an issuevhose shares are listed theParallel Marketsubmits an application to reduce its
capital, the issuer must appoint a financial advisor.

e) The financial advisor and the legal advisor (if any) shall take into account the principles of the
profession when providing advice to the issuer on the atlict for registration and offer of its
securitiesthe registration of its shares in the Parallel Maketomplying with Capital Market
Law and its implementing regulations and Exchange Rules.

f) The Authority may, at all times, require the issuesgpoint a financial advisor, a legal advisor, or
any other advisor to advise the issuer on the application of the provisions of the Capital Market
Law, its Implementing Regulationthe Exchange Rules or the Companies baits Implementing
Regulations

Article 91: Approval of the Issuer

An issuer may not makeRarallelMarket ofer of share®r registratiorunless the issudras obtained
all necessary corporate approvals required pursuant to its bylhevsCompanies Law and its
Implementing Regulations.

Article 92: Conditions for an Issuer

a) An issuerapplying tothe Authorityto register its shares and offer them by way Baeallel Market
Offer or for the registration of its shares in the Parallel Mankest meet the following conditions:

1) The issuer must be a joint stock company.

2) The issuer must have been carrying on, either by itself or through one or more of its subsidiaries,
a main activityfor at least one year

3) The issuer must haywrepared itaudited financial statemenrfiar the financial yeampreceding
the applicationin accordance with the accounting standards adopted by SOCPA.

4) If the periodcovered inthe latest audied financial statements wasdedsix months prior to
the expected date of approval of the applicatmlited reviewed interifinancial statements
for any period from the end date of theipd covered by the latesudited financial statements
to the expected date of approval of the applicatioust be submitted to the Authority. Or
submit the audited financial statements (as applicable), and in all cases, the period covered by
the latest audited interim financial statements submitted to the Autkbatinot have ended
more than (6) months before the date of approval of the application for registration of securities

b) Where an issuer alreadhas securities that are listed the Exchange, subparagraphs (2) and
(4) of paragraph (a) of this Articlehall not apply.

c) An application may be accepted iflibes not meet the requirements of this Artittbe Authority
is satisfied thathe offeror registrationwill be in the interest ofhe investorsand that thessuer
has provided the investors with the necessafgrmationto arrive at an informed judgment
concerning the issuend the sharethat are the subject of the application.
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Article 93: Requirement to Submit the Application to the Authority

a) An issuer seling registration and offeringf its shares in thBarallelMarketor the registration of
its shares in the Parallel Marketust submit an application to the Authority for approval which
contains the information required undkeis part and pay anyees set by the Authority.

b) The issuer must submit alectronicof the following documentso the Authority(and it shall
maintain the original copies of such documents and submit them to the Authority at request):

1) the letter of the appointment of the firegal advisor;

2) the authorisation letters or powers of attorney of the representatives of #recisgrowering
them to sign the prospeciuthe dare h o | dieulas @ the registration documerfas
applicable);

3) a list containing the names and contact harma of the persons warly for the issuer, the
financial advisor and the legal advisor (if asghcerned with the application;

4) a formal letter of application for regiation andoffer in the ParallelMarketor the registration
of shares in the Parall®larket (as applicable¥igned by a representative authorised to sign on
behalf of the issuer in the form set out in Ani@xof these Rules;

5) adeclaration by thissuer in the form set out in Ann€X0) of these Rules

6) approvals required by the relevagmvernmental agencies;

7) evidence of the issuer obtaining the required approvals under ABblef these Rules;

8) the draft prospectus h a r e h arduldreor teedregistration documeifas applicable) in

Arabic;
9 the i ssuerds cerdgdistrdioncat e of commerci al re
100t he i ssuerb6s articles of association and byl

11) the issuer'snnualaudited financial statements for the financial year precedmguhmission
of the application

12) the latestauditedinterim financial statementnce the financial position date of most recent
annual audited financial statements

13) the letters of consent from all the advisors on the use of their names, logos and statements in
the prospectys h e s h ar e h oof theeegistrationcdocunce(as applicable);

1Ha | etter from the issuer6s f i(2baoithese®llessadvi sor

15) a list containing the names and civil registry numbers (or the equivalent to it Sauul
natiorals) of the directors

16) adeclaration and undeking signed by the directors of the issuer and by each proposed director
of the issuer in the form set out in Ann@x) of these Rulesand

17) any other documentation that may be required by the Authority.

c) Following the approval of the registration and oftdrshares on théarallel Market by the
Authority or theregistration of shares in the Parallel Mar&at prior to the listing, the issuer must
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submit anelectroniccopy of the following documents toghAuthority (and it shall maintain the
original copies of such documents and submit them to the Authority at request)

1) the prospectys h e s h ar e h odrtieeregstiation documeasihare applicable) in
Arabic signed on every page by the représtéres of the issuer who are appointed as authorised
signatories;

2) a list of shareholders and shares allocdatgedexcept where thapplication is for a capital
increasefor acquisition of a company or purchasiag assebr for debt conversiowr the
registrationof sharesn the Parallel Marketand

3) an updated and signed letter in the form set out in Ar{@gxf these Rulespnless the
application is related to the registration of shares in the Parallel Market.

d) The issuer must retaioriginal copies(or certified copies where appropriata) all documents
required pursuant to this Article for a period not less thagearsfrom the completion of the offer
or the direct listing in the Parallel Marketnd without prejudice to this period, in caseaay
litigation or claim(including any litigation pending or threatened) or anygoimg investigations
relating to these documents, the issuer must retain such documents until the closure of that litigation,
claim or ongoing investigation.

e) If the issierhas its shares alreadlgted on theParallel Market, the subparagraphs (9), (10, (11),
(12) and (15) of paragraph (b) of this Artigkall not apply to the application foapital increase
for acquisition of a company or purchasing an assaijng newshares for dbt conversioyrights
issue or shareissuancavith the suspension of preemptive rights

f)  Where the offer is not completed by the prescribffdraend date specified in thegspectus
provided to the Authority, the financial advisor must provide the Authority widrniays with a
notification in writing signed by the financial advisor confirming that the offer has not completed
The financial advisor may, in consultation lwihe issuer, extend the period of the offer before end
date of the offer, the qualified investor who has subscribed to the shares prior to the extension of
the offer period may cancel or amend its subscription

g) The provision of this Article shall not apgpio the capitalisation issue.
Article 94: Dormant Applications

The Authority may, at its absolute discretion, cancel an application forregigistand offer of shares

in theParallelMarketor an application for the registration of sharetheParallel Markeiwvhere such
application hasin the opnion of the Authority remained atstanding. Should the issuer wish to
continue such application, a new application must be made by the issuer in accordance with the
application process set out inghPartif it wishes to register and offer the shares of the cancelled
application in the Parallel Market its registration in the Parallel Market

Article 95: The Prospectusand the Registration Document

a) The Prospectus must contain the information set forth in Aifpéxof these Rules, and may
contain additional information, provided that such information must be within the requirements set
forth in Annex(12) of these Rules.

b) Theregistration documemhust contain the information set forth in Ann@4) (a) of these Rules,

and may contain additional information, provided that such information must be within the
requirements set forth in Ann¢x2) of these Rules
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c) The prospectus foshareissuance with th suspension of preemptive rights must contain the
information provided in Annekl3) (a) of these Rules.

d) The draft pospectis andthe draft registration documeptovided to the Authority shall be in
Arabic.

e) The draft pospectis and the draft registration documemirovided to the Authority must be
annotated to indicate where the information required by the applicable paragraphs of these Rules
has been included and any changes from any previous draftbenalgarly marked. Each dtaf
prospectusanddraft registration documemtust indicate the draft number and the submission date
on its cover page.

f) The provisions of paragraphe) @nd ¢) of this Article shall apply to thes h ar e harduldrer s 0
produced pursuand thisPart

Article 96: Issuances noRequiring Prospectus

a) The pospectusis not required for the issue of further shares by an issuer whaxes stre already
listedontheParallelMarket, if the shares are categorised as:

1) shares resultin an increase of not more {h8%) of a shae class already listedhaheParallel
Market. For the purpose of determining this percentage, series of issues conducted during the
twelve months are deemed a single isané series of trans@ns deemed as single transaction
by the Authority are deemed a single issue

2) shares issued as a result of capitalisation issue.
3) employesshare scheme

4) shares issued as a resultapital increase bgonversionofdebpr ovi ded t hat a sh:
circular must be produced in accordance with Artjt@4)of these Rules;

5) shares issued as a rasflcapital increase to acquire a company or purchase an@eséded
t hat a sharehol der s é cordance with Articld105)af thesdbRulegy r o d u ¢ ¢
or

6) split of shares already issued.

b) Where an issuer wishes to issue securities in the circumstances specified in paragraph (a) of this
Article it must make an application for registration and offer to the Authoriaccordance with
any applicable requirements under these Rules or as prescribed by the Authority. The relevant
securities may not be issued prior to the approval of such application by the Authority.

c) The issuer must disclose any issuance made undeAthcle in the manner prescribed by the
Authority.

Article 97: Supplementary Prospectus andupplementarySh ar eh ol demwors @ Ci r c u
Supplementary Registration Document

a) The isser must submit a supplementary prospectugpplementary shareholdersicalar or
supplementaryregistration documentas applicable) to the Authity if at any time after the
prospectusthe shareholder<ircular or the registration documehais been published and before
completionof the offer (in the case of agspectuspr before the extraordinary general assembly
is convened (in the case offeasehole@rs’ circulay or prior to the direct listing in the Parallel Market
(in the case of a registration documeitte issuer becomes aware that:
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there has been a significanhange in mafrial matters contained in the prospectie
s h ar e h adularer the régistration docume(as applicable); or

2) additional significant matters have become known which would have regeired to be
included in thepr ospectus, the sharehol dersod(ascircul
applicable).

b) A supplementary qspectussupplementang h a r e harduldrerrsipglementaryegistration
documenimust contain the following (as applicable):

1) details of the change mew matters in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Article; and

2) a declaration in the form specified@ragraph13) of section (1) of Annex13) (a) of these
Rules,or paragraph (10) of section (1) of Ann@4) of these Rulesor paragraph (8) of section
(1) of Annex(24) (a) of these Rulespr paragrph (2) of sectionk) of Annex(26) of these
Rules or paragraph (2) of sectiof)(of Annex(27) of these Ruds @sapplicable).

c) Where a supplementary prospectssipplementary fereholders' circulaor supplementary
registration documens submitted to the Authority under this Article, it must be signed on every
page by the representatives of the issuer who are appointed as authorised signatories.

d) Where a supplementaprospectus is submitted to theuthority under this Article, a qualified
investor who subscribed for shares prior to thklighing of the supplementarygspectus is
permitted to rescind or amend his subscription for such shares prior to the end fefrthg pé&riod.

Article 98: Authority Powersin Relation to the Application

a) The approval of the application for registration and offer of secunitidge paallel marketor the
application for registration in the Parallel Markesubject tahe followingconditiors:

1) the Authority has received notification from the Exchaitgeconditional approval of the
corresponding application for listing pursuant to the Listing Rules;

2) the conditional approval mentioned under -palbagraph (1) of this paragraph has not been
withdrawn by the Exchange; and

3) the Authority is satisfied that tha@formation contained in the prospecttilse shareholders'
circularor the registration documegs applicable) is complete and fulfils the requiremsets
out inthe Capital Market Law and its Implementing Regulations.

b) The Authority will review the apptiation within (30) days of receiving all information and
documentation required pursuant to these Rules. The commencement of this period is not subject
to the Authorityds receipt of the notification
Article provided that the notification must be submitted to the Authatitgast (10) daygrior to
the end of the review period, otherwise the Authority may extend the review period for a term not
exceeding10) days from the date of receipt of the fiottion.

c) If, having reviewed the application, the Authority considers that the proposed offer of ghares
registrationin the Parallel Markeimay not be in the interest of the investors or may result in a
breach of the Capital Market Law, its ImplemegtiRegulations or the Exchange Rules, then it
may take any of the following actions:

1) carry out any enquiries which it considers appropriate;
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require the issuer or its representative to appear before the Authority to answer questions and
explain any matterghat the Authority considers relevant to the application;

3) require the issuer or third parties to provide additional information or to confirm, in such
manner as the Authority may specify, that the information provided is accurate; or

4) defer making a decisiofor such period as may be reasonably necessary to carry out further
study or examination.

If, having taken action pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Article, the Authority determines that the
offer or registratiorto be made pursuant to the applicatiorymat be in the interest of tevestors

or may result in a breach of the Capital Market Law its Implementing Regulations or the Exchange
Rules, the Authority may issue a "notification" to the issuer stating that the application has not been
approved, opublish a "notice" prohibiting the offer, sale or transfer of title of the shares to which
the application related’he Authority's approval on the application of offer and registration of
securities in the parallel market is considered an approval pfalspectus or shareholders' circular

as applicable.

The Authority's approval of the application for registration and offer of shares on the parallel market
or the application for shares registratimmthe parallel markethall be deemed as an approval of
the prospectyshe shareholders' circular the registration documersds applicable.

The prospectus, the shareholders' circular or the registration doc(aseaypplicable) must not be
published and made available to the public without the approvaédgplication for registration
and offer of sharegr application forthe registratioron the parallel markdty the Authority.

The Issuer and its financial advismay, prior to the Authority's approval of the application for
registration and offer aghares, ballowed to provide information on the Issuer and its financial
statements to the group of potential investors; In order to ascertain the extent to which potential
investors are willing to participate in the subscription of the Issuer's shatesy ifire offered,
provided that this does not result in taking a binding undertaking to subscribe.

The Issuer and its financial advismay, prior to the Authority's approval of the application for
registration and offer of shares, be allowed to prouiderination on the Issuer and its financial
statements ta specific group o€Capital Market Institutioato conduct the advice activity for the
purpose of preparing research and financial reports on the issuer, provided that such research and
reports shalhot be published before obtaining the approval of the Authority for the application of
registration and offer cdhares

The issuer and its financial advisor mayior to the Authority's approval of the application for
sharegegistration be allowed tgrovide information on the Issuer and its financial statements to
the group of potential investors; In order to ascertain the extent to which potential investors are
willing to invest in the Issuer's shares if they are directly listed in the Parallel Marke

The issuer and its financial advisor may, prior to the Authority's approval of the application for
shares registration for direct listing in the Parallel Market, be allowed to provide information on the
Issuer and its financial statements to a spegifeip ofCapital Market Institutioato conduct the

advice activity for the purpose of preparing research and financial reports on the issuer, provided
that such research and reports shall not be published before obtaining the approval of the Authority
for the application for registration of shamsthe parallel market.
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Article 99 Publ i cati on of Pr os p e c,tRagsstratios boaumenh o | d e r
and Formal Notices

a) The isuer must publish thergspectusr theregistration document (wheegpplicable)and must
ensure tht it is made available to the qualified/estors at leagii4) days prior to the start of the
offering (In case of prospectus) and before direct listing (in case of registration document).

b) Asan exception from paragraph (a) of this Article, an issuer must publish the prospectus and must
ensure that it is made available to the public at IE§tdays prior to the date of the general
assembly meeting where an offering of a rights issue is todukeor whereshareissuance with
the suspension of preemptive rights is to be made

¢) Where an issuer must publish a shareholders' circular in accordance with the provisions of these
Rules, it must ensuredhit is made available to the qualifietvestas at leas{14) days prior to
the relevant general assembly meeting.

d The prospectus, t h the registatiore Hooumene (wisete applicabE)y | ar ,
supplementary nespectus a n y suppl ement aircylar os hry rsgpplenentaeyr s 6 c
registration documergas applicable) shall be made available to the public in electronic form on the
official websites of the issuer, the Authority, the Bacge and the financial advisor.

Article 100 Dissemination oflInformation

An issuer who is seeking to register and offer its securities iPdnallel Market an issuer who is
seeking to register its shares in the Parallel Markah issuer whose securities are listethefParallel
Market issubject to the provisions of Artie(52) of these Rules.

Article 101 Application Submissionfor Capital Increase of Issuers of Shares Listeth
the Parallel Market

Where arissuer whose shares are listedtibe Parallel Market wishes to register and offer new shares

of a class already listed, either by way of rights isshateéssuance with theuspension of preemptive

rights capitalisation issue, issuing new shares for debt conversion, acquisitiamoofpany or asset
purchase, it must obtain the Authorityods approve
assembly meeting. The approval of the extraordinary general assembly of the issuer must be obtained
during six months of the approvalf t he Aut hority. I f the assembl y
such time, the Authorityés approval shall be dee
resubmit its letter of application if it still wishes to increase its capital.

Article 102 Conditions and Requirements Applicable to a Rights Issue or capital
Increase with The Suspension of Preemptive Rights

a) In addition to any other applicable requirements under Arf@3g¢of these Rules, where an issuer
wishes to submit aapplication for registration and offer of securities to the Authority in respect of
a rights issuer for registrationand offerof securitiesor capital increase with the suspension of
preemptive rightshe following conditions must be satisfied:

1) detaik of the proceeds of any previous rights issoegreviousshareissuances with the
suspension of preemptive rightaist be provided and such details must be compared with the
disclosure made under the previoakevantprospectusand

2) details of any qualifications made in the audited financial statements for the prdoesthcal
year must be provided.
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b) Theincrease of capital with the suspension of preemptive rights shall not exceed, for each issue,
(15%) of the issuer's capital

c) Investors,who own the shares of a capital increase with the suspension of preemptive rights, must
not dispose of such shares during a period of six months following their listing date

d) Theissuer must, in the event afhy discrepancy of5%) or morebetween the actual use of the
proceeds from a rights issue ashardssuancewith the suspension of preemptive rights and the
planned use of proceeds that was disclosed in the relevant prospectasediach discrepancy to
the public as it becomes ave of such discrepancy

Article 103 Conditions Relatedto a Capitalisation Issue

Where an issuer wishes to increase its capital by way aapitalisatiorissue it must submit to the
Authority a letter of applicatiom the formset out in AnnexX22) of these Rules.

Article 104 Conditionsrelated to Increasing the Capital by Debt Conversion

a) Where an issuexrhose shares are listed theParallelMarketwishes to increase its capital by
way of a @bt conversionit must produce a circular for its shareholders stating the information
required to enable the shareholders to vote at the extraordinary general assembly.

b) The shar ehol der s éleasithe infarrhation sehoutsAnnexc2@onthesaeiRales.

Article 105 Conditions Related to Capital Increase for Acquiring a Company or
Purchasingan Asset

a) In addition to any other applicable requirements under Arf@3¢of these Rulgswhere an issuer
whose shares are listed theParallel Marketwishes to increase its capital to acquire a company
or purchase an assét must produce a circular for its shareholders stating the information required
to enable the shareholders to vatéhe extraordinary general assembly.

b) Shareholders' Circular shall contain at least the information set out in AN these Rules.

Article 106 Capital Reductionfor Issuers of Shares Listedn the Parallel Market

a) Where an issuer wishes to reduce its share capital, it must submit to the Authority a letter of
application that includes the minimum information set out in Anf@&j of these Rules for the
Authority's approval prior to obtaining the approval of the r@h¢extraordinary general assembly
of the issuer on the capital reduction. The application must be accompanied by the following:

1) Financial advisorppointing letter.

2) Legaladvisor appointing letter.

3y an external audit or 0capital equciontandeha impabt ef the eapital o n s f
reduction on the issuer's liabilities;

4) the proposed method of capital reduction and the expected effect of such reduction;
5) Copy of shareholders' circular referred to in paragraph (b) of this Ardicte;

6) ary other documentation as may be required by the Authority.

68



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

b) The Issuer shall issue a circular to its shareholders containing the necessary information to enable
shareholders to vote at the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting on the basis of awareness and
knowledge. The circular shall include, at a minimum, the following information:

1) The general structure of the proposed capital reduction.
2) Reasons for capital reduction, including discussion and management analysis in this regard.
3) risk factors related to p#al reduction.

4) The time period of the operation.

5) A statement from the Board of Directors of the Issuer stating that they believe that the capital
reduction is in the interest of the Issuer and the shareholders.

c) The shareholders' circulasubmitted tolte Commission on the request for reduction of the issued
capital- shall be prepared in Arabic and the reference to the relevant paragraphs of these Rules shall
be indicated in the margin of the Circular, indicating any change from previous drafts. Every
circular draft on the first page of the draft number and date of submission.

Article 107: Continuing Obligations

An issuerof securitiedisted on theParallel Markemust comply with Part of these Rulesubject to
the following:

1) The phrase Athe first, second, and third inte
paragraph (a) of Articl81)of t hese Rul es s h al-dnnublmterrdimahcialc e d wi
statements of an issuero.

2) Theissuer mustliscloseits interim financial statements which must be prepared and reviewed in
accordance with the accounting standards approved by SOCPA as soon as they have been approved
and within a maximum of45) days of the end of the financial period covered by these statements.

3) The phrase Athe financi al guarter o meg86btof oned i
these Rules shall be replaced with Athe half o

4) Information, set fath in the Corporate Governance Regulatjdhat is requiredo be included in
theboardofl i r e cepod aresiridicative to issuemhose shares are listed theParallel Market

5) The "six months" perid set forth in Article(87) of these Rulesshall be replaceavith "twelve
months".

6) Exception from the provisions of paragraph (a) of Arti@&) of these Rulesa Capital Market
Institution assigned in accordance with the Listing Rules by an issuer whose shares are directly
listed on the Paralldlar ket may sel | the issuerds shares i
within the scope of implementing the liquidity requirement fulfilment plan provided to the
Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Article 108 Fees for the Parallel Market

a) An issuer who submits an application for approval under this Part is required to pay such fees to
the Authority as the Authority specifies.

b) An issuer of securities listed on the Parallel Market is requar@ay such fees to the Authority as
the Authority specifies.
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PART 9

Provisions for Reverse Takeover and Demerger

Article 109 Scope of Application

a) The purpose of this section is to regulate reverse takeover and demerger the merger under the
Authority'spowers stipulated in the Capital Market Law.

b) The provisions of this section shall apply to the following:

1) Market participants, including issuers of securities, sharehol@arstal Market Institutios,
and any person who has participated or provided adirrectly or indirectly in any transaction
subject to the provisions of this Part.

2) Members of the Board of Directors of issuers subject to the provisions of this Part.
Article 110 General Provisions

a) The issuer, when calculating the percentagejetermine whether the transaction (or multiple
transactions) constitute a demerger that requires the consent of the shareholders, shall apply all
criteria for determining the applicable category, so the value of the percentage rate is the most
recent pubBhed numbers of the assets value, revenues Or profits as shown in the most recent
audited interim financial statements or audited annual financial statements, whichever is more
recent, in addition to the market value of the issuer at the time the transémti multiple
transactions) is declared, as applicable.

b) When making an assessment to determine whether there has been a material change in the issuer
as a result of the transaction, the issuer shall consider the following:

1) The extent of the change resudf from the transaction in the direction or strategic nature of the
company's business.

2) Whether the issuer's business will be considered a part of a different sector after the transaction
is completed.

Article 111: Announcement and Conditions of a Revers&akeover

With regards to the provisions of Part 6 of these Rtihesissuer, when a party to the reverse takeover,
shalldo the following

1) Announcing to the public, as soon as possible, after the terms of the reverse takeover have been
agreed upormand bllowing it with supplementary announcements relating to any material changes
in any matter contained in the original announcement or if an important new issue arose which
should have been mentioned in the original announcement. The original announcersent m
include the following:
a) details of the transaction, including the name of the other party.
b) asummary of the company's activity or th&sesubject tathe transaction.

c) compensation and the extent to which it is satisfied (including terms related ne@essary
arrangements for delaying compensation).
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d) the value of the total assets of the transaction.
e) profits relating to the assets of the transaction.

f) the effect of the transaction on the listed company including any benefits expected to be
received bythe issuer as a result of the transaction.

g) details of any service contracts for proposed members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer.
2) Assign afinancial advisoto evaluate the target entity.

3) Ensure that any agreement related to the transaction istionatlupon the approval of the
shareholders.

Article 112 Potential Suspension of Listing when Announcing a Reverse Takeover
a) The issuer shall communicate with the Authority as soon as possible in the following cases:

1) prior to the announcement of any resestakeover approved or under consideration, to discuss
the appropriateness of trading suspension.

2) If the reverse takeover details leak, for the purpose of requesting suspension of trading.
b) Reverse takeover is being under consideration in any of tleeviolj cases:

1) The issuer contacting the board of directors of the target entity.

2) Entry of the issuer in an exclusive period with the target entity.

3) The issuegiving the permission to stagpreparing forthe necessary stias (whether limited
or unlimited).

Article 113 Applying Class Tests and Calculating Percentage Ratios

a) To determine whether the transaction represents a demerger that requires shareholders' approval,
by reference to the percentage, the issuer shall evaluate the size of the transaosbithagsize
of the company or the asset of the demerger transaction. The size is determined by using the
percentages resulting froApplying Class Testsalculations to this transaction according to the
details in Annex28) of these Rules.

b) If anypercentage calculations result in an unusual or inappropriate result of the scope of the issuer's
activities, the Authority may ignore such calculations and replace it with other size related
indicators, including the sectspecific measures. The listednopany shall submit the alternative
measures it deems appropriate to the Authority for its consideration.

c) In case of any percentage changes between the time a transaction with the Authority is discussed
(as applicable) and the time of its announcement|stiger shall inform the Authority of such
change. Moreover, the Issuer shall comply with the relevant requirements applicable to the
Transaction at the time of its declaration.

Article 114 Aggregation of Transactions
The Authority may request the Issteicombine a series of transactions and act on them as if they were

a single transaction, provided that all of them were completed within twelve months or were linked to
each other. In such cases, the issuer must comply witlCldms Testof the transaobn when
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aggregated and the figures to be used to determine percentages are those shown in the most recent
audited financial statements or audited annual financial statemdmntsever is earlier.

Article 115 Conditions Relating to the Listed Company

Theissuer seeking demerger shall have completed at least 3 financial years as a listed company.

Article 116 Shareholders' approval

If any of the percentages set in Ann@8)( of these Rules reach¢s0%) or more of the planned
demerger, the Issuer shall obtain the prior approval of its shareholders at the General Assembly meeting.
Any shareholder having a direct or indirect interest in the proposed demerger must abstain from voting
on such transaction #te General Assembly meeting.

Article 117. Specialised Committee and Independent Financial Advisor

a)

b)

In respect of any demerger transaction subject to the approval of the shareholders in accordance
with Article (116) of these Rules, the Issuer shall estéiblisSpeciated Committee (consisting

solely of independent Board members or of other independent persons or both of whom have no
substantial interest in the proposed demerger). That's to advise shareholders on whether the terms
of the relevant demergereafair and reasonable and whether the demerger transaction is in the
interest of the issuer and all of its shareholders.

The Issuer shall appoint a Financial Advisor auisoriby the Authority to provide advisory
services and make recommendations to thecllsed Committee and the Shareholders as to
whether the terms of the relevant demerger are fair and reasonable and whether the demerger
transaction is in the interest of the issuer and all of its shareholders

Article 118 Circular to Shareholders

a) In respect of any demerger transaction subject to the approval of the shareholders in accordance

with Article (116) of these Rules, the Issuer shall prepare a circular on the prog@sether to
be submitted to shareholdgpsiblished and made availabtethe public at leagil4) days prior to
the date of the General Assembly In which the shareholders wilbnttedemerger. The circular
shall include, at a minimum, the following:

1) sufficient information on the proposeldmerger, provided that such imfoation includes a
minimum:

a. Proposed structure and purpose ofdamerger.
b. The most prominent financial information illustrating the financial impadeoferger

c. The most prominent legal informatioelated to the termef the demergerwhich the
shareholders ned¢d make a decision based on knowledge and awareness.

d. Risk factors related tdemerger

2) a separate letter from the specadi committee advising shareholders as to whether the relevant
termsof demergesare fair and reasonable in accorcanvithArticle (117) of theseRulesand
whether such demergeis in the interest of the issuer and afllits shareholders, taking into
account the recommendations of the financial advisor.
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3) A separate letter from the financial advisor, includitsgecommendations to the spediad
committee and shareholders, on whether the relésansof demergeare fair and reasonable,
and whether thidemergeis in the interest of the issuer anddflits shareholders.

4) The circular shall include the follamg disclaimer: "The Capital Market Authority and the
Saudi Stock Exchangéompany shall not assume any responsibility for the contents of this
Circular, and shall not give any assurance regarding its accuracy or completeness, and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss Reisiglfrom what is stated in this circular or
from reliance on any part thereof ".

b) The circular and the two letters referred to in paragraph (a) of this article shall indicate the
reasons behind the opinion and its main assumptions and the factors taken into account in
forming the opinion.

Article 119 Requirements for Registration, Offering and Listing of Shares of the
Demerged Entity

In casea demerged company wishes regiser, offer and listits shares in the market, all the
requirements for registration araffering of securities provided for in these rules ahe listing
requirements stipulated in the Listing Rules must be fulfilled.

Article 120 Announcement of a Demerger

The Issuer must announce that it has submitted an application for registigoaf its securities and
listing of the demergedrgity as soon as the completed applications have been submitted to the
Authority and theExchangeg(or its equivalent in any foreign country). If the foreign state regulations
require that the application for regidtom, offering and listing be filecconfidentially, then the listed
company must announce to the public its intention to file a registrafif@ning and listingapplication

of thedemerged entity in another country without mentioning the name of thatrgoor marketon

which the demergeentity intendgo list its security in
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PART 10

Publication and Entry into Force

Article 121 Publication and Entry into Force

These Rules shdble effectiveas per itapproval resolution
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PART 11

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1
CONTENTS OF THE OFFERING DOCUMENT FOR OF FERING SHARES
THROUGH SECURITIES CROWDFUNDING PLATFORM

An offering document for offering shares through securities crowdfuratéprm must contain all
material information related to the issuer, and disclose the same in a fair amusfeading manner,

in a way that enables the investor to understand the nature of the offering and arrive at an informed
investment decision, and must cantthe following information at a minimum:

1. Offer summary

This section must include a disclaimer to the targeted investors on the importance of reading the
offering document prior to making an investment decision and include the following information at

aminimum:

a. The name of the issuer, its principal place of registration, the address of its principal place of
the business, and the issueroés cont aailt i nfor
address.

b. the capital of the issuer;

C. issuerodos total number of shares;

d. the nominal value per share;

e. offer period and conditions;

f. number and classes of shares to be offered;

g. the offer price (in SR)

h. the total value of the offer; (SR)

the use of the proceeds;
j- The number and categories of o#es.
k. The number and types of securities previously issued by the issuer within the past 12 months;

I.  The minimum amount (if any) to be paid by each offeree;

2. Proceduresfor Registering the Client who Subscribed in the Shareholders Register:
This section musinclude the procedures for registering the client who subscribed in the offered
shares in the issuerodos sharehol der regi ster, a
3. Procedures of Incomplete Offer

This section must include procedures to be taken bydherisn case the offer is not completed.
4. The issuer's audited financial statements for the last fiscal yeaif anyi .

5 1l ssuerds business plan and summary of financi a

This section must include a summary of the issuer's business plan andakeyali information
contained in the offering document, including financial forecasts and assumptions based thereon,
financial position, cash flows and key indicators of the issuer's financial and operating performance.
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6. share pricing mechanism:

This section must include the mechanism by which the price of the shares that are the subject of
this offeringdocumentvas determined.

7. expenses:

This section must include details of the aggregate offer expenses.
8. Ownership and organizational structure pre- and postoffering

This sectionmust include théollowing information:

1) ownership structure preand posbffering.

2 the issuerds orghmawizmg i togowwarhingdady aauidlingre aill
name and description of the most significant professional and academic qualifications and area
of expertise and the date of appointment ofraé mber s of the i s@uer 6s
proposednemberof thegoverning body

9. Businesses involving releed parties or conflict of interest.

10. Investment risks and existing fundamental lawsuits and their impact on the issuer's
businesses.

11 Capital Market Institutions Letter:

The issuer must obtain a consent letter from the Capital Market Institution to the us of its
name, logo, and statement in the offering document; the issuer must also enclose within the
offering document a confirmation by the Capital Market Institution as follows (to be provided

N

on the Capital Mar ket I nstitutiond | etterhead)

i We _ _ ert nameiofrcapital market institution) confirm, to the best of our knowledge, and
through conducting due diligence and making enquiries of the issuethamdembers ofits
governing bodythat the issuer has satisfied all conditions required for the affghares through
securities crowdfunding in accordance with the requirements of the Rules on the Offer of Securities

and Continuing Obligations issued by the Capit

confirm that the issuer haso the besof our knowledge and within our capaditprovided all
required information and clarifications within this document in accordance with the requirements
of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations. In particular, we confirm that

we have taken reasonable steps to ensure thamémmbers bt he 1 ssuer ds gover

understand the nature and extent of their responsibilities under the Capital Market Law and its
Implementing Regulations, and that we have reached a reasonable opinion, based on due enquiry
and professional experience, that the issuer has satisfielaedimerequirements and has disclosed

al |l required information under the Rules on th
The offering document must contain the following statement:
AThis document may onl y be entiregistared bvithttre cdsecurittes t h e
crowdfunding platform at the capital market institution. ihe mber s of t he i ssuer 6s

whose names appear within this offering document, collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the aceacy of the information contained in this offering document and confirm,
having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other
facts the omission of which from this document would make any statement hesé&ading. The

Capital Market Authority does not make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of this
document, and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in
reliance upon, any part of this docemt. Prospective purchasers of the shares offered hereby should
conduct their own due diligence on the accuracy of the information relating to the offered shares. If
you do not understand the contents of this document, you should consult an authnanssal fadvisor.
Investment in the offered shares entails high risks, and may only suit investors capable of assessing the
benefits and risks of this investment and bear any losses that may result therefrom, which may extend
to the loss of entire investmeamount 0
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ANNEX 2
CONTENTS OF A PRIVAT E PLACEMENT NOTIFICA TION IN RESPECT OF
SHARES AND OTHER SECURITIES

[To be provided on] the offerords | ettt

The following information, as applicable, must be signed and dated by the offeror or an authorised
officer of theofferor and notified to the Authority at ledsin days prior to the proposed date of the
offer.

1) The name of the issuer, its principal plateamistration and the address of its principal place of
the business, in addition to the number and types of securities to be offered,;

2) The name of the offeror(s), its principal place of registration and the address of its principal place
of the business;

3) An acknowledgemenhat the offeror(s) intend(s) to make a private placement, specifying which
category of private placementAmticle 8 of these Rules that private placement falls into;

4) The name and address of tBapital Market Institutionhroughwhichthe offer is made;
5) The proposed start and end dates of the offer;

6) The class/classes of securities to be offered,;

7) Theoffer price for each security offered (in SR);

8) The total offer size (in SR)

9) In case of limited offershe number of offerees;

10) The rumber and types of securities previously issued by the offanat the issuer if different
from the offerorwithin the past 12 months;

11) The minimum amount (if any) to be paid by each offeree;

12) The total number of securities to be offered plus the totabeumif securities already issued by
the offeror (andhe issueif different from the offeror)

13) Whether the securities to be offered are identical or, where there are differences, details of these
differences;

14) Where the offeror or any of the directors,iseexecutives, controlling shareholders, or founding
shareholders of the offeror have been convicted by a judicial authority of any violation involving
fraud or dishonesty or a violation under the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or
the Exchange Rules, or any legislation relating to companies or money laundering of which, details
of such violation including details of the convicted party, the name of the judicial authority by
which such party was convicted, the date of conviction andduliqulars of the violation and the
penalty imposed.

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated syltwrminedby the
Authority for this purpose and tleéferor shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copie9 for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (includirexiating or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such doctimeerftgrorshall
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retain such documentsgntil the completion ofsuch litigation, ciim or investigation procedures
Moreover, such adcuments musbe submitted to the Authoritypon requet
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ANNEX 3
CONTENTS OF A PRIVAT E PLACEMENT NOTIFICA TION IN RESPECT OF
DEBT INSTRUMENTS

[To be provi delditerbpead t he of feror &s

The following information, must be signed and dated by the offeror or an authorised officer of the
offeror and notified to the Authority at least ten days prior to the proposed date of the offer.

1) The name of the issuer, its principal placeeagfistration and the address of its principal place of
the business, in addition to the number and types ofinigibtiments to be offered;

2) The name of the offeror(s), its principal place of registration and the address of its principal place
of the businss;

3) The category of the issuer (for example: government, -gengérnment, central bank, bank,
corporate, insurance, special purpose vehicle);

4) The sector in which the offeroperates (for example: financial, rbnancial or government);

5) The fact that the offeror(s) intend(s) to make a private placement specifying which category of
private placement iArticle 8 of these Rules that private placement falls into;

6) The name and address of thapital Market Institutiothrough whichthe offeris made;
7) The proposed start and end dates of the offer;

8) The currency of debt securities to be offered,;

9) The types of debt securities to be offered;

10) The price of the principal and coupon (or method of calculation of return) of the offered debt
securities (@ SR);

11) The total offer size (in SR);
12) In case of limited offers, the number of offerees;

13) The number and types of securities, including any debt securities, previously issued by the offeror
(and the issuer if different from the offeror) within the pasiribihths;

14) The total number of securities to be offered plus the total number of securities already issued by
the offeror (and the issuer if different from the offeror)

15) Whether the securities to be offered are identical or, where there are differences pti¢haite
differences;

16) Where the offeror or any of the directors, senior executives, controlling shareholders, or founding
shareholders of the offeror have been convicted by a judicial authority of any violation involving
fraud or dishonesty or a violatiaunder the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations or
the Exchange Rules, or any legislation relating to companies or money laundering of which, details
of such violation including details of the convicted party, the name of the judicial aythyprit
which such party was convicted, the date of conviction and full particulars of the violation and the
penalty imposed.
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[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the oftershall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such dts;uheofferor shall

retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 4
OFFERORG ®ECLARATION
[To be providedonthef f er or 6]s | etter head
To: The Authority
We, being insért name of the offerorfs)hereby jointly and severally

declare that to the best of our knowledge and belief (having taken reasonable care to ensure that such is
the case) thnformation contained in the private placement notification and offering documents to be
used in advertising the offer is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect the
veracity of such information and is fair, clear and noteaiding.

We further declare that all the relevant conditions for making a private placement have been satisfied
and have submitted or will submit all the information and documentation required to be provided to the
Authority under the Rules on the Offer®é&curities and Continuing Obligations.

We hereby authorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with any authorities, agencies
or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial services or any other relevant authorities.

Name: Name:
Signature: Signature:
Date: Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for thispurpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedul&ingto such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 4 (A)
SPONSORG6S DECNARATI O

To: The Authority

We , being ______ (insert name
severally declare that to the best of our knowledge and belief (having taken reasonable care to ensure
that such is the cas#)at all informdion included in the private placememttification and offering
documents to be used in advertising the adfersimilar to théacts clear, not misleading and have no
insufficiency that may affect such information.

We confirm thatall the relevant conditions for registration and admission to listaggbeen satisfied,
and thatall the information required to baelivered under th&®ules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationshasbeen or will supplied

We hereby athorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with the authorities, agencies
or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial services or other relevant authorities.

Name: Name:
Signature: Signature:
Date: Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automatednsydttermined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) ong existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 5
CAPITAL MARKET INSTI TUTI ON6S DECLARATI ON

[To be provided on th€apital Market Institutiod ketterheadl

To: The Authority

We, i 6sert n@apwl Market Institwgionfi(the Capital Market
Institution), herebyconfirm that we have been appointed by insert fame
of offeroi) (the offeror) to offer securities of the offeror.

We further declare that to the best of our knowledge and belief (having taken reasonable care to ensure
that such istte case) that the offeror has satisfied all the relevant conditions for making a private
placement and has submitted or will submit all the information and documentation required to be
provided to the Authority under the Rules on the Offer of Securitié<antinuing Obligations.

We hereby authorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with the authorities, agencies
or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial services or other relevant authorities.

Signedon behalf of theCapital Market Institution[the authorised officer]:

Name:

Signature:
Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and tlodéferor shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating tdesuaments, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 6
STATEMENT TO BE INCL UDED IN THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT OFFERING
DOCUMENTS

The private placement offering documents must include the following statement:

AiThis document may not be distributed in the Kirt
the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Contin@igjgations issued by the Capital Market Authority.

The Capital Market Authority does not make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of
this document, and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred
in reliance upon, anpart of this document. Prospéat purchasers of the securities offered hereby
should conduct their own due diligence on the accuracy of the information relating to the securities. If
you do not understand the contents of thicument,you should consult an authorised financial
advisor 0
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ANNEX 6 (A)
CONTENTS OF THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT OFFER DOCUMENT FOR
SECURITIES ISSUED BY A SPECIAL PURPOSESENTITY

The Private Placement Offer Documents shall contain the following statement:

ifThe securities of f er epdurpbsesrestitylicenaed by the E€apitaleMarkdd y a
Authority. The Capital Market Authority maintains a register of special purposes entities and regulates
the special purposes entity. The Capital Market Authority does not approve, and is not responsible for,
the terms of the securities the special purposes entity issues, the financing structure the special purposes
entity employs, or the investment risks and rewards associated with the securities. The Capital Market
Authority does not regulate or monitor thdueof the assets of the special purposes entity or the ability

of the special purposes entity to meet its obligations and makes no endorsement of or recommendation
about the securities. o
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ANNEX 7
CONTENTS OF A REGISTRATION DOCUMENT FOR REGISTRATION OF DEBT
INSTRUMENTS OFFERED BY WAY OF PRIVATE PLACEMENT FOR AN
ISSUER WITHOUT SECURITIES LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE

A registration document submitted for the registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose difect listing on the Exchange by an issuer without securities listed on the
Exchange must contain the information under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):

1) the issuer'siame, incorporation date and commercial registration number. If the issuer is a
speci al purposes entity, a |license to estahb
commercial registration;

2) capital and number of s thaigsuesisa s@gecalpurpdses ensityyj o ns or
3) asummary that includes the details and rights of the debt instruments;

4) shares and debt instruments that have been previously listed (if applicable). If the issuer is a
special purposes entity, shares and debtunsnts that have been previously listed by the
special purposes entity and the sponsor (if any);

5) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration of securities subject to
this document to the Authority, has submitted the application for listing to the Exchange, and
has submitted all the required documents to the relevartriigs;

6) a statement on the importance of referring t
under section (2) and section (9) of this Annex, respectively; and

7) the following declaration:

AThis registration docume rstpartiohtbd appieaton forn f or ma
registration of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority™)
and the application for listing afecurities in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Saudi
Stock Exchang€ompany The i ssuerds directors (and the
special purposes entity), whose names apipetinis documentcollectively and individually
acceptfull responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this document and
confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statemeint rnesleading.

The Authority and the Saudi Stock Exchar@mmpanydo not take any responsibility for the
contents of this document, do not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness,
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for lsg arising from, or incurred in reliance

upon, any part of this document. In the event that any of the contents of this document cannot
be understood, an authorized financial advisor shall be consulted."

2. Important notice

This section must include a no# which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the document.
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3. Corporate directory

This section must include the following information (where applicable):

1) The issuerodos and its representativessd cont at
sponsor and its representatives in the event that the sponsor is a special purposes entity),
including addresses, telephone numbenmnad addresses, and the issuer websi te (ani
sponsor's website in the event that the sponsor is a special purposes entity).

2) The contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaihd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any othet expdrom a statement or
report included in the registration document has been attributed:

a. the financial advisor;

b. the legal advisor;

C. the external auditor;

d. the custodian (where applicable); and

e. the board members of the special purposes entity (where applicable).

3) A statement that the navbjection of the participating parties to use their names, logos, and
statements in the registration document was obtained.

4. Summary
This section must include disclaimer to the target investors on the importance of reading the
registration document prior to making an investment decision. This section must include the

following information (where applicable):

) the i ssuerdé6s name, de shaton (and the mameaohtide sponsorots p or a-
description, and incorporation information if the issuer is a special purposes entity);

2 the i ssuerds activities (and the sponsor i f t
3) substantial shareholders showing theimership percentages and number of shares. If the
issuer is a special purposes entity, substantial shareholders of the sponsor showing their
ownership percentages and number of shares;
4) details of the debt instruments to be listed, their rights, and amnigtiess imposed upon them;

5) the nominal value for debt instrument;

6) ft he issuer is a special purposes entity, t |
payments are paid as per the debt instruments (as applicable)

7) details of repayment relatedtda including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the request of the issuer or sponsor (as applicable) or at the
request the holders of the debt instruments, and the date from which payments are due to start;

8) ddails of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments;
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9) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents for the debt
instruments;

10) details of the early redemption of the debt instruments (if any);

11) any additionalinformation required by the Authority to be provided in the registration
document as it deems appropriate; and

122a st atement on the i mportance of referring t
under section (2) and section (9) of this Annex.

5. Summary of basic information

This section must include a summary of the basic information contained in the registration
document, including:

1) a disclaimer to investors about consideration of the registration document as a whole, and not
merely the summary;

2) adescription of the issuer (and a description of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity);

3) the issuerds mission and overal/l strategy ( a
issuer is a special purposes entity);

49 the i ssuterémgtkhbesy and competitive advantages
competitive advantages if the issuer is a special purposes entity);

5) an overview of the market (and an overview of the market in which the sponsor operates if the
issuer is a speciglurposes entity); and

6) if the issuer is a special purposes entity, a summary of the financing transaction for the special
purposes entity and the sponsorb6s commitment
the debt instruments (as applicable).

6. Summary of financial information
This section must include a summary of key financial information contained in the registration
document , including issuerds operational per f
i ndicat or s ( an dional pexfornsapce, rirrcial ccenditiorp eashaflows and key
indicators if the issuer is a special purposes entity)
7. Table of contents

This section must include the registration document table of contents.
8. Terms and definitions

This section must include therms and definitions used in the registration document.
9. Risk factors

This section must contain information in relation to risk factors specific to:

1) theissuer (and the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity);
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2) the market and industry in which the issuer operates (and the market and industry in which the
sponsor operates if the issuer is a special purposes entity); and

3) securities that are the subject of the registration document.
10. Information about the market and sector (as applicable)

If the issuer is a special purposes entity, this section must include information on the market and
sector in which the sponsor operates.

11. The issuer and sponsor (where applicable) background, business nature

This section must incled t he | ssuer ds background and busi
background and business nature if the issuer is a special purposes entity), including the following
information:

Dt he i ssuer ds of ficial name, c ommerie tha | regi

commercial registration, and the principal address of the issuer if it is different than the address
shown in the commercial registration (and that of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity);

2) the date of incorporation of the issifand that of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity);

3) the authorized shares of the issuer, the number of shares issued or agreed to be issued, the value
paid up, the nominal value and a description of the shares;

4) if the issuer is a spexil purposes entity, the sponsor 6s @
issued or agreed to be issued, value paid up, nominal value and a description of the shares;

5 description of organization chart of phe gro
(or that of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) (if applicable);

6) the general nature of the business of the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity), its subsidiaries (if applicable), and details of the maidycts sold or services provided
and an indication of any significant new products or activities;

7) if the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or its subsidiaries (if
applicable) trades outside the Kingdom, a statement shothie location of such trading
operations must be provided. Where a material portion of assets of the issuer (or the sponsor if
the issuer is a special purposes entity) or of its subsidiaries (if any) are outside the Kingdom,
the value and location of du@ssets and the value of the assets located in the Kingdom must
be provided,;

8) information concerning the policy of the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity) and its subsidiaries (if applicable) on the research and developiment products and
production processes over the past three financial years, where significant;

9) particulars of any interruption in the business of the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a
special purposes entity) or its subsidiaries (if applicalblbich may have or has had a
significant effect on the financial position in the last 12 months;

10t he number of people employed by the issuer

any material changes to that number over the last two financas,yeith a breakdown of
persons employed by main categories of activity and by Saudization ratio;
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11) a statement that no material change in the nature of the business of the issuer (or the sponsor if
the issuer is a special purposes entity) is contentplatal if one is contemplated, a detailed
description of that c¢change and its impact on
issuer is a special purposes entity) and its profitability.

121 ssuer 86s and Sponsor 0s applicapleni zati onal structur

This section must include the issuerds organiz
is a special purposes entity), including the following information:

) the i ssuerds organizati onal isadpecialpurposesedtityt hat o
showing the directors structure, supervisory committees, and the functions of senior executives;

2) full names, description of professional and academic qualifications and area of expertise and
dates of appointment of alltheise r 6 s di rectors (and of the spo
a special purposes entity), or proposed directors and senior executives for the issuer (and the
sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) showing whether the director is independent
or nonindependent and executive or rexecutive;

3) details of other previous or current board positions held by all directors of the issuer (and of the
sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or proposed directors or senior executives and
thecompany secretary of the issuer. The details should include the name of the company, legal
entity, membership start and end dates, and the sector in which the company operates;

4) details of any bankruptcies of each director of the issuer (and of the sfahsoissuer is a
special purposes entity) or proposed director, senior executives, or the company secretary of
the issuer (and of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity);

5) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years valngref the directors of the
issuer (and of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or proposed directors, senior
executives, or the company secretary of the issuer (and of the sponsor if the issuer is a special
purposes entity) were empley by the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory
position;

6) areport showing the direct or indirect interests of each director of the issuer (and of the sponsor
if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or proposed director, senior exearnis@spany
secretary of the issuer (and of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) and any of
their relatives in the shares or debt instruments of the issuer (and of the sponsor if the issuer is
a special purposes entity) and its subsidm(if applicable), or provide an appropriate negative
statement;

7) the aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind granted by the issuer (and the sponsor if the
issuer is a special purposes entity) or any subsidiary, during the three financial years prior t
submitting the registration application for the securities that are the subject of this document,
to the directors and five senior executives who received the highest payments, including the
chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of theuer (and of the sponsor if the
issuer is a special purposes entity) if they were not within the top five;

8) full particulars of any contract or arrangement in effect or contemplated at the time of
submission of the registration document in which a director or senior executive or any of their
relatives has an interest in relation to the business of the issdesf(ére sponsor if the issuer
is a special purposes entity) or its subsidiaries (if applicable), or provide an appropriate negative
statement;
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9) information about the board of directors committees, including the names of each committee
member and a summaoy the terms of reference under which each committee operates;

10) a summary of existing or proposed service contracts, if any, of the directors or chief executive
officer and the chief financial officer of the issuer (and of the sponsor if the issugpésial
purposes entity);

1)i nformati on about the issuerdés (and the spo
compliance with the corporate governance regulation; and

12) any employee share schemes in place prior to the application for registragexudfies that
are the subject of this registration document along with details on the aggregate amount of
shares owned by the employees in the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity), and any other arrangements involving thelegees in the capital of the issuer (or the
sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity).

Financial information

The information required below must be provided in relation to the issuer (or the sponsor if the
issuer is a special purposes entityy fbe three financial years immediately preceding the
application for registration of securities that are the subject of this document:

1) comparative tables of financi al i nformati on
management (or the sponsorthie issuer is a special purposes entity)naiterialfinancial
information. The comparative tables must:

a. be prepared on a consolidated basis;
b. be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

c. include financiainformation presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
the issuero6s annual financial statements.

2) areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex 19 of the Rules on the Offer of Secueti and Continuing Obligations in any of the
following circumstances:

a where the external auditorsé report on the
if the issuer is a special purposes entity) for any of the last three financial yearsatetgedi
preceding the application for registration of securities that are the subject of this document;

b. where the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) has undergone
restructuring in the three financial years immediately gulety the date of application for
registration of securities that are the subject of this document;

c. where any material change has been made to the accounting policies of the issuer; or

d. where any material adjustment has been made or is required to beontlaeeublished
audited financial statements during the periods referred to the subparagraph (1) above.

3) details of holdings, including holdings in contractually based securities or other assets whose

value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficoltascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of the issuerdés fin:
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4) the information required below must be provided in relation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

a. performance indicators;

b. the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;
c. any seasonal or business cycles which affect the business or the financial condition;

d. an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the fiharicianation;

e. information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

f.  the funding structure;

g. particulas of any alterations in the capital of the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a
speci al purposes entity), or where materi al
within the three years immediately preceding the date of the applicaticegistration of
securities that are the subject of this document. Such particulars must state the price and
terms of any issues by the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity),
or its subsidiaries (if applicable); and

h. details ofany amendments in the capital of the issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special
purposes entity) or its subsidiaries (if applicable) which is under option, including the
consideration for which the option was granted, and the price and duratios abtion,
and the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative statement.

5) property, plant and equipment
a. a breakdown of any existing material fixed assets, including leased properties;

b. an explanation of pblibyeandiasyshaegesécenterdpiaged ie thdt at i o |
policy; and

c. any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6) in relation to debt, a statement on an individual and consolidated basis as at the most recent
date must be prepared covering the follayv

a. a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, distinguishing between
guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided by the ssthércbr
parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

b. a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, bank overdrafts,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

c. a breakdown and classification of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer (or the

sponsor if the issuer is a spé a | purposes entity) and its su
provide an appropriate negative statement;

92



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

d. abreakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7) a statement by the directors of angterial adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration of securities that are the
subject of this document and the period covc¢
including the date of approval of the registration document or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

8) particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or otherasbrcompensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the applicabomefgistration of securities that
are the subject of this document in connection with the issue or offer of any securities by the
issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or any of its subsidiaries (if
applicable), together witthe names of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives,
persons offering or placing the securities or experts who received any such payment or benefit
or provide an appropriate negative statement.

14. Statements by experts

Where the registratiodocument includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be
included specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer (or the sponsor if the isaugpdsial purposes

entity) or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement should confirm that the expert has given
and not withdrawn his written consent to the pi
statement included in the foramd context in which it is included.

15. Declarations

The directors of the issuer (or the directors of sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) must
make the following declarations:

1. Other than what has been mentioned on gageif this documentthere has not been any
interruption in the business of the issuer (or sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or
its subsidiaries (if applicable), which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial
position in the last 12 months.

2. Other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this document, there has not been any
commissions, discounts, brokerages or othergamh compensation granted within the three
years immediately preceding the application for registration in conneettbrthe issue or
offer of any securities.

3. Other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this document, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the issuer (or sponsor if the issuer
is a special purposes entity) or its subsidiaries (if applicable) in the three years preceding the
application f@ registration of securities that are the subject of this document.

4. Other than what is mentioned on pdg&df this document, the Board directors do not have
any shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer (or sponsor if the issuer is a special
purposes entity), or any of the issueros sub:
theirs.

5. Delt instruments that are the subject of this registration document have been priced in a fair
methodology and in a manner that preserves the rights of the holders of the debt instruments.
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16. Expenses

This section must include an estimation of the expense$dadirect listing of debt instruments
that are the subject of this document.

17. Legal Information
This section must include the following legal information:

1) The foll owing declarations from the issueraos
isSsLer is a special purposes entity):

a. Submitting an application for registration of securities that are the subject of this document
does not violate the relevant laws and regulations in the Kingdom;

b. The registration of securities subject to this document doesonstitute a breach of any
of the contracts or agreements entered into by the issuer (or the sponsor in case the issuer
is a special purposes entity);

c. The registration of securities that are the subject of this document does not prejudice the
offeringdocuments of the debt instruments and the related debenture agreement;

d. all material legal issues concerning the issuer (and sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes
entity) have been disclosed in the registration document;

e. other than what has been rtiened on pagé 6of this document, the issuer (or sponsor if
the issuer is a special purposes entity) and its subsidiaries are not subject to any claims,
litigious cases or any other type of legal proceedings that could individually or collectively
havea material effect on the business of the issuer or its subsidiaries or their financial
position; and

f. other than what has been mentioned on pagef this document, the directors of the issuer
(or sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) aibject to any claims, litigious
cases or any other type of legal proceedings that could individually or collectively have a
material effect on the business of the issuer or its subsidiaries or their financial position.

2) asummary of all material contract

3) inrelation to the issuer (and sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) and its subsidiaries
(if applicable), the following must be included:

a. particulars of any intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material in relation to the issuer's or any of its
subsidiaries (if applicable) business or profitability, and a statement regtreiagtent to
which the issuer or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets;

b. particulars of any litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or any
ongoing investigations which may have a material efeect t he | ssuer dés or
subsidiary's business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

4) If the issuer is a special purposes entity:

a.a summary of the provisions of t Hasanpeci al
other constitutional documents, including:
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1. the object clause of the special purposes entity and the sponsor;

2. provisions relating to the special purposes entity éindt s ponsor 6s admin
management and supervisory bodies;

3. provisions relating to the rights and r est
securities and the financing transaction. including;

(a) any pledges not to apply for new loans whiove privileges to new creditors;
(b) any control rights granted to investors by the special purposes entity;

4. provisions governing the alteration of securities rights or classes of the special purposes
entity, where applicable, and the sponsor;

5. provisions goerning liquidation and winding up of the special purposes entity, where
applicable, and the sponsor;

6. any power enabling a director or the chief executive officer of the special purposes
entity, where applicable, or of the sponsor, to vote on a contracbposal in which
he has an interest;

7. any power enabling a director or the chief executive officer of the special purposes
entity, where applicable, or of the sponsor, to vote on remuneration to themselves; and

8. any powers allowing the directors or teenior executives of the special purposes
entity, where applicable, or the sponsor, to borrow from the sponsor.

b. asummary of all material contracts of the special purposes entity and the sponsor, including
summaries of any contract which is material to the financing arrangements.

c. asummary of all related party contracts of the special purposes entity and ther.spons
18 Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
Authority.

19. Information concerning the debt instruments
This section must include the following information:

1) a statement that an application l@®n made to the Authority for the registration of the debt
instruments and to the Exchange for the listing thereof;

2) all details of the debt instruments that are the subject of this registration document including
their terms and conditions;

3) the financimy structure associated with the debt instruments;
4) the debt instruments pricing methodology;
5) full information on the rights conferred upon holders of the debt instruments;

6) details of the debt instruments;
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7) the names and addresses of the paying agentangmdgistrar and transfer agents for the debt
instruments;

8) the proposed guiding price for the listing of debt instruments;
9) use of the proceeds of the offer of the debt instruments;
10) details of the early redemption of the debt instruments (if any);

11) detailsof repayment related dates including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the request of the issuer or sponsor (as applicable) or at the
request the holders of the debt instruments, and the date from which paaneedue to start;

12) details of any agreements with the representative of the holders of the debt instruments, if any,
the name and function and head office of such representative, the conditions under which the
representative may be replaced together waithindication of where the public may inspect
copies of the documents detailing the obligations of the representative;

13) a description of any subordination of the debt instruments to any other debts or debt instruments
of the issuer (and the sponsor if thsuer is a special purposes entity);

14) a description of the applicable law related to the registration of the debt instruments;
15) details of any restrictions on the transferability of the debt instruments;
16) details of the arrangements for transfer of the aedttuments;

17) the date upon which it is expected that trading in the debt instruments will commence, if the
issuer (or the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) can anticipate such date;

Documents available for inspection

This section must inade information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following
documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place
(provided it is not less than 14 days before the end of the expected datéhtodisbt instruments

that these documents shall remain available for inspection until the completion of listing of the debt
instruments):

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer (and the sponsor if the issuer is a
special purposes entjt

2) any document or order granting permission to offer register the securities that are the subject of
this document;

3) all other reports, letters, documents, value estimates or statements by any expert that any part
of which is extracted or referred to imetregistration document;

4) each contract disclosed pursuant to paragraph (7) of section (12) of this Annex or a
memorandum giving full particulars of the agreement;

5) the reviewed financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial yeadlsit@iye
preceding the date of the publication of the registration document, in addition to the most recent
interim financial statements. If the issuer is a special purposes entity, the reviewed financial
statements of the sponsor for each of the threadinhyears immediately preceding the date
of the publication of the registration document, in addition to the most recent interim financial
statements; and
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6) any other documentation that may be required by the Authority.

2LExternal auditordés report

Theissuesb s audited financi al statements for the th
publication of the registration document, in addition to the most recent interim financial statements,

must be enclosed.

22. Guarantees

Where a guarantee, pledge or other similar commitment is to be provided, the following information
must be included:

1) details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar
commitment including any conditionality on tapplication of the guarantee, pledge or similar
commitment; and

2) copies of the external auditorodés report and t
company.
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ANNEX 8
CONTENTS OF A REGISTRATION DOCUMENT FOR REGISTRATION OF DEBT
INSTRUMENTS OFFERED BY WAY OF PRIVATE PLACEMENT FOR AN
ISSUER THAT HAS SECURITIES CURRENTLY LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE

A registration document submitted for the registration of debt instruments offered by way of private
placement for the purpose of direct listing on Exehange by an issuer that has securities currently
listed on the Exchange must contain the information under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):

1) the issuer's naméncorporation date and commercial registration number. If the issuer is a
speci al purposes entity, a license to establ
commercial registration;

2) capital and number of s h dssuerss,aspaamadpurpobesenstyp ons or
3) asummary that includes the details and rights of the debt instruments;

4) shares and debt instruments that have been previously listed (if applicable). If the issuer is a
special purposes entity, shares and debt ingnisnthat have been previously listed by the
special purposes entity and the sponsor (if any);

5) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration of securities subject to
this document to the Authority, has submitted the applicdtintisting to the Exchange, and
has submitted all the required documents to the relevant authorities;

6) a statement on the importance of referring t
under section (2) and section (5) of this Annex, respdgtive

7) the following declaration:

AThis registration document includes infor meé
registration of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Aority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority")

and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Saudi
Stock Exchang€ompany The i ssuerds directors (and the
specialpurposes entity), whose names appadhis documentcollectively and individually

accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this document and
confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of theiteklyganand belief,

there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.
The Authority and the Saudi Stock Excharigmmpanydo not take any responsibility for the

contents of this document, do not make any represenggitmits accuracy or completeness,

and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance
upon, any part of this document. In the event that any of the contents of this document cannot

be understood, an authped financial advisor shall be consulted."

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the document.
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3. Corporate directory

This section must contain the following (where applicable):

1) The issuerodos and its representativessd cont at
sponsor and its representatives if the issuer is a special purposes entity), including addresses,
telephone numbers;raa i | addr esses, a n the gpdnsor'siwsbsite stheéd s we L

issuer is a special purposes entity).

2) The contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaihd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
reportincluded in the registration document has been attributed:

a. the financial advisor;

b. the external auditor;

c. the custodian (where applicable); and

d. the board members of the special purposes entity (where applicable).
4. Summary

This section must include a diatner to the target investors on the importance of reading the

registration document prior to making an investment decision, and include the following

information (where applicable):

) the issuerb6s name, description and incorpor al

2) if the issuer is a special purposes entity, the name of the entity and sponsor, their descriptions,
their incorporation information, and a summary of the financing transaction for the special
purposes entity;

3) details of the debt instruments to be listed, their sighahd any restrictions imposed upon them;

4 i f the issuer is a special purposes entity,
payments are paid as per the debt instruments (as applicable);

5) any additional information required by the Authority te pbrovided in the registration
document as it deems appropriate; and

6) a statement on the i mportance of referring t
under section (2) and section (5) of this Annex, respectively.

5. Risk factors
This section must contain information in relation to risk factors specific to:
1) the issuer (and the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity);

2) the market and industry in which the issuer operates (and the market and industry in which the
sponsoioperates if the issuer is a special purposes entity); and

3) securities that are the subject of the registration document.
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6. Table of contents

This section must include the registration document table of contents.
7. Terms and definitions

This section must inclwdthe terms and definitions used in the registration document.
8. Declarations

The directors of the issuer (and the directors of the sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity)
must make the following declarations:

1) Other than what has been mentiomedpage] 0df this document, there has not been any
interruption in the business of the issuer (or sponsor if the issuer is a special purposes entity) or
of the issuer's subsidiaries (if applicable), which may have or has had a significant effect on the
financial position in the last 12 months.

2) Other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this document, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the issuer (or sponsor if the issuer
is a special purposes téay) or its subsidiaries (if applicable) in the year preceding the
application for registration of securities that are the subject of this document.

3) Debt instruments that are the subject of this registration document have been priced in a fair
methodolog and in a manner that preserves the rights of the holders of the debt instruments.

4) The registration of securities that are the subject of this document does not prejudice the
offering documents of the debt instruments and the related debenture agreement.

9. Information concerning the debt instruments
This section must include the following information:

1) all details of the debt instruments that are the subject of this registration document including
their terms and conditions;

2) the financing structurassociated with the debt instruments;

3y the debt instrumentso6 pricing methodol ogy;

4) the proposed guiding price for the listing of debt instruments;

5) use of proceeds of the offering of the debt instruments (where applicable);

6) details of the early redemption thfe debt instruments (if any);

7) the nominal value for debt instrument;

8) details of repayment related dates including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the request of the issuer or sponsor (as applicalile) or at
request the holders of the debt instruments, and the date from which payments are due to start;

9) details of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments;

10) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agedebtor th
instruments; and
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11) a statement that an application has been made to the Authority for the registration of the debt
instruments and to the Exchange for the listing thereof.
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ANNEX 9
CONTENT OF APPLICATION

The application must be submitted on the letterhead of the issuer and contain the following information:

First: Shares

Number of issued shares

Class

Nominal value per share (in SR)
Amount paid up per share (in SR)
Total amount paid up for issued shares

=4 =4 =8 =8 -9

Second: Debt instruments and convertible debt instruments
Number of debt instruments or convertible debt instruments issued
Class
Nominal Value
Redemption value
Total nominal value of the debt instruments

=A =4 =8 =8 =9

Thir

o

: Ownership of shares
Number of holders ofhares
Number of issued shares
Directors of the issuer
Substantial shareholders
Shares in public hands
Shares in hands of employees
Shares in hands of directors

=4 =4 =8 =8 -8 a1

Fourth: Type of issue for which application is being made
1 Number or value of securities for vehi application is being made
9  Description of securities for which application is being made
1 Are the securities for which application is made identical in all respects? If not, how do they
differ and when will they become identical?
1 Details of documents ditle

The application must be by way of a letter dated and signed by the issuer or an authorised
officer of the issuer and contain an authorisation in the form below:

iThe i ssuer hereby authorises the Authority
authorities, agencies or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial services
or any other relevant authorities. o

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose artie offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relatingttalscuments, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 10
ISSUER'S DECLARATION

[To be provided othe Issuer's letterhedd

To: The Authority

We, being directors of i n(sert nan)drefaréd toherasimnmftes r 0
"the issuer"), hereby jointly and severally declare that to the best of our knowledge and belief (having
takenreasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the issuer:

1) has satisfied all the relevant conditions for approval of its application for registration and offer of
securitiesor its application for the registration écuritieguse as applicableqndall other relevant
requirements of the Capital Market Law its Implementing Regulations and the Exchange Rules;

22 has included all the information required to b
or registration documeitise as applicablepursuant to the Capital Market Law and the Rules on
the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations; and

3) has or will supply all the documents required by the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations.

We confirm that therearenoothe f act s bearing on the issuerds ap
securitiesor application for the registration sécuritieguse as applicablejvhich in our opinion should
have been disclosed to the Authority. We further confirm that we:

1) haveread and understood the Capital Market Law, the Listing Rifl#ee Saudi Stock Exchange
Company(the "Listing Rules") and the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations;

2) have understood the nature of our responsibilitiesobtigations as directors of a company whose
securities are listed; and

3) have understood in particular what is required of us to enable holders of the listed securities and the
public to appraise the issuer.

We acknowl edge t hat | beheatitled togamain ISted oslyeifctherissueriards wi |
securities comply with the applicable requirements of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations and in the Listing Rules. We hereby jointly and severally undertake and agree

to conply with the Capital Market Law and applicable regulations and rules from time to time issued

by the Authority and in particular undertake and agree to comply with the continuing obligatiéns vis

vis the Authority set out in the relevant Part of the Gapitarket Law and the Rules on the Offer of
Securities and Continuing Obligatiomsmd the Companies LawVe further jointly and severally
undertake to use our best endeavours to procure that the issuer shall also comply with the Capital Market
Law, the Conpanies Lawthe Listing Rulesand the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations, as well as other rules from time to time issued by the Authority. We acknowledge the
power of the Authority t o s useqoritigsdndtmtakeothenactohs t h e
in accordance with its rules.

We jointly and severally confirm that the funds and assets raised through the offer of any securities

shall be utilised in accordance with the reasons disclosed in the relevant prospectssibar e hol der
circular[use as applicable]unless we obtain the general assembly's approval fealtemative use

[use as applicable] We further confirm that the financial information in the relevant prospectus or
sharehol der s 6 oodocumeniuse as applicablekag bheasntextracted without material
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adjustment from the audited financial statements, and that such financial statements have been prepared
and audited in accordance with the auditing standards issuedpleasg insert theaccounting
standard).

We hereby authorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with the authorities, agencies
or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial services or other relevant authorities.

Signed on behalf of thedaer: the directors

Name:

Signature:

Date:
Name:

Signature:
Date:

Name:

Signature:
Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of ailawstaim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, subb documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 10 (A)
SPONSOROGS DECLARATI ON

To: The Authority

We , being directors of ___
jointly and severally declare that to the best of our knowledge and belief (having taken reasonable care
to ensure that such is the case) the sponsor:

1. has satisfied all the relevant conditions for registration and admission to Igstiagplication for
the registration oecuritieuse as applicablelnd all other relevant requirements of the Capital
Market Law and th&xchangeRules;

2. has included all the information required to be included in the prospactegistration document
[use as applicablgjursuant to the Capital Market Law aRdles on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationsand

3. has or will supply all thelocuments required by the Capital Market Law Rutkes on the Offer of
Securities and Continuing Obligations

We confirm that there are no other facts beari
admission to listingr application for the igistration ofsecuritieswhich in our opinion, should have
been disclosed by the sponsor to the Authority. We further confirm that we:

1. have read and understood the Capital Market Law and the Listingd®tihesSaudi Capital Market
("Listing Rules")and theRules on the Offeof Securities and Continuing Obligatigns

have understood the nature of our responsibilities and obligations as directors of a sponsor; and

have understood in particular aths required of us to enable holders of the listed securities and the
public to appraise the issuer and the sponsor.

We acknowledge that the issuerés securities wildl
with the applicable requimeents of the Listing Rules artle Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationsand the special purposes entitgnd the sponsocomplance with these
requirements. We hereby jointly and severally undertake and agree to comply with the Capital Market
Law, the Listing Rules, thRules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligatansother rules
issuedfrom time to time by the Authowit We,in particular undertake and agree to comply with the
continuing obligationgo the Authority asset out in the relevamart of the Capital Market Lawhe

Listing Rulesand theRules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligatidvie furtter jointly

and severally undertake to use our ledftristo ensurehat thespecial purposes entignd the sponsor

also complywith the Capital Market Lawthe Listing RulestheRules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationgnd other rulgissuedrom time to time by the Authority. We acknowledge the

power of the Authority to suspend or cancel the listing obpiexial purposesentlys secur i ti es
takeanyother actions in accordance with its rules.

We jointly and severally confirm that the funds raised through the offer of any securities sitiékdx

in accordance with the purposes disclosed in the relevant prospectus, unless wehmfActority

and the shareholders otherwise and obtairmr Hygiroval for any alternative ugase as applicable]

We further confirm that the financial information in the rel@vprospectusor relevant registration
document [use as applicablélas been obtainedithout any material adjustmenfrom the audited
financial statementand that such financial statements have been prepared and audited in accordance
with the (auditing standards

We hereby authorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with the authorities, agencies
or bodies haing responsibility for the supervision of financial services or other relevant authorities.
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Signed on behalf of the sponsor: the directors

Name: Name:
Signature: Signature:
Date: Date:
Name:

Signhature:

Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted elemtically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (includiegisting or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be sutadito the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 11
DI RECTORG6S DECLARATI ON

Each director (or comparable official) of an issuer must sign and submit a declaration containing the
following information:

Firs:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

7)

Information regarding board members:

Full name.

Passport / Civil Registry number.

Date of birth.

Residential address.

Nationality.

Professional and academic qualifications, if any.

Business experience during the last five years (to include name afgdmasation, the nature of
its business, dates ofnployment and the positions held).

Second Answer the following questions:

1)

2)

3

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

Are you a director of any othergangation ora partner in any partnership? If yes, state the name
of any suchorgangation orpartnership, its legal status, the nature of itdrimss, and date you
became a director or partner.

Have you at any time been declared bankrupt in any jurisdiction? If so, state the court by which
you were adjudged bankrupt and, if discharged, the date and conditions on which you were
granted your dischge.

Have you at any time been a party to a deed of arrangement or made any other form of
composition with your creditors?

Are there any unsatisfied judgements outstanding against you? If so, give full particulars.

Are you aware of any lawsuits, litigatidnyestigations or any similar regulatory or governmental
action against ya? If so, give full particulars.

Has any compangr special purposes entityeen put into compulsory liquidation or has an
administrator or an administrative or other receiver aggointed during the period when you
were one of its directors? If so, give full particulars.

Has any partnership been put into compulsory liquidation or been sequestrated during the period
when you were one of its partners? If so, in each case statartige nature of business, date of
commencement of winding up, administration or receivership and the amount together with an
indication of the outcome or current position.

Have you at any time or has a companyspecial purposes entitf which you were airector

at the time of the offence been convicted in any jurisdiction of any offence involving fraud or
dishonesty or an offence under legislation relating to companies or money laundering. If so, all
such convictions must be disclosed together with émeenof the court by which you were or the
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company was convicted, the date of conviction and full particulars of the offence and the penalty
imposed.

9) Have you, in connection with the formation or management of any company, partnership or
unincorporated ingttion been adjudged by a court in any jurisdiction civilly liable for any fraud,
misfeasance or other misconduct by you towards it or towards any of its members? If so, give full
particulars.

10) Have you ever been disqualified by a court from acting aseatdr of a compangr special
purposes entityor from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any congpany
special purposes entyf so, give full particulars.

11) Have you been refused membership or renewal of membership in any profebsidpa
institution or association, or stock exchange or been censured or disciplined or had membership
withdrawn by any such body to which you belong or belonged or have you held a practising
certificate subject to conditions? If so, give full particulars

Third : A declaration in the following form:

"l [Insert Namgbeing a director ofhe company or special purposes erttate name of compaiay

special purposes ent]tgleclare that to the best of my knowledge and belief (having taken all reasonable

care to ensure that such is the case) the answers to all the above questions are true and complete. |
hereby authorise the Authority to exchange any relevant information with the authorities, agencies or
bodies having responsibility for the supervisiodaf nanci al services or any of

Name:

Signature:
Date:

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose andetofferor shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating tdeuaments, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request].
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ANNEX 11 (A)
DIRECTOR'S DECLARATION IN A STRUCTURE W ITH RIGHT TO RECOURSE

Each director (or comparable official) of an issuer must sign and submit a declaration containing the
following information:

Firs: Information regarding the board member:
1) Full name.
2) Passport / Civil Registry number.
3) Date of birth.
4) Residential address.
5) Nationality.
6) Professional and academic qualifications, if any.

7) Business experience during the last five years (to include name of thesatiganithe nature of
its business, dates of employment and the positions held).

Second Answer the following questions:

1) Are you a director of any other orgaaiion or a partner in any partnership? If yes, state the name
of any such orgasition or partnership, its legal status, the nature of its business, and date you
became a director or padr.

2) Have you at any time been declared bankrupt in any jurisdiction? If so, state the court by which
you were adjudged bankrupt and, if discharged, the date and conditions on which you were
granted your discharge.

3) Have you at any time been a patty a deed of arrangement or made any other form of
composition with your creditors?

4) Are there any unsatisfied judgements outstanding against you? If so, give full particulars.

5) Are you aware of any lawsuits, litigation, investigations or any simitgulatory or
governmental action against you? If so, give full particulars.

6) Has any company been put into compulsory liquidatioappointed tcan administrator or a
receiverduring the period when you were one of its directors? If so, give fuitpkars.

7) Has any partnership been put into compulsory liquidation or been sequestrated during the period
when you were one of its partners? If so, in each case state the name, nature of business, date of
commencement diquidation, theadministratio or receivershigppointed by the couand the
amount together with an indication of the outcome or current position.

8) Have you at any time or has a company of which you were a director at the time of the offence
been convicted in any jurisdiction afy offence involving fraudlishonesty or an offence under
legislation relating to companies or money laundering. If so, all such convictions must be
disclosed together with the name of the court by which you were or the company was convicted,
the date bconviction and full particulars of the offence and the penalty imposed.

109



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

9) Have you, in connection with the formation or management of any company, partnership or
unincorporated institution been adjudgbd a court in any jurisdictigrascivilly liable for any
fraud, misfeasance or other misconduct by you towards it or towards any of its members? If so,
give full particulars.

10) Have you ever been disqualified by a cauartany jurisdictionfrom acting as a director of a
company, or from acting in ¢hmanagement or conduct of the affairs of any company? If so, give
full particulars.

11) Have you beerdenied membership or renewal of membership in amgfessional body,
institution, association, or stock exchangeany jurisdiction?0r have youbeen ensured or
disciplined or had membership withdrawn by any such body to which you belong or b&longed
or have you held a practising certificate subject to conditions? If so, give full particulars.

Third : A declaration in the following form:

"I [Insert Namgbeing a director ofdtate name o$ponsof declare that to the best of my knowledge

and belief (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the answers to all the above
guestions are true and complefdws, | hereby authorise the uthority to exchange any relevant
information with the authorities, agencies or bodies having responsibility for the supervision of financial
services or any other relevant authorities. o

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automatstbra determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened actiorgr any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon teques
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ANNEX 12
CONTENT OF A PROSPECTUS FOR SHARES

A prospectus submitted aart of anapplication for registration and offer sharesmust contain the
information under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include tHiellowing information (where applicable):
1) the issuer's namecorporation date and commercial registration number
2) capital and number of shares;
3) asummary of the offer including share class and rights;
4) substantial shareholders;
5) targeted types dfvestors;
6) offer period and conditions;
7) shares that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer (if applicable);
8) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
subject to this prospectus the Authority, and an application for listing of shaosthe

Exchangeand that all required documents have been submitted to the relevant authorities;

9 a statement referring to the Al mportant Not.i
sectio (10)of this Annex respectively before making an investment decision; and

10) the following declaration:

AiThis prospectus includes information provided
of securities in compliance with the Rules on @féer of Securities and Continuing Obligations

of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority") and the
application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Saudi Stock
ExchangeCompany The diretors, whose names appdarthis prospectus collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge
and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein
misleading. The Authority and the Exchange do not take any responsibility for the contents of this
prospectus, do not make any representation as to its accuraoynpleteness, and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part
of this prospectus

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.

3. Corporate directory

This section must include the following:
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tativesao cont act

1) thei ssuer 6s and i ts rep en
n he issuerds website

es
numbers, ana i | addresses, a t

r
d
2) the contact informationincluding addresses, telephone numbers, and website -aral e

addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or

report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a) the financial advisor;

b) the legal advisor;

c) theexternal auditor;

d) the underwriterand

€) receiving entities

4. Offer summary

This sectionmust include a disclaimer to the targeted investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and include the following information (where

applicable):
) the issuerodés name, description and incorpor af
22 the i ssuerds activities;

3) substantial shareholders showing their ownership percentages and number of shares pre
postoffering;

4) the capital of the issuer;

5) i ssuerbés total number of shar es;
6) the nominal value per share;

7) the total number of offered shares;

8) the percentage of offered shares to the capital of the issuer;

9) the offer price;

10) the total value of offer;

11) the use of the proceeds;

12) the number of offer shares underwritten;

13) the value of offer shares underwritten;

14) types of targeted investors;

15) the total numbeof offered shares available to each type of targeted investors;

16) subscription procedure for each type of targeted investors;

112



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority g
17) the minimum number of shares to be subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;
18) the minimum value of shares to be subscriloedy each type of targeted investors;
19) the maximum number of shares to be subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;
20) the maximum value of shares to be subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;

21) allocation method and description of the ggss where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for each type of targeted investors;

22) the offer period;

23) the rights to dividends;
24) voting rights;

25) restrictions on shares;

26) a statement regarding whether or not there has been a prior listing otlseu er 6 s s har e s ;
27)a st atement emphasising the i mportance of C
Factorso under s e c dfithesrAnnéx2espectively prier éoontaking an ( 1 0)

investment decision in the offered shares.
Key dates andsubscription procedure
This section must include:
1) atimetable showing the expected dates of the offering; and
2) a description of the subscription procedure.

Summary of basic information

This section must include a summary of the basic information contameldei prospectus,
including:

1) a disclaimer to investors about consideration of the prospectus as a whole, and not merely the
summary;

2) adescription of the issuer;

3) the i ssuerds mission and overall strategy;

4d the issuerds key strees,gidhs and competitive ai
5) an overview of the market.

Summary of financial information

This section must include a summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,

including issuerb6s operational perfor maac e, fi
indicators.
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8. Table of contents
This sectionmust include the prospectus table of contents.
9. Terms and definitions
This section must include the terms and definitions used through the prospectus.
10. Risk factors
This section must include information in relation to risk factors specific to:
1) theissuer;
2) the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and
3) the securities being offered.
11 Market and industry information

This section must include information on markentis and industry information specific to the
i ssuer 6 sandthessourca dhesinfosmation contained thére

121 ssuerds background and business nature
This section must include the following information:

1) the official name, commercial registrationmber and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address of the issuer;

2) the date of incorporation of the issuer;

3) the authorised shares of the issuer, the number of shares issued or agreed to be issued, the value
paid up, the nominal value and a description of the shares;

4) adescriptionandorgasit i on chart of the group showing th
(if applicable);

5 the gener al nature of t he Isubstantialeuksidiariesf(iif t he i
applicable) and details of the main products sold or services performed and an indication of any
significant new products or activities;

6) i f t he i ss usubstattiabubsidiages (if applicable) &rades outside the Kingdom,
a statment showing the location of such trading operations must be provided. Where a material
portion of the issuer or the issuerds subsidi
location of such assets and the value of the assets located imguoKi;

7V information concerning t he spbstantiasubsidiarfies (if he i s ¢
applicable) on the research and development of new products and production processes over
the past three financial years, where significant;

8 particul ars of any interruption isubstanthle busi

subsidiaries (if applicable) which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial
position in the last 12 months;

114



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

9 the number of peopl e e mpl o gubgdantiblsybsidianes (ifi ssuer
applicable) and any material changes to that number over the last two financial years, with a
breakdown of persons employed by main categories of activity and bis&@udratio; and

10) a statement that no material change in the nature of the business is contemplated or, if one is
contempl ated, a detailed description of that
profitability.

For the purpose of measurirgetsubstantiality of a subsidiary, the issuer and its financial advisors must
considelits impact on the investment decisionthe securities and its pricecluding but not limited

to, a subsidiaryis consideredsubstantialif it constitutes 5% or moref the total assetdiabilities,
revenues or profitef the issuergr anypotentialobligationsor onit.

13. Ownership and Organisational structure
This section must include the following information:
1) Ownership structure prand posbffering
2) Management

a) t he i s s waiondl sharbshogviagithe directors structure, supervisory committees,
and the functions of senior executives;

b) the full names and description of theost significantprofessional and academic
gualifications and area of expertise and dage of appointment of all the directors or
proposed directors (showing whether the director is independent or executive-or non
executive), in addition to the senior executives and the secretary of the board;

c) details of other previous or current boardifioss held by all the directors or proposed
directors, senior executives, and the secretary of the board. The details should include the
name of the company, legal entity, membership dates, and the sector in which the company
operates;

d) details of any bamrkiptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
secretary of the board;

e) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors
or proposed directors, senior executives, or the secretary of thetveese employed by
the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity;

f) a statement showing the direct or indirect interests of each director or proposed director,
senior executives, secretary of the board, and any of their relatives ingfijattes or debt
instruments of the issuer or (ii) the 1issuc
any way affect the business of the issuer, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

g) the aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind gréoytdte issuer or any affiliate during
the three financial years prior to offering to the directors and the five senior executives
who received the highest payments, including the CEO and CFO if they were not within
the top five;

h) asummary of existing orpposed service contracts, if any, of the directors, the CEO, and
CFO;
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full particulars of any contract or arrangement in effect or contemplated at the time of
submission of the prospectus in which a director or senior executive or any of their relatives

is interested in relation to the Dbusiness
applicable), or provide an appropriate negative statement;

) information allo wte ccimmitteed mcudirg rtiie snames of each
committee member and a summary of the terms of reference under which the committee
operates; and

kk information on the issuerod6s compliance witdt

3) Employees

a. any employeeshareschemes implace prior to the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus along with details on the aggregate amount of
shares owned by the employees in the issuer; and

b. any other arrangements involving the employees icapital of the issuer.

14. Financial information and management discussion and analysis
Thei nformation required below must be provided
substantialsubsidiaries (if applicable) for the three financial years immdgigtesceding the
application for registration and offer of the securities that are subject to this prosseetal as
the period covered in the interim financial statements as per paradjaphAticle (41) of the
Rules on the Offer of Securities a@dntinuing Obligations:

1. comparative tables of financial information with commentary and analysis by management. The
comparative tables must:

a) be prepared on a consolidated basis;
b) be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial stateraadts;

c) include financial information presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
the issuero6s annual financi al statement s.

2. areport by certified external auditor to be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex (19) of the Rules orthe Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in any of the
following circumstances:

a) where the external auditorsodé report on the
last three financial years immediately preceding the application fmtnatgpn and offer
of securities that are subject to this prospectus has been qualified;

b) where the issuer has undergone restructuring in the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of sectiiiegre subject
to this prospectus;

c) where any material change has been made to the accounting policies of the issuer; or

d) where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periadsrred to in sulparagraph (a) above.
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3. details of holdings, including holdings in contractually based securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessmen of t he i ssuerds financi al positio

4. the information required below must be provided in relation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

a) performance indicators;

b) the financial, operating performance, and results of operatidghs afain lines of business;
c) any seasonal or business cycles which affect the business or the financial condition;
d) an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

e) information regarding any governmental, economicafismonetary or political policies
or other factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

f) the funding structure;

g) particulars of any alterations in the capital of the issuer, or where matesiabf ahe
i s s usubstandial subsidiaries (if applicable) within the three years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus. Such particulars must state the price ansl ééramy issues by the
issuers or its subsidisers; and

h) a table showing any capital of the issuer or angsidiariessubsidiary which is under
option, including the consideration for which the option was granted, and the price and
duration of the option,ral the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate
negative statement.

5. property, plant and equipment
a) a breakdown of any existing material fixed assets, including leased properties;

b)) an explanation of the i s d$ianges dostemglatau inghati at i o |
policy; and

c) any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6. in relation to debt, a statement on a consolidated basis as at the most recent date must be
prepared covering the following:

a) a breakdown and classifigat of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, distinguishing between
guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided by the issuer or by third
parties) and unsecuréshns, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

b) a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, including bank
overdrafts, liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between gwanteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

c) a breakdown and classification of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer, and its
Ssubsidiariesd pr oper tdgaiee statement;prdovi de an app
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d) a breakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7. aworking capital statement in accordance with parag@psf Article (41) of the Rules on the
Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations.

8. a statement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer ofise¢hat
are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period covered in the
external auditorsé report up to and includingq
an appropriate negative statement.

9. particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or otharasbrcompensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that arthe subjectof this prospectus in connection withetlissue or offer of any
securities by the issuer or any of the issuer
of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities
or experts who received anycbupayment or benefit, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

For the purpose of measuring the substantiality of a subsidiary, the issuer and its financial advisors must
consider its impact on the investment decision in the securities and itsipeiading but not limited

to, a subsidiary is considered substantial if it constitutes 5% or more of the total assets, liabilities,
revenues or profits of the issuer, or any potential obligations or on it.

15. Dividend policy

This section must includeaneaph at i on of the i ssuerdéds dividend
dividend payments made during the last three years.

16. Use of proceeds and future projects

a) Thissectionmust include an estimate of the proceeds of the offer and the offer expenses and a
statement as to how such proceeds are intended to be used.

b) Where the proceeds are to be used to fund future projects, the nature of these projects should
be described antthe following information included:

1) future projects' key milestones and timetable; and

2) an estimate and breakdown of future projects costs, showing the stage in which such costs
will be incurred, in addition to details regarding the sources of fingnci

17. Statements by experts

Where the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in thgusr or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement

should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication

in the prospectus of the expertds statedent in
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18. Declarations
Thedirectorsof the issuer must make the following declarations:

1) other than what has been mentioned on ga@ealf this prospectus, there has not been any
interruption in the busi ness offapplidalele)whiels uer or
may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the last 12 months.

2) other than what has been mentioned on pagef this prospectusio commissions, discounts,
brokerages or other narash compensatiomave bem granted within the three years
immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of securities thia¢ anbject
of this prospectus in connection with the issue or offer of any securities by the issuer or any of
t he i ssues(@fapplsable)si di ar i e

3) other than what has been mentioned on pagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the issuer or its subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years prengdihe application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period
covered in the external auditorsodéd report up
prospectus.

4) other tharwhat is mentioned on pa§edof this prospectus, they do not have any shareholding
or interest of any kind in the issuer or any
does any relative of theirs.

5) The Issuer- individually or jointly with its subsidiaries (if anyj has a working capital
sufficient for a period of at least 12 months immediately following the date of publication of
the Prospectus

19. Legal information
This section must include the following legal information:

1) the following declaations from the board of directaisat

a) the issuance does not constitute a breach of the relevanatalveegulations in Saudi
Arabia;

b) the issuance does not constitute a breach of any contractemteentered into by the
issuer;

c) all material legalssues concerning the issuer haeeidisclosed in the prospectus;

d) other than what has been mentioned on gagedf this prospectusthe issuerand its
subsidiaries are not subject to any claims, litigious cases or any other type of legal
proceedingshat could individually or collectively have a material effecttba businesef
the issuer or its subsidias or their financial position; and

e) other than what has been mentioned on pageff this prospectus, the directors are not
subject to any claimdjtigious cases or any other type of legal proceedings that could
individually or collectively have a material effect ¢ime busines®f the issuer or its
subsidiaries or their financial position.

22 a summary of t he ©provi si on<constthtional ecuméns,s uer 6 s
including but not limited to:
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the object clause;

b) provisions relating to the issuerd6s admini s
c) provisions relating to the rights and restr
d) provisions governing the alteration of share rights or classes;

e) provisions governing the conduct of general assembly meetings;

f) provisions governing liquidation and winding up;

g) any power enabling a director or the CEO to vote on a contract or proposatinhethas
an interest;

h) any power enabling a director or the CEO to vote on remuneration to themselves; and
i) any powers allowing the directors or the senior executives to borrow from the issuer.
3) asummary of all material contracts.
4) a summary of all relateplarty materialcontracts.
5) in relation to the issuer and its subsidiaries (if applicable), the following must be included:

a) particulars of any intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material relation to the issuer's or any of its
subsidiaries (if applicable) business or profitability, and a statement regarding the extent to
which the issuer or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets; and

b) particulars of any litiggon or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or any
ongoing investigations which may have a ma

subsidiaries business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

6) as to the shardhat are the subject of the application, a description of the rights of the holders
of the shares must be provided, as follows:

a) the voting rights, rights to dividends, rights to redemption or repurchase or to surplus assets
on liquidation, winding up or berwise, and all other significant information regarding the
rights of the holders of such shares; and

b) a summary of the approvals necessary for the variation of such rights.

20. Underwriter
This section must include information about the underwriter of ther odis follows:

1) the name and address of the underwriter; and

2) the principal terms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

21. Expenses

This section must include details of the aggregate eXpenses.
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Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
Authority.

Information concerning the shares and terms and conditions of the offer
This section must include the following information:

1) a datement that application has been made to the Authority for the application for registration
and offer of securities and to the Exchange for listing;

2) the type and total value of the offer including the number of shares being offered,;

3) the offer price andie nominal value of each share;

4) the subscription method;

5) the offer period and conditions;

6) the method of allocation of the shares and refund of excess monies;

7) when and under what circumstances the offer may be suspended;

8) a description of the resolutioremd approvals by virtue of which the shares will be offered;

9) details of any loclkup arrangement in place restricting the disposal of particular shares; and

10) if a public or private offer has been or is being made simultaneously on the markets of two or
morecountries at the same time, and if a tranche has been or is being reserved for certain of
these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription Declarations

This section must include information on the subscription declaratdinsation process, and the
Exchange's details.

Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following

documents may be inspected and the period of time during which ffeciion may take place

(being not less than 20 days before the end of the offer period):

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer;

2) any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;

3) each contract disclosgalrsuant to swparagraph (i) of paragrapB)(of section 13) of this
Annex or, if the contract is not produced in writing, a memorandum giving full particulars of

the agreement;

4) all other reports, letters, documentalue estimatesr statements by argxpert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in the prospectus; and
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5) the audited financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the werstirgerim
financial statements.

26Ext ernal auditords report
The i ssuerés audited financial statements for
publishing the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial statemestsbe
enclosed
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ANNEX 13
CONTENT OF A PROSPECTUS FOR A RIGHTS ISSUE

A prospectus submitted as part of an application for registration and offeefefence sharesust
contain the information under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page

This section must include the following information (where applicable):

1) a summary of the offer including share class and rights;

2) targeted types of investors;

3) offer period and conditions;

4) shares that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer;

5) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
that are subject to this prospectus to the Authority and the application for lidtiregErchange
and has submitted all the required documents to theargl@uthorities;

6) a statement referring to the Al mportant Not.i
section (10 of this Annex respectively before making an investment decision; and

7) the following declaration:

AThi s pr ospect wsprdvided &sparteothe iapplicationrfoa registration and
offer of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority")
and the apmptation for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Saudi
Stock Exchang€ompany The directors, whose names appadhis prospectuscollectively

and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the informatootained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement
herein misleading. The Authority and the Saudi Stock BrghCompanydo not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make any representation as to its
accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising
from, or incurred in reliance upon,apyar t of t hi s prospectus. O

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.

3. Corporate directory

This section must include the following:

1) thei ssuer 6s epmesentsati vesd contact informatio
numbers, ana i | addresses, and the issuerodos website
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2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listedvieemd any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a) the financial advisor;
b) the legal advisor;

c) the external auditor;
d) the underwriterand
e) receiving entities

4. Offer summary

This section must include disclaimer to the targeted investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and contain the following information (where

applicable):
1) the issuerdés name, description and incorpor at
2) the i switeggr 6s act

3) substantial shareholders showing their ownership percentages and number of shares pre
offering;

4) the purpose(s) of the issuance of the proposed rights issue;

5) the total proceeds expected to be raised and a detailed breakdown and description of the
proposed use of the proceeds;

6) the total proceeds raised on the most recent rights issue, its breakdown and description as well
as the use, or (where applicable) the expected use of such proceeds not yet utilised;

7) any information required under Anndg2) of the Ruleson the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationsthat has materially changed since approval of the most recent
prospectus;

8) any additional information required by the Authority to be provided in the rights issue
prospectus as it deerappropriate;

9) the capital of the issuer;

10)i ssuer 6s total number of shares;
11) the nominal value per share;

12) the total number of offered shares;

13) the percentage of offered shares to the capital of the issuer;

14) the offer price;

15) the total value of offer;
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16) the number boffer shares underwritten;
17) the value of offer shares underwritten;
18) types of targeted investors;
19) the total number of offered shares available to each type of targeted investors;
20) the minimum number of shares to be subscribed for by each type of taryetsors;
21) the minimum value of shares to be subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;
22) the maximum number of shares to be subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;
23) the maximum value of shares to be subscribed for by each type of tanyetstors;

24) allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for each type of targeted investors;

25) the offer period;

26) the rights to dividends;

27) voting rights;

28) restrictions on shares or rights;

29 astatemeén regarding whether or not there has bee

300a statement emphasising the importance of C
Factorso wunder s e c bfithisrAnnéxaespedively prier ¢ocnkdigam (1 0)
investment decision in the offered shares.

Key dates and subscription procedure

This section must include:

1) atimetable showing the expected dates of the offering; and

2) a description of the subscription procedure.

Summary of basic information

This se&tion must contain a summary of the basic information contained in the prospectus,

including:

1) a disclaimer to investors about consideration of the prospectus as a whole, and not merely the
summary;

2) adescription of the issuer;

3) the i ssuer dverallpiiategy;i on and

4 the issuerds key strengths and competitive ac
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5) an overview of the market.

7. Summary of financial information

This section must contain a summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,
i ncludi ng iomlgperfermanece, finapaiak cantdition, cash flows, and key performance
indicators.

8. Table of contents

This section must include the prospectus table of contents.

9. Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used through #eptos.

10. Risk factors

This section must contain information in relation to risk factors specific to:
1) the issuer;

2) the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and

3) the securities being offered.

11 Employees

1) Any employee share schemes in place priot application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus along with details on the aggregate amount of shares
owned by the employees in the issuer; and

2) Any other arrangements involving the employees in the capital iggher.

12. Financial information and management discussion and analysis

The information required below must be provic
substantialsubsidiaries (if applicable) for the three financial years immediately preceding the
application for registration and offer of securities that are subject to this prospectus as well as the
period covered in the interim financial statements as per paragbaphAtticle (41) of the Rules

on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligas:

1) comparative tables of financial information with commentary and analysis by management. The
comparative tables must:

a) be prepared on a consolidated basis;
b) be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

¢) include financiainformation presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
the issuero6s annual financi al statement s.
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2) a report by certified external auditor to be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex (19) of the Rules on the Offer @ecurities and Continuing Obligations in any of the
following circumstances:

a where the external auditorsé report on the
last three financial years immediately preceding the application for registratiarffand
of securities that are subject to this prospectus has been qualified;

b) where the issuer has undergone restructutimgngthe three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities thabject su
to this prospectus;

¢) where any material change has been made to the accounting policies of the issuer; or

d) where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods refeltredea

3) details of holdings, including holdings in contractually based securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessmi#éiant of the issueros fine

4) the information required below must be provided in relation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

a. performance indicators;

b. the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lnsingfss;
c. any seasonal or business cycles which affect the business or the financial condition;
d. an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

e. information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary iticglopolicies
or other factors that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

f. the funding structure;

g. particulars of any alterations in the capital of the issuer, or where material, any of the
i s s usabstéansial subsidiaries (if applicable) within the three years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus. Such particulars must state the price and terms of any isthes by
issuers or its subsidisers; and

h. atable showing any capital of the issuer oranystantiabubsidiary which is under option,
including the consideration for which the option was granted, and the price and duration of
the option, and the name and asldr of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

For the purpose of measuring the substantiality of a subsidiary, the issuer and its financial
advisors must consider its impact on the investment decision in the securities and its price,
including but not limited to, a subsidiary is considered substantial if it constitutes 5% or more
of the total assets, liabilities, revenues or profits of the issuer, or any potential obligations or on
it.
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5) property, plant and equipment
a) a breakdown of angxisting material fixed assets, including leased properties;

b) an explanation of the issuero6és depreciati ol
policy; and

c) any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6)in relation to debt, a stateent on a consolidated basis as at the most recent date must be prepared
covering the following:

a) a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, distinglshwveen
guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided by the issuer or by third
parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

b) a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, irglbdink
overdrafts, liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

c) a breakdown and clsiication of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer, and its
subsidiariesd properties, or provide an app

d) a breakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7) astatement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer of securities that
are subject to this prospectus and during the period frerernt of the period covered in the
external auditorsoé report up to and includini
an appropriate negative statement.

8) particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or otherasbrcompensation graxal
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus in connection with the issue or offer of any
securities by the i ssuer daabley togethariththéinames s s uer
of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities
or experts who received any such payment or benefit, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

13. Use of proceeds and futte projects

a) This section must include an estimate of the proceeds of the offer and the offer expenses and a
statement as to how such proceeds are intended to be used.

b) Where the proceeds are to be used to fund future projects, the nature of thexte phajuld
be described and the following information included:

1) future projectsd key milestones and timetab

2) an estimate and breakdown of future projects costs, showing the stage in which such costs
will be incurred, in addition to details ragling the sources of financing.
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14. Statements by experts

Where the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding omiterest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement
should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication

in the prospectus of t he e x pontextidvghictsittisantleede nt i n

15. Declarations

The directors of the issuer must make the following declarations:

1) other than what has been mentioned on gagaif this prospectus, there has not been any
interruption in the business of the issueroranybfe i ssuer 6s subsi diari es
may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the last 12 months.

2) other than what has been mentioned on jpagef this prospectus)o commissions, discounts,
brokerages or other narash compensatiomave been granted within the three years
immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of securities thia¢ aubject
of this prospectus in connection with the issu®ffer of any securities by the issuer or any of
the issuerébés subsidiaries (i f applicable).

3) other than what has been mentioned on gagelf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of therisslits subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period
covered in the perxupseoramdihcluding the date rofabprovak of the
prospectus.

4) other than what is mentioned on p@géof this prospectus, they do not have any shareholding
or interest of any kind in the issueroror any
does any relative of theirs.

16. Legal Information

This section must include the followirdgclarations from the board of directtinat
a) the issuance does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia
b) the issuance does nairtstitute a breach of any contract/agreement entered into by the issuer.
c) all material legal issues concerning the issuer have been disclosed in the prospectus.
d) other than what has been mentionedagep Gof this prospectus, thesuer and its subsidias
are not subject to any claims, litigious cases or any other type of legal proceedingsuld
individually or collectivelyhave a material effect on thesiness of the issuer or its subsidiaries
or their financial position.
e) other than what has been mentioned on pagef this prospectus, the directors are not subject
to any claimslitigious cases or any other type of legal proceedings that could individually or

collectively have a material effect on thmusiness of the isgr or its subsidiaries or their
financial position.
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Underwriter

This section must include information about the underwriter of the offer, as follows:
a) the name and address of the underwriter; and

b) the principal terms of the underwriting agreement, inclgdire compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
Authority.

Information concerning the shares and terms and conditions of the fafr

This section must include the following information:

1) a statement that application has been made to the Authority for the registration and offer of the
securities that are subject to this prospectus and to the Exchange for listing;

2) the type and totalalue of the offer including the number of shares being offered;

3) the offer price and the nominal value of each share;

4) the subscription method;

5) the offer period and conditions;

6) the method of allocation of the shares and refund of excess monies;

7) when and uner what circumstances the offer may be suspended;

8) a description of the resolutions, and approvals by virtue of which the shares will be offered;

9) details of any loclup arrangement in place restricting the disposal of particular shares; and

10) if a public or pivate offer has been or is being made simultaneously on the markets of two or
more countries at the same time, and if a tranche has been or is being reserved for certain of

these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Price dilution

This section must include information on the price dilution effects and its impact on the
shareholders.

Subscription Declarations

This section must include information on the subscription declarations, allocation process, and the
Exchangeds detail s.
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22. Documents available for inspection

Thissection must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following
documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place
(being not less than 14 davefore the extraordinary general asserably such documents must
remain available for inspection until the end of the offer périod

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer;

2) any document or order granting permission to afémurities to the public;

3) any feasibility studies prepared in relation to the projects that will be financed from the proceeds
of the offer;

4) all other reports, letters, documentalue estimatesr statements by any expert aogrt of
which is extractedroreferred to in the prospectus; and
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ANNEX 13 (A)
CONTENT OF A PROSPECTUS FOR SHARE ISSUANCE WITH THE
SUSPENSION OF PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS

A prospectus submitted as part of an application for registration and offer of shares of a capital increase
with thesuspension of preemptive rights must contain the information under the following sections at
a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):
1) asummary of the capital increase including share class and its right

2) The reasons for the capital increase, including management's discussion and analysis in this
regard;

3) the general structure of the proposed capital increase;
4) targeted investor and their categories;
5) offer period and conditions;

6) A statement on whether tha&rgeted investor categories include related parties, and the identity
and ownership of these parties if applicable;

7) share pricing mechanism;
8) Restrictions related to participation in the subscription;
9) The time period of the operation;

10) A statement from th8oard of Directors of the Issuer stating that they believe that the capital
increase is in the interest of the Issuer and the shareholders;

11) a statement that the issuer has submitted an application to the Authority for the registration and
offer of securiies and an application to the Exchange for listing such securities, and that all
requirements have been met;

122a st atement indicating the importance of refe
included in section (2) and section (10) of thimax;

13) the following declaration:

AThis prospectus includes information provid
offer of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Audhity of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority")

and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules &aheéi

Stock Exchange Companyhe directors, whose names appaahis prospectuscollectively

and individualy, accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would matatanyent

herein misleading. The Authority and tBaudi Stock Exchange Compadg not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make any representation as to its
accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liabilitisodazer for any loss arising
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from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this prospectus. If any of the contents of this
prospectus is difficult to understand, an aut

2. Important notice

This section musinclude a notice which shows the purpose of the prospectus and the nature of
information mentioned in the prospectus.

3. Corporate directory
This section must include the following:

D) the iissuerds and i ts represent ats;telepbobe cont a
numbers, ana i | addresses, and the issuerodés website

2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report ircluded in the prospectus has been attributed.

a) the financial advisor;

b) the legal advisor;

c) the external auditor;

d) the Capital Market Institutianauthorised tplace or sell the securities.

4. Offer Summary

This section must include a disclaimer to the targetedstors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and contain the following information (where

applicable):
1) thei ssuerds name, description and incorporatio
2 the issuero6s activities;

3) substantial sharelders and their ownership percentages and number of shares they own before
the offering;

4) the capital of the issuer;

5) The purpose of issuing shares for the increase of capital with the suspension of preemptive
rights;

6) the total proceeds expected to be mhisead a detailed breakdown and description of the
proposed use of the proceeds;

7) any information required under Anng#2) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations that has materially changed since approval of the most recent
prospectus;

8) any additional information required by the Authority to be provided in the prospectus as it
deems appropriate;

9 i ssuerbés total number of shares;
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10) the nominal value per share;

11) the total number of offered shares;

12) the total number of offered shares a&hik to each category of targeted investors;

13) the percentage of offered shares to the capital of the issuer;

14) the offer price;

15) the total value of the offer;

16) the minimum number of shares to be subscribed for by each category of targeted investors;
17) the minimumvalue of shares to be subscribed for by each category of targeted investors;

18) the maximum number of shares to be subscribed for by each category of targeted investors;
19) the maximum value of shares to be subscribed for by each category of targeted investors;

20) the method for share allocation and refund of amounts paid in excess to such allocation for each
category of targeted investors;

21) the offer period;

22) shares that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer;
23) the rights to dividends for the new shares;

24) voting rights for the new shares.

25) restrictions on the new shares.

26) The reduction percentage in the ownership of current shareholders in the issuer as a result of
the capital increase for the purpose declaretamtospectus.

2Na statement that the proposed capital i ncrea
extraordinary general assembly meeting.

28la statement indicating the importance of refe
includedin section (2) and section (10) of this Annex.

5. Key dates and subscription procedure
This section must include:
1) atimetable showing the expected dates of the offering.
2) a descriptiorof the subscription procedure.

6. Summary of basic information

This sectionmust include a summary of the basic information contained in the prospectus,
including:
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1) adisclaimer to investomn making an investment decision based on reatimgrospectus as
a whole, and not merely the summary;

2) description of the issuer.
3) thei ssuer s mi ssion and overall strategy.
49 the issuerods key strengths and competitive ai
5) an overview of the market.
7. Summary of financial information

This section must include a summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,
including issuerds operational performance, fi

8. Table of contents
This section must include the prospectuso6 tabl
9. Definitions and terms
This section must include the definitions and terms usdiael prospectus.
10. Risk factors
This section must include information in regards to risk factors in relation to:
1) theissuer;
2) the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and
3) the securities being offered.
4) the change in the ownership of current shal#ers and associated reduction of voting powers.
11 Employees
1) Any employee share schemes in place prior to the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus along with details on the total amount of shares
owned ly the employees in the issuer; and
2) Any other arrangements involving the employees in the capital of the issuer.

12. Use of proceeds and future projects

1) Thissection must include an estimate of the proceeds of the offer and the offer expenses and a
statement a® how such proceeds are intended to be used.

2) If the proceeds are to be used to fund future projects, the nature of these projects should be
described and the following information should be included:

a) future projects' key milestones and timetable; and

b) anestimate and breakdown of future projects’ costs, showing the stages in which such costs
will be incurred, in addition to details regarding the sources of financing.
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13. Statements by experts

If the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, thiicgtiatis of the expert must be

included as well as a statement on whether such expert or any relative has any shareholding or
interest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement should confirm

that the expert has gireand not withdrawn his written consent to the publication in the prospectus

of the expertodés statement included in the form

14. Declarations
The directors of the issuer must make the following declarations:

1) other than whahas been mentioned on pageddf this prospectusthere has not been any
interruption in the business of the issuer or
may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the2ash¢hths.

2) other than what has been mentioned on pagef thisprospectusno commissions, discounts,
brokerages fees or other noash compensations have been granted by the issuer or any of its
subsidiaries (if applicable) during the year precedimgapplication for registration and offer
of shares that are the subject of {hisspectus in relation to the issueoffer of any shares.

3) other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectusthere has not been any
material adverse changethe financial or commercial position of the issuer or its subsidiaries
(if applicable) during the financial year preceding the application for registration and offer of
shares.

4) other than what is mentioned on pdgéof thisprospectusneither they natheir relatives have
any shareholding or interest of any kind in
applicable).

15. Legal Information

This section must include the following declarations from the board of directors that:

a) the issuance does nminstitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia

b) the issuance does not constitute a breach of any contract/agreement entered into by the issuer.

c) all material legal issues concerning the issuer have been disclosed in the prospectus.

d) other than what has been mentioned on pagedf this prospectusthe issuer and its
subsidiaries are not subject to any lawsuits or legal proceetliagould individually or
collectively have a material effect on the business of the issuer or g&lisuies or their
financial position.

e) other than what has been mentioned on pagef thisprospectusthe directors are not subject
to any lawsuits diegal proceedings that could individually or collectively have a material effect
on the business die issuer or its subsidiaries or their financial position.

16. Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
Authority.
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Information concerning the shares and terms and conditions of the offer
This ®ction must include the following information:

1) a statement that application has been submitted to the Authority for the registration and offer
of the shares and to the Exchange for the listing of such shares.

2) the type and total value of the offer incluglithe number of shares being offered.

3) the offer price and the nominal value of each share.

4) the subscription method.

5) the offer period and conditions.

6) the method of allocation of the shares and refund of excess monies.

7) when and under what circumstances tfieranay be suspended.

8) a description of the resolutions and approvals by virtue of which the shares will be offered.

9) details of any arrangement in place to restrict the disposal of any particular shares.

10) if a public or private offer has been or is beingdeaimultaneously on the markets of two or
more countries at the same time, and if a tranche has been or is being reserved for certain of
these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription Declarations

This section must inade information on the subscription declarations, allocation process, and the
Exchangeds detail s.

Price dilution

This section must include information on the price dilution effects and its impact on the
shareholders.

Procedures of Incomplete Offer
This section must include procedures to be taken by the issuer in case the offer is not completed.
Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following
documents may be ipscted and the time period during which the inspection may take place
(provided that it is not less than 14 days before the date of convening the extraordinary general
assembly meetingnd such documents must remain available for inspection until thef ¢he o

offer periog:

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer.

2) any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public.

3) any feasibility studies prepared in relation to the projects that will be financed from thedsroce

of the offer.
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all other reports, letters, documents, value estin@tstatements prepared by any expert and

of which any part is referred to or included in the prospectus.

5) the consent letters of the issuer's advisors for the use of their namesandgstsitements in
the prospectus.

6) any other documents requested by the Authority.
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ANNEX 14
CONTENT OF A PROSPECTUS FOR DEBT INSTRUMENTS FOR AN ISSUER
WITHOUT SECURITIES LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE

A prospectusubmitted for theegistration and the offaf debt instruments from an issuer which does
not have any listed securities on the Exchange at the time of submission must contain the information
under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):
1) the issuer's namincorporation date and commercial registration number;
2) capital and number of shares;
3) asummary of the offer including debt instruments details and rights;
4) targetparticipants;
5) offer period and conditions;

6) shares and debt instruments that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer (if
applicable);

7) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
tha are subject to this prospectus to the Authority, has submitted the application for listing to
the Exchangand has submitted all the required documents to the relevant authorities;

8 a statement referring to the fidemspcdon(2pamd NoOt i
section (9)f this Annex respectively before making an investment decision; and

9) the following declaration:

AThis prospectus includes information provid
offer of securities in compliaecwith the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority")
and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules &ahei

Stock Exhange Companylhe directors, whose hames appaahis prospectuscollectively

and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that teghefbtheir
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement
herein misleading. The Authority and tBaudi Stock Exchange Compadg not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make any representation as to its
accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising
from, or incurred in reliance upon, any partosthipr ospect us. 0

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.
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3. Corporate directory
This section must include the following:

1) thei ssuer 6s and icontact infermatian s iecluding taddresses,0 telephone
numbers, ena i | addresses, and the issuerots website

2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, andtey expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a) the financial advisor;

b) the legal advisor;

c) the external auditor; and

d) theCapital Market Institutios authorised tplace or sell the securities.
e) the underwriter (ifiny)

4. Offer summary

This section must include a disclaimer to the target investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and include the following information (where

applicable):
1) t he i s s uescript®n andhimo@poration information;
2 the issuero6s activities;

3) substantial shareholders showing their ownership percentages and number of shares;
4) the capital of the issuer;

5 the issuerdés tot al number of shares;

6) the nominal value fooffered debt instrument;

7) the use of proceeds;

8) types of targeted investors;

9) subscription method for each type of targeted investors;

10) the minimum number of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

11) the minimum value of offer of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

12) the maximum number of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

13) the maximum value of offer debt instrumse to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;
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14) allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for all types of targeted investors;

15) the offer period;

16) full information ofrights granted to holders of the debt instruments;

17) debt instruments particulars;

18) details of repayment related dates including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
speci fying whether exercisabltemanttsberiegaaet
date from which payments are due to start;

19) restrictions on debt instruments;

20) details of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments

21) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar &agenss for the debt
instruments

22) details of the early redemption of the debt instruments; and

23)a statement referring the reader to the #Al mpc
(2) and section (9f this Annex respectively bef@ making an investment decision.

5. Summary of basic information

This section must include a summary of the basic information contained in the prospectus,
including:

1) adisclaimer to investors about consideration of the prospectus as a whole, and natheerely
summary;

2) adescription of the issuer;
3) the i ssuerds mission and overall strategy;
4 the issuerbds key strengths and competitive acf
5) an overview of the market.

6. Summary of financial information
This section must include a summary of key finantgifdrmation contained in the prospectus,
including issuerdéds operational performance, fi
indicators.

7. Table of contents
This section must include a table of contents.

8. Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used through the prospectus.
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9. Risk factors
This section must include information in relation to risk factors specific to:
1) theissuer;
2) the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and
3) the securities beg offered.
101l ssuer6s background and business nature
This section must include the following information:

1) the official name, commercial registration number and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address ofitkaer;

2) the date of incorporation of the issuer;

3) the authorised shares of the issuer, the number of shares issued or agreed to be issued, the value
paid up, the nominal value and a description of the shares;

4) adescription and orgasaition chartofthegop s howing the i ssuerdés pos
(if applicable);

5 the gener al nature of the business of the s
details of the main products sold or services performed and an indication of anyaangmidio/
products or activities;

6) i f the issuer or the issuerds subsidiaries (i
showing the location of such trading operations must be provided. Where a material portion of
the issuer oirditérei @ ss sausegedtss &6 udbrse out si de t he

such assets and the value of the assets located in the Kingdom;

7V information concerning the policy of the iss
the research and developrmef new products and production processes over the past three
financial years, where significant;

8 particulars of any interruption in the busir
applicable) which may have or has had a significant effeth@financial position in the last
12 months;

9 the number of people employed by the issuer

any material changes to that number over the last two financial years, with a breakdown of
persons employed by Sasation ratio; and

10) a statement that no material change in the nature of the business is contemplated or, if one is

contempl ated, a detailed description of that
profitability.
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11. Organisational structure
This section must include the following information:
1) Management

a) t he i s s wsaional sharbshogviagnthe directors structure, supervisory committees,
and the functions of senior executives;

b) the full names and description of threost significantprofesional and academic
gualifications and area of expertise and the date of appointment of all the directors or
proposed directors (showing whether the director is independent or executive-or non
executive), in addition to the senior executives and the congmmetary of the issuer;

c) details of other previous or current board positions held by all directors or proposed
directors or senior executives and the company secretary of the issuer. The details should
include, the name of the company, legal entity, imexrship dates, and the sector in which
the company operates;

d) details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
company secretary of the issuer;

e) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years vamgref the directors
or proposed directors, senior executives, or the company secretary of the issuer were
employed by the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity;

f) a statement showing the direct or indirect interests of each directoopwsed director,
senior executives, secretary of the board, and any of their relatives in (i) the shares or debt
instruments of the issuer or (ii) the i ssit
appropriate negative statement;

g) the aggregate remaration and benefits in kind granted by the issuer or any subsidiary
during the three financial years prior to offering to the directors and the five senior
executives who received the highest payments, including the CEO and CFO if they were
not within thetop five;

h) full particulars of any contract or arrangement in effect or contemplated at the time of
submission of the prospectus in which a director or senior executive or any of their relatives
is interested in relation to the business of the issuer®or ti ssuer 6s subsid
applicable), or provide an appropriate negative statement;

) informati on allo ute ccommiteed, mdudirgrtidesnames of each
committee member and a summary of the terms of reference under which the committee
opeates; and

) information on the issuerds compliance with

2) Employees

a) any employee share schemes in place prior to the application for registration and offer of
securities subject to this prospectus along with details on the aggregatet afsliares
owned by the employees in the issuer; and

b) any other arrangements involving the employees in the capital of the issuer.
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12. Financial information

The information required below must be provided in relation to the issuer for the three financial
years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus as well as the period covered in tharnfinancial statements as per paragraph

(4) of Article (41) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations:

1) comparative tables of financial information with commentary and analysis by management of
financialmaterial information. Theomparative tables must:

a) be prepared on a consolidated basis;
b) be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

¢) include financial information presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
t he i ss ueaanbastatements.al f i

2) areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex (19) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in any of the
following circumstances:

A

a) where the external auditr s 6 report on the financi al stat
last three financial years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer
of securities that are subject to this prospectus has been qualified;

b) where the issuer has umgene restructuring in the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus;

c) where any material change has been made to the accounting policies of the@issue

d) where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods referred to ipaagraph (a) above.

3) details of holdings, including holdings in contractually based securitiether assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of the issuerds fin:

4) the information required below must be provided in relation to the finarmpedrating
performance, and results of operations:

a) performance indicators;

b) the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;

c) any seasonal or business cycles which affect the business or the financial condition;

d) an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

e) information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have materially affected, or could materially affecttlglirer

indirectly, the operations;

f) the funding structure;
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g) particulars of any alterations in the capital of the issuer, or where material, any of the
i ssuer6s subsidiaries (if applicable) withi
of the appliction for registration and offer of securities that are subject to this prospectus.
Such particulars must state the price and terms of any issues by the issuers or its subsidisers;
and

h) a table showing any capital of the issuer or any subsidiary which & aption, including
the consideration for which the option was granted, and the price and duration of the option,
and the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative statement.

5) property, plant and equipment
a) a breakdown of any exiag material fixed assets, including leased properties;

b) an explanation of the issuerb6s depreciati ol
policy; and

c) any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6) in relation to debt, a statement an individual and consolidated basis as at the most recent
date must be prepared covering the following:

a) a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loansgulisting between
guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided by the issuer or by third
parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

b) a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedbasg, overdrafts,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

c) a breakdown and clagsation of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer and its
Ssubsidiariesd properties, or provide an app

d) a breakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7) A statemat by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer of securities that
are subject to this prospectus and during the period from thefehe period covered in the
external auditorsd report up to and includin
an appropriate negative statement.

8) Particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or oth@asbrcompensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus in connection with the issue or offer of any
securities by the issuer or atoggtheowiththemanes ssuer
of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities
or experts who received any such payment or benefit or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

13. Use of proceeds

This sectionmust include a statement as to how such proceeds are intended to be used.
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14. Statements by experts

Wherethe prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expeany relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement
should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication

in the prospectus ofthege r t 6 s st atement included in the for

15. Declarations
The directors of the issuer must make the following declarations:

1) other than what has been mentioned on ga@ealf this prospectus, there has not been any
interruptioni n t he business of the issuer or any of
may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the last 12 months.

2) other than what has been mentioned on pagef this prospectusio commisgons, discounts,
brokerages or other narash compensatiomave beengranted within the three years
immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of securities thia¢ anbject
of this prospectus in connection with the issue or affemy securities by the issuer or any of
the issuerb6s subsidiaries (i f applicable).

3) other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the issusrsoibgidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period

covered in the ext ®oramdarcludiagutdei date ofsafprovaleop ther t up
prospectus.

4) other than what is mentioned on p4géof this prospectus, they do not have any shareholding
or interest of any kind in the issuer or any
doesany relative of theirs.
16. Legal information
This section must include the following legal information:

1) the following declarations from the board of directibrat

a) the issuance does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi
Arabig

b) the issuance does not constitute a breach of any contractemteentered into by the
issuer;

2) asummary of all material contracts.
3) asummary of all related pantyaterialcontracts.
4) in relation to the issuer and its subsidiaries (if applicable¥olleving must be included:
a) particulars of any intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material in relation to the issuer's or any of its

subsidiaries (if applicable) business or profitapilénd a statement regarding the extent to
which the issuer or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets; and
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b) particulars of any litigationclaim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or
ongoing investigation which magave a mat er i al ef fect on
subsidiaries business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

17. Underwriter
This section must include information about the underwriter of the offer, as follows:

1) the name and addreskthe underwriter; and

2) the principal terms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

18. Expenses
This section must include details of the aggregate offer expenses.
19. Waivers

This sectionmust include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
authority.

20. Information concerning the debt instruments and terms and conditions of the offer
This sectionmust include the following information:

1) a statement thapplication has been made to the Authority for the registration and offer of the
securities that are subject to this prospectus and to the Exchange for the listing;

2) the nominal value of the offer;

3) full information on the rights conferred upon holders ditdestruments;
4) particulars of the debt instruments;

5) subscription method;

6) details of the early redemption of the offer;

7) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents for the debt
instruments;

8) details of the arrangemenfior transfer of the debt instruments;
9) details of repayment related dates including the final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the issuer's or the holder of debt instruments' request and the

date from which paymés are due;

10) procedures and time limits for allocation and delivery of the debt instruments and, where there
will be temporary documents of title, the procedures for the delivery and exchange thereof;

11) a description of the resolutions, and approvals by &idiuwhich the debt instruments will be
offered,;

12) whether there are any guarantees, pledges or commitments intended to be provided to guarantee
the offer;
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13) details of any agreements with the representative of the holders of the debt instruments, if any,
thename and function and head office of such representative, the conditions under which the
representative may be replaced together with an indication of where the public may inspect
copies of the documents detailing the obligations of the representative;

14) a description of any subordination of the offer to any other debts or debt instruments of the
issuer;

15) a description of the applicable law related to the offer;
16) details of any restrictions on the transferability of the debt instruments;

17) the date upon which is expected that trading in the debt instruments will commence, if the
issuer can anticipate such date; and

18) if a public or private offer has been or is being made simultaneously on the markets of two or
more countries at the same time, and if a tranché&as or is being reserved for certain of
these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription declarations

This section must include information on the subscription declarations, allocation process, and the
Exchange's details

Documents available for inspection
Thissection must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following
documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place
(being not less than 3 yiabefore the start of the offer):
1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer;
2) any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;
3) each contract disclosed pursuant to-pabagraph (h) of paragraph (1) of sectiad)(of this
Annex or, if the contract is not produced in writing, a memorandum giving full particulars of

the agreement;

4) all other reports, letters, documentalue estimatesr statements by any expert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in thespectus; and

5) the reviewed financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim
financial statements.

External audi tords repo

Thei s s weditedfinancial statements for the three years immediately preceding the date of the

publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial statemestde

enclosed

Guarantees

Wherea guarantee, pledge or ettsimilar commitment is to be provided the following information
must be included:
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1) details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar
commitment including any conditionality on the application of the guarantegepbe similar
commitment; and

2) copies of the external auditors' and the directors' report on the accounts of the guarantor
company

25. Bylaws

T h e isuyawsmusdbe enclosed
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ANNEX 14 (A)
CONTENTS OF A PROSPECTUS FOR DEBT-BASED RECOURSE DEBT
INSTRUMENTS

A prospectus submitted for registration and admission to listing oftidedstd recourse securities must
contain the information under the following sections at a minimAahditionally, suchprospectus for
registration and admission to listing of dddaised recoursdebt instrumentsubmitted by a Special
Purposes Entity with listed securitié® exempted from satisfying the requirement of sectiE)ngl(1),
(12), (13), (14/4/g) and (17/1).

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):

1) Alicense to establishspecial purposes entjty

2) The sponsordés commerci al registration.

3) Thecapitalof the sponsgr

4) a summary of the offer including debt instruments details and rights;

5) substantial shareholders of tsgonsor;

6) target participants;

7) offer period and conditions;

8) Shares and debt instruments that have been listed prior to the particular dfierspgcial
purposes entitgnd the sponsor (if applicable);

9) astatement thélhe special purposes entitgs submitted the application for admission to listing
to the Authority and that all requirements have been met;

10))a st atement refeNoingedoandet lie¢d MmpBrshanFactor
section (9), respectively before making an investment decision; and

11) the following declarations:
AiThis prospectus includes information given i
Mar ket Authority of the Kingdom of Stkeudi Ar
special purposes entignd the sponsor, whose names appeé#nis progpectus collectively
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the amisgiwhich would make any statement
herein misleading. The Authority and tBaudi Stock Exchange Compadg not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make any representation as to its
accuracy or completeness, and expregilglaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising

from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part
and
AfThe securities offered hereby are issued by

Market Authority. The Capital MarkeAuthority maintains a register of special purposes

entities and regulates the special purposes entity. The Capital Market Authority does not
approve, and is not responsible for, the terms of the securities the special purposes entity issues,

the financingstructure the special purposes entity employs, or the investment risks and rewards
associated with the securities. The Capital Market Authority does not regulate or monitor the

value of the assets of the special purposes entity or the ability of thalgpepioses entity to

meet its obligations and makes no endor sement
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Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.

Corporate directory
This section must include the following:

1) the special purposes entiys , the sponsorb6s and its repres
including addresses, telephone numbemsaei | addr esses, and the i ss
website addresses.

2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a) the financial advisqr

b) the legal advisor;

c) the external auditor

d) the underwriter (if any)

e) theCapital Market Institutios authorised tplace or sell the securities
f) the custodianwhere applicable and

g) theboard members of the special purposes entity.

Offer summary

This section must include a disclaimer to the target investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision. This section must include the following
information (where applicable):

1) thespecial purposes entilys n asgription athceincorporation information;

2) the special purposesenfitts acti vi ti es;

3) substantial shareholders thie sponsorshowing their ownership percentages and number of
shares.

4) the capital osponsoy

5) the nominal value for offered deipistrument;

6) the use of proceeds of the offer;

7) the sponsor ensuring the due payments are paid as per the debt instruments;
8) types of targeted investors of the issuer;

9) subscription method for each type of targeted investors of the issuer;
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10) the minimum number of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

11) the value of minimum number of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

12) the maximum number of debt instruments to dubscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

13) the value of the maximum number of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of
targeted investors;

14) allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subsorgptien is
returned to all types of targeted investors;

15) the offer period;

16) full information of rights granted to holders of the debt instruments;

17) debt instruments particulars;

18) details of repayment related dates including final maturitg dad early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at 8pecial purposesentdys or t he hol der of d
request and the date from which payments are due to start;

19) restrictions on debt instruments;

20) details of the arrangemts for transfer of the debt instruments;

21) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents of the issuer
for the debt instruments;

22) the names and addresses ofshe e c i a | purposes ;entityds board
23) details of the early redemption of the debt instruments; and

2Hha statement referring to the Al mportant Not.i
section (9), respectively before making an investment decision.

25) a statement confirming thatrangements have been implemented to protect holders of debt
instruments in accordance with Artic(€8) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations

5. Summary of basic information

This section must include a summary of the basformation contained in the prospectus,

including:

1) adisclaimer to investors about consideration of the prospectus as a whole, and not merely the
summary;

2) adescription of the issuer;

3y the issuerds mission and overall strategy;

4d the issuerbds key strengths and competitive ai
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5) an overview of the market.
6) a summary of the financial transaction provided to the special purposes entity and the sponsor
shall ensure that the due payments are paid as per the debt instruments

6. Summay of financial information

This section must include a summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,
including issuerdéds operational performance,
indicators.

7. Table of contents

This section must include the table of contents of the prospectus.
8. Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used through the prospectus.
9. Risk factors

This section must include information in relation to risk factors specific to:

1) thesponsor

2) the market or industry in which tlponsomperates;
3) the special purposes entity

4) the securities being offered.

10. Information about the market and sector

This section must include information on the market and sector in which the sppasates.
11 The special purposes entitypackground, business nature

This section must include the following information:

1) the official name, commercial registration number and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address ofsjecial purposes entjty

2) the date of incorporation of tlepecial purposes entjty

3) the purpose of the sp@l purposes entity;

4) the board of the special purposes entity;

5) the dates of appointment of all the directors or proposed directors of the special purposes entity;

6) details of other previous and current board positions held by all directors or prdpessat's
the special purposes entity. The details should include, the name of the entity, legal status,
membership dates, and the sector in which the entity operates;

7) details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, of the speciabpleptity;

8) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors or
proposed directors of the special purposes entity were employed by the insolvent company in a

managerial or supervisory capacity;
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9) a summary of existingrggroposed service contracts, if any, of the directors;

10) a statement showing the direct or indirect interests of each dicrqpooposed directaf the
special purposes entjtgnd everysenior executiveand any of their relatives in the sharasd
thesecretanpof thespecial purposes entifif any), in shares odebt instruments of thepecial
purposes entitythe sponsoror thesponsod s s u b s i i), & provielesan épipropriate

negative statement;

12. Sponsor background, business nature

This section must include the following information:

1) the official name, commercial registration number and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address of the sponsor;

2) the date of incorporation of the sponsor;

3) the auhorised shares of the sponsor, the number of shares issued or agreed to be issued, the
value paid up, the nominal value and a description of the shares;

4) a description and orgasait i on chart of the group showing t
group (ifapplicable);

5 the gener al nature of the business of the sp
and details of the main products sold or services performed and an indication of any significant
new products or activities;

6) if the sponsororth sponsor6s subsidiaries (if appl i c.
statement showing the location of such trading operations must be provided. Where a material
portion of the sponsor or the sponsoruéds subs
and location of such assets and the value of the assets located in the Kingdom;

7V information concerning the policy of the spol
on the research and development of new products and production processes past three
financial years, where significant;

8 particulars of any interruption in the busin
applicable) which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the last
12 months

9 the number of people employed by the sponsor
and any material changes to that number over the last two financial years, with a breakdown of
persons employed by main categories of activity and by Satiafiratio; and

10) a statement that no material change in the nature of the business is contemplated or, if one is
contempl ated, a detailed description of that

profitability.
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13. Sponso erganisational structure
This section must include the following information:

1) management

(a) thesponsod s  osatignal chart showing the directors structure, supervisory committees,
and the functions of senior executives;

(b) the full names and description of the professional and atadpialifications and area of
expertise and the date of appointment of all the directors or proposed directors (showing
whether the director is independent or #ietlependent and executive or rexecutive),
in addition to the senior executives and thenpany secretary of treponsoy

(c) details of other previous or current board positions held by all directors or proposed
directors or senior executives and the company secretary gfiahsor The details should
include, the name of the company, legal gntitembership dates, and the sector in which
the company operates;

(d) details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
company secretary of tlgponsor

(e) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors
or proposed directors, senior executives, or the company secretary spfoteorwere
employed by the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity;

(f) a staement showing the direct or indirect interests of each director or proposed director,
senior executives, company secretary ofsfiiensorand any of their relatives in the shares
or debt instruments of trgponsorthesponsoor thesponsod s s u ésgifiagplicable)i
or provide an appropriate negative statement;

(g) the aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind granted yptmesoror any subsidiary
during the three financial years prior to listing to the directors and the five senior executives
who received the highest payments, including the CEO and CFO if they were not within
the top five;

(h) a summary of existing or proposed service contracts, if any, of the directors or the CEO and
CFO of thesponsor

() full particulars of any contract or arrangemémteffect or contemplated at the time of
submission of the prospectus in which a director or senior executive or any of their relatives
is interested in relation to the business of $hensoror thesponsod s subsi di ari e
applicable), or provide arppropriate negative statement;

() information about thesponsod s directors committees, i ncl
committee member and a summary of the terms of reference under which the committee
operates; and

(k) information on thesponsod s ¢ o mp | ioporateeggovevnamch. c

2) employees
(a) any employee share schemes in place prior to the application for registration and admission
to listing of the securities along with details on the aggregate amount of shares owned by
the employees in theponsorand
(b) any otler arrangements involving the employees in the capital afigbasor
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14. Sponsorfinancial information

The information required below must be provided in relation tepl@sorfor the three financial
years immediately preceding the applicationréaistration and admission to listing subject to
this prospectus and the period referred to in preliminary financial statements according to
paragraph4) of Article (41) of the Rules for the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations:

1) comparative talgls of financial information with commentary and analysis by management.
The comparative tables must:

(a) be prepared on a consolidated basis;

(b) be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

(c) include financial information preseuwtén a form consistent with that which is adopted in
thesponsod s annual financial statements.

2) areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex(19) of the Listing Rules in any of the following circumstas:

@where the external auditors6é reposponsoon t he
for any of the last three financial years immediately preceding the application for
registration and admission to listing has been qualified;

(b) where thesponsorhas undergone restructuring or an alteration in capital using external
financing in the three financial years immediately preceding the date of application for
registration and admission to listing;

(c) where any material change has been made to toeiaiing policies of theponsoy or

(d) where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods referred to ipaayraph (a) above.

3) details of holdings, including holdings imtractually based securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of ggonsod s f i nanci al position.

4) the information required below must be proddm relation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operatiohshe sponsor
(a) performance indicators;

(b) the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;

(c) any seasonal or business cycles whidecathe business or the financial condition;

(d) an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

(e) information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have matdiyjaaffected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

(f) the funding structure;

(g) particulars of any alterations in the capital of #p@nsoy or where material, any of the

sponsod s subsidiaries (i f raimpediatayptededingthendiate hi n t
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of application for registration and admission to listing. Such particulars must state the price
and terms of any issues by t@onsoy and

(h) details of any capital of thrgponsomwhich is under option, including the congiaeon for
which the option was granted, and the price and duration of the option, and the name and
address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative statement.

5) property, plant and equipment

(a) a breakdown of any existing material fixed assets, dlictuleased properties;

(b)an explanation of the issuerb6s depreciati o]
policy; and

(c) any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6) in relation to debt, a statement on an individual and consolitietsid as at the most recent

date must be prepared covering the following:

(a) a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, distinguishing between
guaranteed, guaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided Igptvesoror by
third parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

(b) a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, bank overdrafts,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

(c) a breakdown and classification of all mortgageshtsgand charges on ttsponsor,its
subsi di ar i(ieany ang theosspeeial puip@sass entjtgisprovide an appropriate
negative statement; and

(d) a breakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement

7) A statement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position

in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and admission to listing

and during the period from the end of the period coverédhne e xt er nal audi tor

and including the date of approval of the prospectus or provide an appropriate negative
statement.
8) Particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or oth@asbrcompensation granted

within the three years immadely preceding the application for registration and admission to

listing in connection with the issue or offer of any securities bysgiansoror any of the

sponsod s subsidiaries (if applicable), toget her

diredors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities or experts who received

any such payment or benefit or provide an appropriate negative statement.
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Financing Structure and Use of proceeds

This section must include the following:
1) Informaton regarding the financial structure including details of:
(a) the use of the proceeds of issuance by the special purposes entity;
(b) the rights to be acquired by the special purposes entity under the financing structure
(including their ranking on the event mfsolvency of the sponsor or any other person,
where applicable);
(c) the nature of the claim of the special purposes entity on the sponsor;
(d) any direct rights of recourse of the holders against the sponsor;
(e) details of any security interest to be grantedawour of the special purposes entity,
including a description of the assets secured and any rights to substitute such assets, or a
description of any variation in such security;
2) a description of any obligation on the special purposes entity in relatidrettransaction,
including the order of priority of any payments.
3) Information of any investment powers associ at
49 a description of how the cash flows widl be u
including details of:
5) particulars of how payments will be made by the sponsor.
6) a statement as to how the proceeds of issuance are intended to be used by the sponsor.

7) an estimate of the offer expenses.

Statements by experts

Where the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in teponsoror any of its subsidries. In addition, the
statement should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the
publication in the prospectus of the expertos
is included.

Declarations
The directors of thesponsomust make the following declarations:

1) other than what has been mentioned on gagaif this prospectus, there has not been any
interruption in the business of tispecial purposes entignd of thespecial purposes entity
subsidiaries (if applicable), which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial
position in the last 12 months.

2) other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
commissions, discounts, brokerages dreotnoncash compensation granted within the three
years immediately preceding the application for registration and admission to listing in
connection with the issue or offer of any securities bysiiensoror any of thesponsod s
subsidiaries (iapplicable).
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3) other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position cibesoror its subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years precedirgapplication for registration and admission
to listing and during the period from the en
report up to and including the date of approval of the prospectus.

4) other than what is mentioned on pdgédf this pospectus, the Board directors do not have
any shareholding or interest of any kind in #pecial purposes entity, the sponsmrany of
thesponsod s subsi diaries (if applicable), and nor

18. Legal information

This section mudnclude the following legal information, as relevant:
1) asummary of the provisions of thpecial purposesentiyn d t he slgweandaherds by
constitutional documes, including
(a) the object clause of ttepecial purposes entignd the sponsor;
(b) provisions relating to thespecial purposes entitgnd t he sponsor 6s ad
management and supervisory bodies;
(c) provisions relating to the rights and restrictions attached tegheial purposes entiys
securities and the financing transactimeluding;

1. any pledgesot to apply for new loans which giyeivilegesto new creditors
2. any control rights granteih investors by thepecial purposes entjty

(d) provisions governing the alteration of securities rights or classes ciptuial
purpose®ntity, where applicable, and the sponsor;

(e) provisions governing liquidation and winding up of syecial purposes entjty
where applicable, and the sponsor;

(f) any power enabling a director or the CEO, of gpecial purposes entjtywhere
applicable, or thesponsor, to vote on a contract or proposal in which he has an
interest;

(g) any power enabling a director or the CEO, of 4pecial purposes entjtywhere
applicable, or the sponsor, to vote on remuneration to themselves; and

(h) any powers allowing the direc®or the senior executives, of tgecial purposes
entity, where applicable, or the sponsor, to borrow from the sponsor.

2) a summary of all material contracts of #ecial purposes entignd the sponsor, including
summaries of any contract which is makto the financing arrangement.

3) asummary of all related party contracts of¢pecial purposes entignd the sponsor.

4) in relation to thespecial purposes entignd the sponsor and its subsidiaries (if applicabie)
following information must be rluded

a) particulars of any intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material in relation togpecial purposes entiys ,
the sponsor's or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) businegsoétability, and a
statement regarding the extent to whichgpecial purposes entjtthe sponsor or any of
its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets.

b) in relation to thespecial purposes entty t he sponsor andiest he spoc
particulars of any litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) which
may have a material effect on tepecial purposes entiys , the sponsor 6s

it

C
subsidiariesd6 business or é&tivers@atanenta | pos i o

159



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

19. Underwriter

This section must include information about the underwriter of the offer, as follows:
1) the name and address of the underwriter; and
2) the principal terms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between thepecial purposes entignd the underwriter.
20. Expenses

This section must include details of the aggregate offer expenses.

21 Waivers
This section must include details on all requirements that have been waivedsfoedla purposes
entity and the sponsor by the Authority.

22. Information concerning the debt instruments and terms and conditions of the offer

This section must include thelfowing information:
1) a statement that application has been made to the Authority for the registration and admission

to listing;

2) the nominal value of the offer;

3) full information on the rights conferred upon holders of debt instruments;

4) particulars of the ebt instruments;

5) subscription method;

6) details of the early redemption of the offer;

7) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents for the debt
instruments;

8) details of the arrangements for transfer of the dedttuments;

9) details of repayment related dates including the final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the sponsor's or the holder of debt instruments' request and
the date from which payments are due;

10) procedures antime limits for allocation and delivery of the debt instruments and, where there
will be temporary documents of title, the procedures for the delivery and exchange thereof;

11) a description of the resolutions, and approvals by virtue of which the debtriestisiwill be
offered;

12) whether there are any guarantees, pledges or commitments intended to be provided to guarantee
the offer;

13) details of any agreements with the representative of the holders of the debt instruments, if any,
the name and function and heaffice of such representative, the conditions under which the
representative may be replaced together with an indication of where the public may inspect
copies of the documents detailing the obligations of the representative;

14) a description of any subordition of the offer to any other debts or debt instruments of the

special purposes entjty
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15) a description of the applicable law related to the offer;

16) details of any restrictions on the transferability of the debt instruments;

17) the date upon which it is expedtthat trading in the debt instruments will commence, if the
sponsor can anticipate such date; and

18) if a public or private offer has been or is being made simultaneously on the markets of two or
more countries at the same time, and if a tranche has bégba&ing reserved for certain of

these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription declarations

This section must include information on the subscription declarations, allocation process, and the

Exchange details.

Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following

documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place

(being not less thaB daysbefore the end of the offer period):

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents ofgpecial purposes entiind the sponsor;

2) any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;

3) each contract disclosed pursuant to-pabagaph (i) of paragraph (1) of section3jlof this
Annex or, if the contract is not produced in writing, a memorandum giving full particulars of
the agreement;

4) all other reports, letters, documenigalue estimatesr statements by any expert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in the prospectus; and

5) the reviewed financial statements of the sponsor for each of the three financial years
immediately preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most

recent interim finanail statements.

A

External auditordés report

Thespecial purposes entdyauditedfinancial statements for the three years immediately preceding
the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial
statementanustbe enclosed

Guarantees

Where a guarantee, pledge or other similar commitment is to be provided the following information

must be included:

1) details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar
commitment including anconditionality on the application of the guarantee, pledge or similar
commitment; and

2) copies of the external auditors' and the directors' report on the accounts of the guarantor
company.
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ANNEX 14 (B)
CONTENTS OF A PROSPECTUS FOR ASSET-LINKE D RECOURSEDEBT
INSTRUMENTS

A prospectus submitted for registration and admission to listing of-ladsed recourse debt
instruments must contain the information under the following sections at a miniAddiionally,

such prospectus for registration and admisso listing of asselinked recourse debt instruments
submitted by a Special Purposes Entity with listed securities are exempted from satisfying the
requirement of sections (5), (11), (12), (13), (14/4/g) and (17/1)

1. Cover page

This section must includée following information (where applicable):

1) Alicense to establishspecial purposes entity;

2) The sponsords commercial registration.
3) Thecapitalof the sponsor;

4) a summary of the offer including debt instruments details and rights;

5) substantial shareholders of the sponsor;

6) target participants;

7) offer period and conditions;

8) Shares, debt instruments and any other disgetd recourse securities that have been listed
prior to the particular offer by thepecial purposeséty and the sponsor (if applicable);

9) a statement that ttspecial purposes entibas submitted the application for admission to
listing to the Authority and that all requirements have been met;

10))a statement referring to the Al mportant Not i
section (9) of this Annex, respectively before making an investment decision; and

11) the following declarations:
AThis prospectus includes i the Ruleswmthe Offero§i ven
Securities and Continuing Obligatioissued by the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia (the 0 gpacialporposes gtyand.the dpbnsor,di r e ct
whose names appeiarthis prospectuscollectively and individually accept full responsibility
for the accuracy of the information contained in this prospectus and confirm, having made all
reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the
omisson of which would make any statement herein misleading. The Authority aStiok
Stock Exchange Compaidp not take any responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do
not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness, and exigeksiy any
liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this
prospectuso

and
AThe securities offered hereby are issued by
Market Authority. The Capital MarkeAuthority maintains a register of special purposes

entities and regulates the special purposes entity. The Capital Market Authority does not
approve, and is not responsible for, the terms of the securities the special purposes entity
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issues, the financ@structure the special purposes entity employs, or the investment risks
and rewards associated with the securities. The Capital Market Authority does not regulate
or monitor the value of the assets of the special purposes entity or the ability of tlaé spec
purposes entity to meet its obligations and makes no endorsement of or recommendation
about the securities. o
2. Important notice
This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.
3. Corporate directory

This section must include the following:

1) the special purposes entiys |, the sponsord6s and its repres
including addresses, telephone numbersa# addresses, and thpecial purposes entiys a n d
thesponsor s website addresses.

2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has battibuted:

(a) the financial advisor;

(b) the legal advisor;

(c) the external auditor;

(d) the underwriter;

(e) theCapital Market Institutios authorised tplace or sell the securities;
(f) the custodianvghere applicable and

(g) Board membersfdhe special purposes entity

4. Offer summary

This section must include a disclaimer to the target investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision. This section must include the following
information (whereapplicable):

1) thespecial purposesentiynd t he sponsor 6s name, descriptioc

2) thespecial purposesenttynd t he sponsords activities;
3) substantial shareholders of the sponsor showing their ownership percenthgesréuer of
shares.
4) the capital of thepecial purposes entignd the sponsor;
5) the nominal value for offered debt instrument;
6) the use of proceeds by the issuer and the financing transaction to be entered into by the issuer;
7) the commitment of the sponsor to ensure payment of amounts due under the debt instruments;
8) types of targeted investors of the issuer;

9) subscription method for each type of targeted investors of the issuer;
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10) the minimum number of offer debt ingiments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

11) the minimum value of offer of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

12) the maximum number of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by eachftigrgeted
investors;

13) the maximum value of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

14) allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for all typed targeted investors;

15) the offer period;

16) full information of rights granted to holders of the debt instruments;

17) debt instruments particulars;

18) details of repayment related dates including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
speci fying whether exercisable at the issuer 6s
date from which payments are due to start;

19) restrictions on debt instruments;

20) details of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments;

21) the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents of the issuer
for the debt instruments;

22) the name and address of timardmembers of the special purposes entity

23) details of the early redemption of the debtrimstents;

2Hha statement referring to the Al mportant Not.i
section (9), respectively before making an investment decision; and

25) a statement confirming that arrangements have been implemented to pritect bb debt
instruments in accordance with Artic(68) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and

Continuing Obligations

5. Summary of basic information

This section must include a summary of the basic information contained in the prospectus,
including:
1) adisclaimer to investors about consideration of the prospectus as a whole, and not merely the

summary;
2) adescription of the sponsor;

3) the sponsorés mission and overall strategy;
4) the sponsords key strengths and competitive

5) an overview of the market in which the sponsor operates; and
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6) a summary of the special purposes entityods

sponsor to ensure payment of amounts due under the debt instruments.

Summary of financial information

This section must include a summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,

ncluding sponsoro6s operational performance,

indicators.

Table of contents

This section must include a tableanintents.

Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used through the prospectus.

Risk factors

This section must include information in relation to risk factors specific to:
1) the sponsor;

2) the market or industry inlich the sponsor operates;

3) thespecial purposes entjtgnd

4) the securities being offered.

Market and industry information

This section must include information on market trends and industry information specific to the

A

sponsords operations.

Issuer background, business nature

This section must include the following information:

1)

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

7)
8)

9)

the official name, commercial registration number and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address ofsjhecial purposesntity;

the date of incorporation of ttepecial purposes entjty

the purpose of thepecial purposes entjty

the directors of thepecial purposes entjty

the date of appointment of all tepecial purposes entitydirectors or proposed directors;

details of other previous or current board positions held byralttdrs or proposed directors.
The details should include, the name of the company, &gtls membership dates, and the
sector in which the company operates;

details of any bankruptceof eaclof thespecial purposes entisyirector or proposed director;
details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where anysptitial purposes
entitys directors or proposed directors were employed by the insolvent company in a
managerial or supervisory capacity; and

a summary of existing or proposed service contracts, if any, of the directors.
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10) a statement showing the direct or indirect interests of each director or proposed director, or
senior executives of thepecial purposesntity, and any of their relatives in the shares or debt
instruments of thespecial purposes entty t he sponsor or the spon
applicable), or provide an appropriate negative statement.

Sponsor background, business nature
This sectiormust include the following information:

1) the official name, commercial registration number and the address shown in the commercial
registration and, if different, the principal address of the sponsor;

2) the date of incorporation of the sponsor;

3) the authorised shares of the sponsor, the number of shares issued or agreed to be issued, the
value paid up, the nominal value and a description of the shares;

4) a description and orgasait i on chart of the group showing t
group (if applicable);

5 the gener al nature of the business of the sp
and details of the main products sold or services performed and an indication of any significant
new products or activities;

6) fthe sponsor or the sponsorés subsidiaries
statement showing the location of such trading operations must be provided. Where a material
portion of the sponsor or t heekngdom,shevaldles subs
and location of such assets and the value of the assets located in the Kingdom;

7)) information concerning the policy of the spol
on the research and development of new products addgifon processes over the past three
financial years, where significant;

8 particulars of any interruption in the busin
applicable) which may have or has had a significant effect on the financitbpasithe last
12 months;

9 the number of people employed by the sponsor
and any material changes to that number over the last two financial years, with a breakdown of
persons employed by main categoriéadivity and by Saudation ratio; and

10) a statement that no material change in the nature of the business is contemplated or, if one is

contempl ated, a detailed description of that
profitability.
Sponsordés organisational structure

This section must include the following information:

1) Sponsor s management

(@t he s p o n sabonadchartshowira thé directors structure, supervisory committees,
and the functions of senior executives;

(b) the full names and description of the professional and academic qualifications and area of
expertise and the date of appointment of all the directors or proposed directors (showing
whether the director is independent or #ietlependent and executive or rexecutive),
in addition to the senior executives and the company secretary of the sponsor;

(c) details of other previous or current board positions held by all directors or proposed
directors or senior executives and the company secretary of the sgdresdetails should
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include, the name of the company, legfatus membership dates, and the sector in which
the company operates;

(d) details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed direttibie special purposes
entity, or senior executives or the company secretary of the sponsor;

(e) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors
or proposed directors, senior executives, or the company secretary of the sponsor were
employed by thénsolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity;

(f) a statement showing the direct or indirect interests of each director or proposed director,
senior executives, company secretary of the sponsor, and any of their relatives in the shares
ordeb t instruments of the issuer, the sponsor
or provide an appropriate negative statement;

(g9) the aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind granted by the sponsor or any subsidiary
during the three financigkears prior to listing to the directors and the five senior executives
who received the highest payments, including the CEO and CFO if they were not within
the top five;

(h) a summary of existing or proposed service contracts, if any, of the directioes@EO and
CFO of the sponsor;

() full particulars of any contract or arrangement in effect or contemplated at the time of
submission of the prospectus in which a director or senior executive or any of their relatives
is interested in relation tothedd ness of the sponsor or the
applicable), or provide an appropriate negative statement;

) information about the sponsorods directors
committee member and a summary of the terms of raferender which the committee
operates; and

(Kyi nformation on the sponsorés compliance wit

2) Sponsor6s empl oyees

(a) any employeshareschemes in place prior to the application for registration and admission
to listing of the seurities along with details on the aggregate amount of shares owned by
the employees in the sponsor; and

(b) any other arrangements involving the employees in the capital of the sponsor.

14. Sponsor financial information

The information required below museb pr ovi ded i n relation to the
subsidiaries (if applicable) for the three financial years immediately preceding the application for
registration and admission to listing:
1) comparative tables of financial information witbmmentary and analysis by managenwdnt

the sponsorThe comparative tables must:

(a) be prepared on a consolidated basis;

(b) be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

(c) include financial information presentad a form consistent with that which is adopted in

the sponsordéds annual financial statements.

2) areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of

Annex(19) of the Listing Rules in any of the followirg@rcumstances:
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(a) where the external auditofsave reservations regarding it®port on the consolidated
financial statements of the sponsor for any of the last three financial years immediately
preceding the application for registration and admissidistiog;

(b) where the sponsor has undergone restructuring in the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of application for registration and admission to listing;

(c) where any material change has been made to the accounting policiespdtisor; or

(d) where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods referred to ipaagraph (a) above.

3) details of holdings, including holdings in contractualised securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of the sponsorés fi.l

4) the information required below must be provided in retatto the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

(a) performance indicators;

(b) the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;

(c) any seasonal or business cycles which affectisabss or the financial condition;

(d) an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

(e) information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have matdiyaaffected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

() the funding structure;

(g) particulars of any alterations in the capital of the sponsor, or where material, any of the
sponsords subsi di ar thesyegrsiinimediately préecedmdttheedte wi t h
of application for registration and admission to listing. Such particulars must state the price
and terms of any issues by the sponsor; and

(h) details ofany capital of the sponsar any subsidiarywhich isunder option, including the
consideration for which the option was granted, and the price and duration of the option,
and the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative statement.

5) property, plant and equipment
(a) a breakdowrof any existing material fixed assets, including leased properties;

()an explanation of the sponsordéds depreciatic
policy; and

(c) any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6) in relaion to debt, a statement on an individual and consolidated basis as at the most recent
date must be prepared covering the following:

(a) a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and

authorised or otherwise created hutissued, and term loans, distinguishing between
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guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provided by the sponsor or by
third parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

(b) a breakdown and classificatiai all other borrowing or indebtedness, bank overdrafts,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriategagive statement;

(c) a breakdown and classification of all mortgages, rights and charges on the sponsor and its
subsi di ar i andspecipl puposes entity® provide an appropriate negative
statement; and

(d) a breakdown of any contingerebilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7) A statement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and ammtisdisting
and during the period from the end of the pe
and including the date of approval of the prospectus or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

8) Particulars of any commissions, discoubtekerages or other narash compensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and admission to
listing in connection with the issue or offer of any securities by the sponsor or any of the
s pons or ories (i6 applicable),itagether with the names of any directors, proposed
directors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities or experts who received

any such payment or benefit or provide an appropriate negative statement.

15. Financing structure and use of proceeds
This section must include the following:

1) Information regarding the financial structure including details of:

(a) the use of the proceeds of issuance by the special purposes entity;

(b) the rights to be acquired by theesfal purposes entity under the financing structure
(including their ranking on the event of insolvency of the sponsor or any other person,
where applicable);

(c) the nature of the claim of the special purposes entity on the sponsor;

(d) any direct riglts of recourse of the holders against the sponsor;

(e) details of any security interest to be granted in favour of the special purposes entity,
including a descriptionf the assets secured and any rights to substitute such assets, or a
description ofany variation in such security;

2) a description of any obligation on the special purposes entity in relation to the transaction,
including the order of priority of any payments.

3) Information regarding the underlying assets of the ddetd structureincluding, where
relevant, details of:

(a) in respect of the assets to which the debt instruments are linked:
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1. the jurisdictions in which the assets will be held and by which they will be governed,;

2. in the case of a small number of easily identifiable alsga general description of
each obligor. In all other cases, a description of: the general characteristics of the
obligors; and the economic environment, as well as global statistical data referred to
the securitised assets;

3. the legal nature of the asse

4. the expiry or maturity date(s) of the assets;

5. the amount of the assets;

6. any loan to value ratio or level of collateralisation, where relevant;

7. the method of origination or creation of the assets, and for loans and credit agreements,
the principal lendig criteria and an indication of any loans which do not meet these
criteria and any rights or obligations to make further advances;

8. an indication of significant representations and collateral given tepéagial purposes
entity relating to the assets;

9. anyrights to substitute the assets and a description of the manner in which and the type
of assets which may be so substituted; if there is any capacity to substitute assets with
a different class or quality of assets a statement to that effect togethard&ghbription
of the impact of such substitution;

10. a description of any relevant insurance policies relating to the assets. Any concentration
with one insurer must be disclosed if it is material to the transaction;

11. If a relationship exists that is materialthe issue, between tepecial purposes entity
or the sponsor and an obligor, details of the principal terms of that relationship.

12. Where the assets comprise obligations that are not actively traded on an exchange, a
description of the principal term&@ conditions of the obligations.

13. Where the assets comprise equity securities that are traded on an exchange indicate the
following:

(a) a description of the securities;

(b) a description of the market on which they are traded including its date of
establishment, how price information is published, an indication of daily trading
volumes, information as to the standing of the market in the country and the name
of the marketds regulatory authority;

(c) the frequency with which prices of the relevaeturities, are published.

14. a description of the method and date of the sale, transfer, novation or assignment of the
assets or of any rights and/or obligations in the assets to the special purposes entity or,
where applicable, the manner and time periagtirch the proceeds from the issue will
be fully invested by thepecial purposes entjty
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15. where relevant, the name, address and significant business activities of the originators
of the securitised assets;

16. the name, address and significant business aesvif the administrator, calculation
agent or equivalent, together with a summary of the administrator's/calculation agents
responsibilities, their relationship with the originator or the creator of the assets and a
summary of the provisions relating tbet termination of the appointment of the
administrator/calculation agent and the appointment of an alternative
administrator/calculation agent;

17. the name and addresses and brief description of:
(@) any swap counterparties and any providers of other matéoiamhs of
credit/liquidity enhancements;
(b) the banks with which the main accounts relating to the transaction are held; and

18 an indication in the prospectus whether or not it intends to provideigsosince
transaction information regarding securities le admitted to trading and the
performance of the underlying collateral. Where #pecial purposes entithias
indicated that it intends to report such information, specify in the prospectus what
information will be reported, where such information can di@ained, and the
frequency with which such information will be reported.

(b) In respect of an actively managed pool of assets linked to the issue:

1. equivalent information to that contained in items 1i%¢8 allow an assessment of the
type, quality,sufficiency and liquidity of the asset types in the portfolio which will
secure the issue;

2. the parameters within which investments can be made, the name and description of the
entity responsible for such management including a description of thatoestity
expertise and experience, a summary of the provisions relating to the termination of the
appointment of such entity and the appointment of an alternative management entity,
and a description of that entitubs rel ati

(c) Valuation of the assets to which the debt instruments are to be linked, where known:

1. In respect of marketable securities traded on an exchange or other market approved by
the Authority, a valuation at a mitarket basis based on a market pviesfied by the
financial advisor.

2. Inrespect of assets not falling withparagraph{1) above a valuation by a third party
valuer of the assets and any cash flow/income streams. In this respect, the third party
valuer must:

(a) not be thespecialpurposes entitythe sponsor, the financial advisor or an affiliate
of any of them; and
(b) be appropriately qualified and have relevant expertise in valuing the relevant asset

class;
4) particulars of any investment powers associated withthe sppecial poses enti tyobds &
5 a description of how the cash flows will be wu

including details of:
(a) how the cash flow from the assets will meet the issuer's obligations to holders of the
securities;
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(b) information on any credit enhancements, an indication of where material potential liquidity
shortfalls may occur and the availability of any liquidity supports and indication of
provisions designed to cover interest/principal shortfall risks;

(c) without prejudice to item (b) above, details of any subordinated debt finance;

(d) an indication of any investment parameters for the investment of temporary liquidity
surpluses and description of the parties responsible for such investment;

(e) how payments areollected in respect of the assets;

(f) the order of priority of payments made by the issuer to the holders of the class of securities
in question; and

(g) details of any other arrangements upon which payments of interest and principal to
investors are degmdent.

6) particulars of how payments will be made by the sponsor.
7) a statement as to how the proceeds of issuance are intended to be used by the sponsor.
8) an estimate of the offer expenses.

Statements by experts

Where the prospectus includes a atant made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the sponsor or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the
statement isould confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the
publication in the prospectus of the expertbs
is included.

Declarations

The directors of thepecial purposesntity and the sponsor must make the following declarations:

1) other than what has been mentioned on ga@ealf this prospectus, there has not been any
interruption in the business of tepecial purposesentfy t he sponsor or any
subsidiaries (if applicable), which may have or has had a significant effect on the financial
position in the last 12 months.

2) other than what has been mentioned on pgagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
commissions, discounts, brokerageother norcash compensation granted within the three
years immediately preceding the application for registration and admission to listing in
connection with the issue or offer of any s
subsidiaries (if agable).

3) other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the sponsor or its subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years precednegapplication for registration and admission
to l'isting and during the period from the enr
report up to and including the date of approval of the prospectus.

4) other than what is mentioned on p&géof this prospectus, thdirectors of the or their relatives
have noshareholdingor interest of any kind in th&pecial purposes entjtthe sponsor or any
of the sponsorés subsidiaries (if applicabl e)

Legal information

This section must include the following legal information, as relevant:
1) asummary of the provisions of tepecial purposesentiyn d t he slpgveandaherds by
constitutional documents, including but not limited to:
(a) the object clause of ttepecial purposes entignd the sponsor;
(b) provisions relating to thespecial purposes entitgnd t he sponsor és ad
management and supervisory bodies;
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(c) provisions relating to the rights and restrictions attacteethe financing transaction
including;

1) anypledges not to apply for new loans which giv&vilegesto new creditors
2) any control rights grantet of investors by thepecial purposes entjty

(d) provisions governing the alteration of securities rights or classessyge¢b@&l purposes
entity, where applicable, and the sponsor;
(e) provisions governing liquidation and winding up of thgecial purposes entjtyvhere
applicable, and the sponsor;
(f) any power enabling a director or the CEO, of the issuer, where applicable, or the sponsor,
to vote on a contract or proposal in which he has an interest;
(g) any power enabling a director or the CEO, ofdpecial purposes entjtwhere applicable,
or the sponsor, to vote on remuneration to themselves; and
(h) any powers allowing the directors or the senior executives, ciptheial purposes entjty
where applicable, or the sponsor, to borrow from the sponsor.
2) a summary of all material contraodf thespecial purposesntity and the sponsor, including
summaries of any contract which is material to the financing arrangement.
3) asummary of all related party contracts ofgpecial purposes entignd the sponsor.
4) in relation to thespecia purposes entitgnd the sponsor and its subsidiaries (if applicable):

1. particulars of any intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material in relation togpecial purposes entiys ,
the onsor's or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) business or profitability, and a
statement regarding the extent to which ghecial purposes entjtthe sponsor or any of
its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets.

2. in relation to thespecial purposes entity t he sponsor and the spc

particulars of any litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) which

C

may have a material effect on tepecial purposes entiys , the sponsor 6s
sulsi di ari esd® business or financial position,
Underwriter

This section must include information about the underwriter of the offer, as follows:

1) the name and address of the underwriter; and

2) the principalterms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

Expenses
This section must include details of the aggregate offer expenses.
Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waivedsfoedla purposes
entity and the sponsor by the Authority.

Information concerning the debt instruments and terms and conditions of the offer
This section must includde following information:

1) a statement that application has been made to the Authority for the registration and admission
to listing;
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the nominal value of the offer;

full information on the rights conferred upon holders of debt instruments;

particulars of the debt instruments;

subscription method;

details of the early redemption of the offer;

the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents for the debt

instruments;

8) details of the arrangemirfor transfer of the debt instruments;

9) details of repayment related dates including the final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the sponsor's or the holder of debt instruments' request and
the date from whiclpayments are due;

10) procedures and time limits for allocation and delivery of the debt instruments and, where there
will be temporary documents of title, the procedures for the delivery and exchange thereof;

11) a description of the resolutions, angepvals by virtue of which the debt instruments will be
offered;

12) whether there are any guarantees, pledges or commitments intended to be provided to guarantee
the offer;

13) details of any agreements with the representative of the holders of thestiebhents, if any,
the name and function and head office of such representative, the conditions under which the
representative may be replaced together with an indication of where the public may inspect
copies of the documents detailing the obligatiohthe representative;

14) a description of any subordination of the offer to any other debts or debt instruments of the
special purposes entignd/or the sponspr

15) a description of the applicable law related to the offer;

16) details of anyestrictions on the transferability of the debt instruments;

17) the date upon which it is expected that trading in the debt instruments will commence, if the
sponsor can anticipate such date; and

18) if a public or private offer has been or is being matmultaneously on the markets of two or

more countries at the same time, and if a tranche has been or is being reserved for certain of

these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription declarations

This section mudhclude information on the subscription declarations, allocation process, and the
Exchange details.

Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following

documents majpe inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place

(being not less thaBdays before the end of the offer period):

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents ofgpecial purposes entignd the sponsor;

2) any docunent or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;

3) each contract disclosed pursuant to-pabagraph (i) of paragraph (1) of sectioB)(df this
Annex or, if the contract is not produced in writing, a memorandum giving full parscola
the agreement;

4) all other reports, letters, documentslue estimateer statements by any expert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in the prospectus; and

5) theauditedfinancial statements of the sponsor for each of the threecfalgrears immediately
preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim
financial statements.

External auditordés report
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Thespecial purposes entiiyauditedfinancial statements for the three years immediately preceding
the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial
statementsmust be enclosed

26. Guarantees

Where a guarantee, pledge or other sintitanmitment is to be provided the following information

must be included:

1) details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar
commitment including any conditionality on the application of the guarantee, plesigeilar
commitment; and

2) copies of the external auditors' and the directors' report on the accounts of the guarantor
company.
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ANNEX 15
CONTENT OF A PROSPECTUS FOR DEBT INSTRUMENTS FOR AN ISSUER
THAT HAS SHARES CURRENTLY LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE

A prospetussubmittedfor theregistration and offeringf debt instruments from an issuer which has
shares currently listed on the Exchange at the time of submission must contain the information under
the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):
1. the issuerbdés formati on, i ncorporation and col
2. capital and number of shares;
3. asummary of the offer including debt instruments details and rights;
4. targetparticipants;
5. offer period and conditions;

6. shares and debt instruments that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer (if
applicable);

7. a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
sulject to the prospectus to the Authority, has submitted the application for listitig to
Exchangeand has submitted all the required documents to the relevant authorities;

8 a statement referring to the #Al mpom(@amt Not.i
section (8)f this Annex respectively before making an investment decision; and

9. the following declaration:

AThis prospectus includes information provid
offer of securities in compliance with ttlRules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority")

and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules &ahei

Stock Exchang€ompany The directors, whose hames appaahis prospectuscollectively

and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the llesir of
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement
herein misleading. The Authority and tBaudi Stock Exchange Compadg not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make g@mgsentation as to its

accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising
from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the geepand the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.

3. Corporate directory

This section must contain the following:
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1 thei ssuer 6s and i ts representativesd contact
numbers, anail addresses, andthes suer 6 s website.

2. the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaihd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a) the financial advisor;

b) the legal advisor;

c) the external auditor,;

d) the underwriter (if any)and

e) theCapital Market Institutiomauthorised toplace or sell the securities.

4. Offer summary

This section must contain a disclaimer to the target investors omtietance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and include the following information (where

applicable):
1 the issuerds name, description and incorpora
2 the issuero6s activities;

3. substantial shareholders showthgir ownership percentages and number of shares;
4. the capital of the issuer;

5 the issuerods tot al number of shares:;
6. the nominal value for offered debt instrument;

7. the use of proceeds;

8. types of targeted investors;

9. subscription method for each type of targetaestors;

10. the minimum number of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

11. the minimum value of offer of debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

12. the maximum number of offer debt ingtnents to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

13. the maximum value of offer debt instruments to be subscribed for by each type of targeted
investors;

14. allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for all types of targeted investors;
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the offer period,
16. full information of rights granted to holders of the debt instruments;
17. debt instruments particulars;

18. details of repayment related dates including final maturity date and early repajeesit

speci fying whether exercisable at the issuer

the date from which payments are due to start;
19. restrictions on debt instruments;

20. details of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments

21. the name and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer agents for the debt

instruments
22. details of the early redemption of the debt instruments; and

23 a statement referring the reader to tone Al
(2) and section (8f this Annex respectively before making an investment decision.

Summary of financial information

This section must contain at least summary of key financial information contained in the prospectus,
includingt he i s s u e r dparatian,pfieancéalt conditioa tash flow and key performance
indicators.

Table of contents

This section must include a table of contents.

Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used througidbgectus.

Risk factors

This section must contain information in relation to risk factors specific to:

1. theissuer;

2. the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and

3. the securities being offered.

Financial information

The information required belownu s t be provided in relation
subsidiaries (if applicable) for the three financial years immediately preceding the application for
registration and offer of securities that are subject to this prospectus as well as theqenied

in the interim financial statements as per paragrdpbf(Article (41) of the Rules on the Offer of

Securities and Continuing Obligations.

1. comparative tables of financial information with commentary and analysis by management of
financialmaterid information. The comparative tables must:
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be prepared on a consolidated basis;
b. be extracted without material adjustment from audited financial statements; and

c. include financial information presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
thei ssuer 6s annual financial statements.

2. areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Annex (19) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in any of the
following circumstances:

a. wherethe external auditdras reservations on theport d theauditedfinancial statements
of the issuer for any of the last three financial years immediately preceding the application
for registration and offer of securities that are subject to this praspect

b. where the issuer has undergone restructuring in the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus;

c. where any material change has been made to tloerioeg policies of the issuer; or

d. where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods referradsolparagraph (adbove.

3. details of holdings, including holdings in ceexttually based securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of the issuerds fin:

4. the information required below must be providedraation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

a. performance indicators;

b. the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;

c. any seasonal or business cycles which affect the busingss financial condition;

d. an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

e. information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have materially affected, ouldomaterially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

f. the funding structure;

g. atable showing any capital of the issuer or any subsidiary which is under option, including
the consideration for which the option was granted, and the pricuasiibn of the option,
and the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate negative statement.

5. property, plant and equipment

a. a breakdown of any existing material fixed assets, including leased properties;

b. an expl anat i aepre@ation policg and ang change8 sontemplated in that
policy; and
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c. any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.

6. in relation to debt, a statement on an individual and consolidated basis as at the most recent
date must be prepared coveyithe following:

a. a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments issued and outstanding, and
authorised or otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, distinguishing between
guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured (whether the pledge is provideddsyeér or by third
parties) and unsecured loans, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

b. a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, bank overdrafts,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchasmitcmnts,
distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and unsecured borrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;

c. a breakdown and classification of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer and its
subsi di arties, erprovide an apprepriate negative statement; and

d. abreakdown of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7. A statement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the application for registration and offer of securities that
are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period covered in the
external auditorsoé r ep o pprovauopthetpmspectugor pgrovidel u d i n
an appropriate negative statement.

8. Particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or oth@asbrcompensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus in connection with the issue or offer of any
securities by the issuer or any of the issuer
of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives,peadfering or placing the securities
or experts who received any such payment or benefit or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

10. Use of proceeds
This section must include a statement as to how such proceeds are intended to be used.
11 Statements by exprts
Where the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer or any oflisidiaries. In addition, the statement
should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication
in the prospectus of the expertés statement in
12. Declarations
Thedirectors of the issuer must make the following declarations:
1. other than what has been mentioned on jpagef this prospectusiocommissions, discounts,

brokerages or other narash compensatiomave beengranted within the three years
immediately preceding the application for registration and offer thatharsubjectof this
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prospectus in connection with the issue or offer of any securities by the issuer or any of the
i ssuerds subsi)diaries (if applicabl e

2. other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the issuer or its subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three financial years preceding the applicédir registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period
covered in the external auditorsodéd report up
prospectus.

3. other than what is mentied on pagé 0of this prospectus, they do not have any shareholding
or interest of any kind in the issuer or any
does any relative of theirs.

13. Legal Information

This section must include the followirdgclarations from the board of directtinat

1. the issuance does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia

2. the issuance does not constitute a breach of any contract/agreement entered into by the issuer.

3. all material leghissues concerning the issuer have been disclosed in the prospectus.

4. details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
company secretary of the issuer;

5. details of any company insolvency in the preceding fivesygdrere any of the directors or
proposed directors, senior executives, or the company secretary of the issuer were employed by
the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity;

14. Underwriter
This section must include information about the undéaw of the offer, as follows:

1. the name and address of the underwriter; and

2. the principal terms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

15. Expenses
This section must include details of thggregate offer expenses.
16. Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
authority.

17. Information concerning the debt instruments and terms and conditions of the offer
This section must include tliellowing information:

1. a statement that application has been made to the Authority for the application for registration
and offer of securities that are subject to this prospectus and to the Exchange for the listing;
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the nominal value of the offer;

full information on the rights conferred upon holders of debt instruments;
particulars of the debt instruments;

subscription method;

details of the early redemption of the offer;

the names and addresses of the paying agents, and any registrar and transfer duyedebt
instruments;

details of the arrangements for transfer of the debt instruments;

details of repayment related dates including the final maturity date and early repayment dates,

speci fying whether exerci saibnset rauumetnhtes G srseuceu &
date from which payments are due;

procedures and time limits for allocation and delivery of the debt instruments and, where there
will be temporary documents of title, the procedures for the delivery and exchange thereof;

adescription of the resolutions, and approvals by virtue of which the debt instruments will be
offered;

whether there are any guarantees, pledges or commitments intended to be provided to guarantee
the offer;

details of any agreements with the represerdaifithe holders of the debt instruments, if any,

the name and function and head office of such representative, the conditions under which the
representative may be replaced together with an indication of where the public may inspect
copies of the documentetailing the obligations of the representative;

a description of any subordination of the offer to any other debts or debt instruments of the
issuer;

a description of the applicable law related to the offer;
details of any restrictions on tiransferability of the debt instruments;

the date upon which it is expected that trading in the debt instruments will commence, if the
issuer can anticipate such date; and

if a public or private offer has been or is being made simultaneously on the nmdrteabsor
more countries at the same time, and if a tranche has been or is being reserved for certain of
these markets, details of any such offer or tranche must be provided.

Subscription declarations

This section must include information on the subsianiptieclarations, allocation process, and the
Exchangeds detail s.
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Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following

documents may be inspected and the period of timaglwhich the inspection may take place

(being not less than three days before the start of the offer):

1. the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer;

2. any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;

3. any contracbr arrangement, in effect or contemplated, in which a director or senior executive
or any of their relatives has an interest and that is related to the business of the issuer or any of
the i1issuerds subsidiaries (i foducdgip witigad | e) .
memorandum giving full particulars of the agreement

4. all other reports, letters, documentslue estimatesr statements by any expert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in the prospectus; and

5. theauditedfinancial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim
financial statements.

External auditordés report

Thei ssuer 6s audi éntstbrtheithrea yeard imnhediadety arecedng the date of the
publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial statemestde
enclosed

Guarantees

Wherea guarantee, pledge or other similar commitment is to be praothidddllowing information
must be included:

1. details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar
commitment including any conditionality on the application of the guarantee, pledge or similar
commitment; and

2. copies ofthe external auditors' and the directors' report on the accounts of the guarantor
company.

Bylaws

The i ss uenusbbe enolgséda w s
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ANNEX 16

CONTENTS OF A PROSPECTUS FOR CONVERTIBLE DEBT INSTRUMENTS OR

EXCHANGEABLE DEBT INSTRUMENTS

A prospectus submitted for the registration and offering of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable
debt instruments must contain the information under the following sections at a minimum:

1. Cover page

This section must include the following informati@gwhere applicable):

1
2)

3)

4)
5)
6)

7)

8)

9

the issuer's name, incorporation date and commercial registration number;
capital and number of shares (as applicable);

a summary of the offer including convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments
details and rights;

target participants;
offer period and conditions;

shares and debt instruments or convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments
that have been listed prior to the particular offer by the issuer (if applicable);

a statement that the issuexs submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
subject to this prospectus to the Authority, has submitted the application for listing to the
Exchange and has submitted all the required documents to the relevant authorities;

astaement referring to the Al mportant Noticeo

section (10) of this Annex, respectively before making an investment decision; and

the following declaration:

AThis prospectus includes information provid

offer of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of SaudilAa (the "Authority")

and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules &ahei

Stock Exchange Companyhe directors, whose hames appaahis prospectuscollectively

and individually accept full responsibility féhe accuracy of the information contained in this
prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement
herein misleading. ThAuthority and theSaudi Stock Exchange Compadg not take any
responsibility for the contents of this prospectus, do not make any representation as to its
accuracy or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising
from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the prospectus.

3. Corporate directory
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This section must contain ttelowing:

1. the 1issueros and i ts representativesd cont a
numbers, ena i | addresses, and the issuerodés website

2. the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, fagach of the parties listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the prospectus has been attributed:

a. the financial advisor;

b. the legal advisor;

c. the external auditor;

d. the underwriter (if any); and

e. the Capital Market Institigns authorised to place or sell the securities.
4. Offer summary

This section must contain a disclaimer to the target investors on the importance of reading the
prospectus prior to making an investment decision and include the following information (where

aplicable):
1. the issuerod6és name, description and incorpor af
2. the i ssuerods activities;

3. substantial shareholders showing their ownership percentages and number of shares;

4. the capital of the issuer;

5bthe i ssuerds tot alcabblumber of shares (as appl
6. the nominal value for offered convertible debt instrument or exchangeable debt instrument;

7. the total number of offered convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments;

8. The percentage of offered the convertible debt instrument® tcafpital of the issuer;

9. the use of proceeds;

10. types of targeted investors;

11. subscription method for each type of targeted investors;

12. the minimum number of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments to be
subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;

13. the minimum value of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments to be
subscribed for by eachgg of targeted investors;

14. the maximum number of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments to be
subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;
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15. the maximum value of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instrumemnts to b
subscribed for by each type of targeted investors;

16. allocation method and description of the process where an excess of subscription monies has
been received for all types of targeted investors;

17. the offer period,;

18. full information of rights granted to haers of the convertible debt instrument or the
exchangeable debt instrument;

19. details of convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments which includes:

a. Conversion or exchange price.
b. Conversion or exchange rate.

20. details of repayment raed dates including final maturity date and early repayment dates,
specifying whether exercisable at the request of the issuer or at the request of the holder of the
convertible debt instrument or exchangeable debt instrument, and the date from which
paynents are due to start;

21. restrictions on convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments;

22. details of the arrangements for transfer of the convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt
instruments;

23. the names and addresses of the paying sagantl any registrar and transfer agents for the
convertible debt instruments or exchangeable debt instruments;

24. details of the early redemption of the convertible debt instrument or exchangeable debt
instruments;

25.a statement referring to the Al mportant Noti
section (10) of this Annex, respectively before making an investment decision;

26. any information required under Annex 9 of the Rules on the Offer of Securiti€oatiduing
Obligations that has materially changed since approval of the most recent prospectus; and

27. any additional information required by the Authority to be provided in the prospectus as it
deems appropriate.

5. Key dates and subscription procedure
This section must include the following:
1. atimetable showing the expected dates of the offering; and

2. adescription of the subscription procedure.

6. Summary of basic information
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This section must include a summary of the basic information containedprogpectus,

including:
1. the issuerb6s mission and overall strategy;
2. the issuerdés key strengths and competitive a

3. an overview of the market.

7. Summary of financial information

This section must contain a summary of key financial informatiotegued in the prospectus,
including the issuerd6s operational perfor mance
indicators.

8. Table of contents

This section must include the prospectus table of contents.

9. Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used through the prospectus.

10. Risk factors

This section must contain information in relation to risk factors specific to:

1. the issuer;
2. the market or industry in which the issuer operates; and
3. thesecurities being offered.

11. Employees (as applicable)

1. any employee share schemes in place prior to the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus along with details on the aggregate amount of shares
owned by he employees in the issuer; and

2. any other arrangements involving the employees in the capital of the issuer.

12. Financial information

The information required below must be provided in relation to the issuer for the three financial
years immediately precedjnthe application for registration and offer of securities that are the
subject of this prospectus as well as the period covered in the interim financial statements as per
paragraph (4) of Articld1 of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuibgjgations:

1. comparative tables of financial information with commentary and analysis by management of

financial material information. The comparative tables must:

a. be prepared on a consolidated basis;

b. be extracted without material adjustment from auditeehcial statements; and

c. include financial information presented in a form consistent with that which is adopted in
the issuero6s annual financial statements.

2. Areport by certified external auditor must be prepared in accordance with the requirdments o

Annex 19 of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations in any of the

following circumstances:

a. where the external auditor has reservations on the report of the audited financial statements
of the issuer for any of the last three financial years immediately preceding the application
for registration and offer of securities that are the subject ®ptiaispectus;
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. where the issuer has undergone restructuring in the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are subject
to this prospectus;

c. where any material change has beee to the accounting policies of the issuer; or
d. where any material adjustment has been made or is required to be made to the published
audited financial statements during the periods referred to in subparagraph (1) above.

3. details of holdings, includingoldings in contractually based securities or other assets whose
value may be subject to fluctuations or be difficult to ascertain with certainty, significantly
affecting the assessment of the issuerdés fin:

4. The information required below raube provided in relation to the financial, operating
performance, and results of operations:

a. performance indicators;

b. the financial, operating performance, and results of operations of the main lines of business;

c. any seasonal or business cycles whi¢achthe business or the financial condition;

d. an explanation of any material changes from year to year in the financial information;

e. information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies
or other factors that have madtdly affected, or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, the operations;

f. the funding structure;

g. particulars of any capital of the issuer or any subsidiary (if any) which is under option,
including the consideration for which the option was @k lve granted, and the price and
duration of the option, and the name and address of the grantee, or provide an appropriate
negative statement.

h. Particulars of any alterations in the capital of the issuer, or where material, any of the
i ssuer 06 sl subsidiarges &fnapplicable), within the three years immediately
preceding the date of the application for registration and offer of securities that are the
subject of this prospectus. Such particulars must state the price and terms of any issues by
theissuer or its subsidiaries (if any);

For the purpose of measuring the substantiality of a subsidiary, the issuer and its financial
advisors must consider its impact on the investment decision in the securities and its price,
including but not limited toa subsidiary is considered substantial if it constitutes 5% or
more of the total assets, liabilities, revenues or profits of the issuer, or any potential
obligations on it.
5. property, plant and equipment
a. a breakdown of any existing material fixed asgatduding leased properties;
b. an explanation of the issuerds depreciatio
policy; and
c. any planned material fixed assets, including leased properties.
6. in relation to debt, a statement on a consolidated basis as at the most recent date must be
prepared covering the following:
a. a breakdown and classification of any debt instruments, convertible debt instrument and
exchangeable debt instrument issued arigtanding, and authorised or otherwise created
but unissued, and term loans, distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured
(whether the pledge is provided by the issuer or by third parties) and unsecured loans, or
provide an appropriate negatisgtement;
b. a breakdown and classification of all other borrowing or indebtedness, including bank
overdrafts, liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
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distinguishing between guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured asdraddeorrowing and
debt, or provide an appropriate negative statement;
c. a breakdown and classification of all mortgages, rights and charges on the issuer, and its

subsidiariesd6 properties (if any), or provi
d. abreakdwn of any contingent liabilities or guarantees, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

7. A statement by the directors of any material adverse change in the financial or trading position
in the three financial years preceding the applicationefgistration and offer of securities that
are subject to this prospectus and during the period from the end of the period covered in the
external auditorsdé report up to and includini
an appropriate negat\statement.

8. Particulars of any commissions, discounts, brokerages or oth@astbrcompensation granted
within the three years immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of
securities that are subject to this prospectus in commegtith the issue or offer of any
securities by the issuer or any of the issuer
of any directors, proposed directors, senior executives, persons offering or placing the securities
or experts who receéd any such payment or benefit, or provide an appropriate negative
statement.

Statements by experts

Where the prospectus includes a statement made by an expert, a statement must be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether sugferexor any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries (if any). In addition, the
statement should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the
publicationinthe prospécus of t he expertbds statement incl ud
is included.

Declarations

The directors of the issuer must make the following declarations:
1. Other than what has been mentioned on gageff this prospectus, there has not been a

interruption in the business of the issuer or
may have or has had a significant effect on the financial position in the last (12) months.

2. Other than what has been mentioned on pagef this propectus, no commissions, discounts,
brokerages fees or other noash compensations have been granted within the three years
immediately preceding the application for registration and offer of securities that are the subject
of this prospectus in connectiarth the issue or offer of any securities by the issuer or any of
its subsidiaries (if applicable).

3. Other than what has been mentioned on gagejf this prospectus, there has not been any
material adverse change in the financial or trading positigheofssuer or its subsidiaries (if
applicable) in the three years preceding the application for registration and offer of securities
that are the subject of this prospectus and
report and up to and inclird) the date of approval of the prospectus.

4. Other than what is mentioned on pgéof this prospectus, they do not have any shareholding
or interest of any kind in the issuer or any
does any relativef theirs.

Legal Information
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This section must include the following declarations from the board of directors that:

1. The issuance does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia.

2. The issuance does not constitute a breéemy contract/agreement entered into by the issuer.

3. all material legal issues concerning the issuer have been disclosed in the prospectus.

4. Details of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
company secretary tiie issuer.

5. Details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors or
proposed directors, senior executives, or the company secretary of the issuer were employed by
the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisoryaiigpa

6. other than what has been mentioned on pagef this document, the issuer and its subsidiaries
are not subject to any claims, litigious cases or any other type of legal proceedings that could
individually or collectively have a material effect tretbusiness of the issuer or its subsidiaries
or their financial position; and

7. other than what has been mentioned on pagef this document, the directors of the issuer
are not subject to any claims, litigious cases or any other type of legal prosetb@dingould
individually or collectively have a material effect on the business of the issuer or its subsidiaries
or their financial position.

8. Inrelation to the issuer and its subsidiaries (if applicable), the following must be included:

a. particulars ofany intangible assets such as trademarks, patents, copyright or other
intellectual property rights which are material in relation to the issuer's or any of its
subsidiariesd (i f applicable) business or p
which the issuer or any of its subsidiaries (if applicable) is dependent on such assets; and

b. particulars of any litigation, claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or
ongoing investigation which mayrahyaofis a mat
subsidiaries' business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

16. Underwriter
This section must include information about the underwriter of the offer, as follows:

1. the name and address of the underwriter; and
2. the principalterms of the underwriting agreement, including the compensation arrangement
between the issuer and the underwriter.

17. Expenses
This section must include details of the aggregate offer expenses.
18. Waivers
This section must include details on all requiremémdas have been waived for the issuer by the

authority.

19. Information concerning the convertible debt instruments or the exchangeable debt
instruments and terms and conditions of the offer

This section must include the following information:

1) a statementhat an application has been made to the Authority for the registration and offer of
the securities that are the subject of this prospectus and to the Exchange for the listing thereof;
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2) full information on the rights conferred upon holders of convertilelet éhstruments or the
exchangeable debt instruments;

3) details of the arrangements for transfer of the convertible debt instruments or the exchangeable
debt instruments;

4) procedures and time limits for allocation and delivery of the convertible déttrirents or the
exchangeable debt instruments and, where there will be temporary documents of title, the
procedures for the delivery and exchange thereof;

5) a description of the resolutions, and approvals by virtue of which the convertible debt
instrumentsor the exchangeable debt instruments will be issued and offered;

6) the guarantees, pledges or commitments intended to be provided to guarantee the offer;

7) details of any agreements with the representative of the holders of the convertible debt
instrument®or the exchangeable debt instruments, if any, the name and function and head office
of such representative, the conditions under which the representative may be replaced together
with an indication of where the public may inspect copies of the documetatitindethe
obligations of the representative;

8) a description of any subordination of the offer to any other debts or debt instruments of the
issuer;

9) a description of the applicable laws related to the offer;

10) the date upon which it is expected that tradimghe debt instruments will commence, if the
issuer can anticipate such date;

11) the times and circumstances where the offer may be suspended;

12) a description of the resolutions, and approvals by virtue of which the convertible debt
instruments or the exchgeable debt instruments will be offered:;

13) details of any lockup arrangement in place restricting the disposal of particular shares; and

14) number of new shares expected to be issued upon conversion of the entire issuance.

Price dilution

This section musinclude information on the expected share price dilution effects, its percentage
after conversion, and its impact on the shareholders.

Subscription Declarations

This section must include information on the subscription declarations, allocation prodess an
Exchangebs detail s.

Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following

documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection maydeke pla

(being not less than 3 days before the start of the gffer):

1) the bylaws and other constitutional documents of the issuer;

2) any document or order granting permission to offer securities to the public;

3) any contract or arrangement, in effect or conqtiatied, in which a director or senior executive
or any of their relatives has an interest and that is related to the business of the issuer or any of
the issuerés subsidiaries (if applicabl e) .
memorandum ging full particulars of the agreement;

4) all other reports, letters, documents, value estimates or statements by any expert any part of
which is extracted or referred to in the prospectus; and
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5) the audited financial statements of the issuer for each of the three financial years immediately
preceding the date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim
financial statements.

External auditordbés report
The i susliteedfmadnaial statements for the three financial years immediately preceding the

date of the publication of the prospectus, in addition to the most recent interim financial statements,
must be enclosed.

Guarantees

Where a guarantee, pledge or otherilsir commitment is to be provided the following
information must be included:
1) details regarding the terms, conditions and scope of the guarantee, pledge or other similar

commitment including any conditionality on the application of the guarantee, edugeilar
commitment; and

2) copies of the external auditors' and the directors' report on the accounts of the guarantor
company.

Bylaws

The issuerodés byl aws must be enclosed.
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ANNEX 17

CONTENT OF A SHAREHO LDERS' CIRCULAR FOR A CAPITAL INCREASE BY

DEBT CONVERSION

A shareholders' circular for the registration and offering of capital increase shares by debt conversion
shall contain the following information:

1. Cover page

This section must include the following information (whapplicable):

1) a summary of the offer including share class and rights;
2) purpose of the capital increase and the identity of the creditor;
3) a brief description of the debt conversion;
4 the issuerds current capital and number of s
5) whetherthe debt conversion is deemed to be a related party transaction;
6) the names and shareholdings of related parties (if any);
7) the creditor's pre and post capital ownership in the issuer;
8) the total value of the debt that is subjectt® transaction, and tlvalue and number of shares
to be issued;
9) a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of the
securities and the application for listing to the Exchange and that all requirements have been
met;
10) a statement referrimgpo  t he Al mportant Noticed and the 0
section (8)of this Annex, respectively before voting on the capital increase; and
11) the following declarations:
AiThis circular includes i nf or megistiatmmangoffes vi de d

of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations
of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Authority”) and the
application for listing of securities in cotignce with the Listing Rules of th®audi Stock
Exchange CompanyThe directors, whose names appeathis circular, collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
circular and confirm, haxig made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge
and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein
misleading. The Authority and th8audi Stock Exchange Compamp not take any
responsibility br the contents of this circular, do not make any representation as to its accuracy
or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or
incurred in reliance upon, any part of this circular. If understantimmgantents of such circular

is difficult, an authorised financial advisor must be appointed a n d

12) a statement from the directors of the issuer confirming that having done the due diligence they

deemed sufficient in the circumstances, the debt conversiothis best interests of the issuer
and the shareholders.
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2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the circular.

3. Corporate directory
This section must include the following:

tativesb®o cont act

1) thei ssuerdés and its r en
he issuerds website

e es
numbers, ena i | addresses, a t

2) the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of thertes listed below, and any other expert to whom a statement or
report included in the circular has been attributed:

a. the financial advisoof the issuer

b. the legal advisor of the issuer; and

c. the external auditor of the issuer.
4. Summary

This section must caain the following information (where applicable):

) the issuerb6s name, description and incorpor al

22 the i ssuerds activities;

3) substantial shareholders and their current ownership percentages;

4) the public, substantial shareholders of the issuer the creditor showing their ownership
percentages and number of shares qne postcapital increase

5) the capital of the issuer;

6) i ssuerodos total number of shares;
7) the nominal value per shares;

8) the total number of new shares;

9) the percentage of the new sbmto the capital of the issuer;

10) the issue price;

11) the total value of the issue;

12) description of the debt conversion including the identity of the creditor and key details in
relation thereto;

13) structure of the debt conversion;

14) rationale behind the debbnversion;
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15) statement on whether the debt conversion constitutes a related party transaction and if so the
identity, and ownerships of such parties;

16) a summary of the key steps required until the completion of the capital increase and the listing
of new shees;

17) the rights to dividends of the new shares;

18) consents and approvals required to complete the capital increase;
19) voting rights of the new shares;

20) restrictions on new shares;

2))a statement that the proposed c approvalatithei ncr e a
extraordinary general assempand

22a st atement to the issuerébés current sharehol d
and not merely the summary in an identifiable font)

5. Key dates and debt conversion milestones
This section must include a timetable showing the detailed timeline of the debt conversion.
6. Table of contents
This section must include the circular table of contents.
7. Terms and definitions
This section must include the terms and definitions used throughr¢léaci
8. Risk factors

This section must include information in relation to all risk factors relating to the debt conversion
including but not limited to:

1) commercial risks, legal risks, and risks relating to the issuance of the new shares;

2) thedilutionofcur r ent sharehol dersd ownership, and t|
and

3) any risk related to the potential control by the creditor (if post capital increase will result in
owning 30% or more by such parties).

9. The Debt Conversion
This section mudnclude all information relating to the debt conversion including:
1) the rationale behind the debt conversion and its implications on the issuer;

2) any envisaged changes in the issuer's board of directors or the executive management as a result
of the debt coversion;

3) the issuer's ownership structure pre and post the capital increase;
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the valuation of debthat is subject to the transactiand the resulting share valuation and
number of shares to be issued, the agreed debt conversion valuation termsgredudead
debt valuation, and the resulting share valuation and number of shares to be issued,;

5) details of any related parties who have direct or indirect interest in the transaction if the debt
conversion is considered as a related party transaction;

6) the poposed timing of the debt conversion and its key steps;
7) pre and post capital increase ownership structure;

8) the proforma financial statements reflecting the financial position of the issuer following the
debt conversion;

99 a compar i son arhande mdicatorsas peetefreo rprear fvas . t he i s s u¢
financials;

10) earnings per share accretion/dilution analysis; and

1Dt he i ssuerds share price performance, cover
application for registration and offef securities.

10. Financial information

This section must include at leabe pro-forma financial statements of the issuer poapital
increase and covering pforma balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows.

11 Legal Information

This section must include all legal information relating to the debt conversion including but not
limited to the following information:

1) board and senior executive declarations as to the following:

a. the debt conversion does not constitute a breach of the relavamtand regulations in
Saudi Arabia

b. the issuance does not constitute a breach of any contract/agreement entered into by the
issuer.

c. all material legal issues concerning the issuer have been disclosed in the circular.
d. this section includes all the matrilegal information about the debt conversion's
document s, which the issuerod6s sharehol der s

informed voting decision; and

e. that therds no other material legal information within this section the omissionhi¢iw
would make any statement herein misleading.

2) details on the debt conversion documents and agreements;
3) governmental approvals and third party consents required to complete the transaction;
4) particulars of any litigation or claim (including any litigatipending or threatened) or any

ongoing investigations which may have a material effect on the issuer or any of its subsidiaries
business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement;
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details of any bankruptcies of each director or propaBesttor, senior executives, or the
company secretary of the issuer (or a negative statement thereto);

6) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors or
proposed directors, senior executives, or the company agcoéthe issuer were employed by
the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity.
7) (where the debt conversion is a related party transaction) that the independent members of the
board of the issuer, other than the related parties, acknoavibdgthey do not have any direct
or indirect interest in any of the issuer's shares or in any of the shares or businesses (as
applicable) of the creditor, or in any contracts, signed or to be signed, between the parties of
the transaction, and that thegnfirm their full independency in respect of the shares issuance
subject of this circular.
Statements by experts
Where the circular includes a statement made by an expert, a statement should be included
specifying the qualifications of the expert amthether such expert or any relative has any
shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement
should confirm that the expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication
intheé¢ rcul ar of the expertébés statement included
Expenses
This section must include details of the aggregate debt conversion expenses.
Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have lmeadwfor the issuer by the
Authority.

Documents available for inspection

This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at which the following
documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspectidakegjace
(being not less than 14 days before the date of convening the extraordinary general assembly):
1) the transaction documents and agreements;

2) t he exami nefagmaifisascials;r 6 s pr o

3) the valuation report;

4) the advisors' consent letters to the tnggr names, logos and statements in the circular;

5) a statement of the origin and amount of the debt subject of the transaction which is signed and
certified by the board of directors and the auditors of the issuer; and

6) any other documents/information texpted by the Authority.
Annexes
This section should include the following annexes to the circular:

1) the issuerdés annual audited financials for
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2) the reviewed prdorma financial statement reflecting the financial position of idsuer
following the debt conversion.
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ANNEX 18
CONTENTS OF A CIRCUL AR FOR A CAPITAL INC REASE TO ACQUIRE A
COMPANY OR PURCHASE AN ASSET

The shareholders' circular for the registration and offering of capital increase to aampritpamy or
purchase an asset shall contain the following information as minimum:

1. Cover page
This section must include the following information (where applicable):
1. asummary of the offer including share class and rights;
2. purpose of the capital increaaed the identity of the target company/assets;
3. whether the transaction is deemed to be a related party transaction;
4. the names and shareholdings of related parties (if any);
5. a brief description of the acquisition transaction or purchase;

6. details of ownersipi of the public, the substantial shareholders and the owners of the target
company/asset.

7. total value of the transaction with the details of consideration provided to the owners of the
target company/asset.

8. the current capital of the issuer and the numidfeshares that have been listed prior to the
particular offer by the issuer;

9. a statement that the issuer has submitted the application for registration and offer of securities
to the Authority and the application for listing to the Exchange and thacalirements have
been met;

10a statement referring to the Al mportant Not.i
section (8)of this Annex, respectively before voting to the resolution of capital increase;

11. the following declarations:

AiThis circular includes information provided
of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations

of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Aglithe "Authority") and the
application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing Rules ofStuedi Stock

Exchange CompanyThe directors, whose names appeathis circular, collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for haccuracy of the information contained in this

circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge

and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein
misleading. The Authity and the Saudi Stock Exchange Compamp not take any
responsibility for the contents of this circular, do not make any representation as to its accuracy

or completeness, and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or
incurred in reliance upon, any part of this ci
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12. a statement from the directors of the issuer confirming that having done the due diligence they
deemed sufficient in the circumstances, the acquisition or purchase is in the best interests of the
isster and the shareholders.

2. Important notice

This section must include a notice which shows the purpose and the nature of information
mentioned in the circular.

3. Corporate directory
This section must include the following:

1. the iissueros a n aontactt isformaterp rinelwliagn addrdsses; eekeghone
numbers, ana i | addresses, and the issuerodés website

2. the contact information, including addresses, telephone numbers, and websitenaitd e
addresses, for each of the parties listed below, and anyetpert to whom a statement or
report included in the circular has been attributed:

a.the i ssuerodos financi al advisor ;
b.the i ssueroés | egal advisor; and
c. the i ssuerods external auditor.

4. Summary
This section must contain the following information (whapplicable):
1. the issuerb6s name, description and incorpor al
2. the i ssuerods activities;

3. substantial shareholders showing their ownership percentages and number of sharas pre
postcapital increase;

4. the capital of the issuer;

5. 1 s s u e rnadnter bf sharas|

6. the nominal value per shares;

7. the total number of new shares;

8. the percentage of the new shares to the capital of the issuer;
9. the issue price;

10. the total value of the issue;

11. description of the acquisition or purchase including the ideottitiye target company/asset and
key details in relation thereto;

12. description of the target company/asset and incorporation information of the target company;
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13. activities of the target company/asset;

14. substantial shareholders of the target (or the ownetsechsset as applicable) showing their
ownership percentages and number of shares (or stakes as the case mayane) post
offering;

15. collective and individual ownership of the selling shareholders/ owners of the target
company/asset in the issuer shaid acquisition or purchase take place

16. the capital of the target;
17t arget 6s total number of share (or stakes as

18. statement on whether the acquisition or purchase constitutes a related party acquisition or
purchase and if so the identityydaownerships of such parties;

19. names of the selling shareholders of the target company to be acquired and the stakes/shares
sought (collectively and from each selling shareholder);

20. the total value of the consideration and a break down (where applicable);

21. structure of the acquisition or purchase;

22. pre and post capital increase ownership structure in the issuer;

23. pre and post capital increase ownership structure in the target company or asset (as applicable);
24. ownership dilution effects

25. earnings per share actom/dilution;

26. rationale behind the acquisition or purchase;

27. a summary of the key steps required until the completion of the capital increase and the listing
of new shares;

28. the rights to dividends of the new shares;

29. consents and approvals require¢dmplete the capital increase;
30. voting rights of the new shares;

31 restrictions on new shares; and

32astatement that the proposed capital i ncreas
extraordinary general assembénd

33. include a disclaimer in idifiable font to the shareholders on the importance of reading the
entire circular &nd not just the summargjior to voting at the extra ordinary general assembly
on the capital increase.

5. Key dates and acquisition or purchase milestones

This sectiormust include a timetable showing the detailed timeline of the acquisition or purchase.
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6. Table of contents

This section must include the circular table of contents.
7. Terms and definitions

This section must include the terms and definitions used througir¢bkac
8. Risk factors

This section must include information in relation to all risk factors relating to the acquisition or
purchase including but not limited to:

1) commercial risks, legal risks, and risks relating to the transaction and the issuanceeef the n
shares;

2) thedi l uti on of current sharehol dersé ownership

3) any risk related to the potential control by selling shareholders (if post capital increase will
result in owning 30% or more by such parties).

9. Market details of the relevant industry and trends of the target company/asset to be acquired
10. The Acquisition or Purchase
This section must include all information relating to the acquisition or purchase including:
1) a detailed breakiown of the acquisitioa or pur chaseds considerati oo
designated to each selling shareholder of the target company to be aoqtivedsset to be
purchased,;

2) the rationale behind the acquisition or purchase and its implications on the issuer;

3) any envisage changes in the issuer's board of directors or the executive team as a result of the
acquisition or purchase;

4) an outline of the business of the target company/asset to be acquired;

5) the valuation of the target company/asset including a descriptionwaltretion methodologies
and assumptions utilised, the final agreed proposed valuation of the target company to be
acquired/asset to be purchased, the final agreed value of the stakes/shares sought in the target
company to be acquired, the correspondingealf acquisition or purchase consideration and
the value and number of shares to be issued by the issuer, the agreed acquisition or purchase
terms in lights of the above (for instance, the agreed upon consideration, portion of the
consideration which wilbe paid in cash and in the proposed issued shares) ; covering at least
the agreed value of the stakes/shares sought, a-thoeak of the consideration (i.e. shares vs.
cash), the resulting share swap ratio and cash component per share (if any);

6) details ofany related parties who have direct or indirect interest in the acquisition or purchase;
7) pre and post capital increase ownership structure;

8) the Preforma financial statements reflecting the financial position of the issuer following the
acquisition or pwhase;
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9 a comparison of the issuer & rprear fvesr. ma rhee iisrsdie
financials;

10) earnings per share accretion/dilution analysis; and

1Dt he i ssuerds share price performancehe cover
application for registration and offer of securities.

11. Financial information

This section must include a reasoned management discussion and analysis on the target
company/asset.

12. Legal Information

This section must include all legal information relatioghe acquisition or purchase, including but
not limited to the following:

1) the directors of the issuer must make the following declarations:

a) the acquisition or purchase does not constitute a breach of the relevant laws and regulations
in Saudi Arabia

b) theissuance does not constitute a breach of any contract/agreement entered into by the
issuer;

¢) this section includes all the material legal information about the acquisition's or purchase's
document s, which the i ssuer Oaiontomakeawal| der s
informed voting decision;

d) that there are no other material legal information within this section the omission of which
would make any statement herein misleading; and

e) (where the acquisition or purchase is a related party transadban}hie independent
members of the board of the issuer, other than the related parties, acknowledge that they do
not have any direct or indirect interest in any of the issuer's shares or in any of the shares
or businesses of the target (or the asset foubehased), or in any contracts, signed or to
be signed, between the parties of the acquisition or purchase, and that they confirm their
full independency in respect of the acquisitions or purchases subject of this circular.

2) description of the legal strugke of the acquisition or purchase;

3) governmental approvals and third party consents required to complete the acquisition or
purchase;

4) a summary of all material contracts and agreeme=iéding to the capital increase for the
purpose stated in this cireut

5) material terms, conditions and any conditions prec&aetértakings as per the acquisition
agreement;

6) material terms and conditions and any conditions precedent/undertakings for the other
acquisition or purchase documéatgeements;
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particulars of ay litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or any
ongoing investigations which may have a material effect on the issuer or any of its subsidiaries
business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

8) particulas of any litigation or claim (including any litigation pending or threatened) or any
ongoing investigations which may have a material effect on the target or any of its subsidiaries
business or financial position, or an appropriate negative statement.

9) detdls of any bankruptcies of each director or proposed director, senior executives, or the
company secretary of the issuer (or a negative statement thereto).

10) details of any company insolvency in the preceding five years where any of the directors or
proposedlirectors, senior executives, or the company secretary of the issuer were employed by
the insolvent company in a managerial or supervisory capacity (or a negative statement thereto).

13. Statements by experts

Where the circular includes a statement made byexaert, a statement should be included

specifying the qualifications of the expert and whether such expert or any relative has any

shareholding or interest of any kind in the issuer or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, the statement
should confirm thiathe expert has given and not withdrawn his written consent to the publication

in the circular of the expertbés statement incl

14. Expenses
This section must include details of the aggregate acquisitiomrcingise expenses.
15. Waivers

This section must include details on all requirements that have been waived for the issuer by the
Authority.

16. Documents available for inspection
This section must include information in relation to the place in the Kingdom at thieiébllowing
documents may be inspected and the period of time during which the inspection may take place
(being not less than 14 days before the date of convening the extraordinary general assembly):
1) the bylaws andhe articles of associatiaf the taget and any amendments thereto (if any);
2) the acquisition or purchase documents and agreements;
3) the targetobés audited financials for the past
4) t he i s sfarnearfirdascialg, r o
5) the valuation report;

6) the advisors consent letters to tis® their names, logos and statements in the circular; and

7) any other documents/information requested by the Authority.
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17. Annexes

This section should include the following annexes to the circular:

1.

the annual audited financial statements for the pastyleges (if any) preceding the date of the
application for the target company/asset (where applicable);

the reviewed prdorma financial statement reflecting the financial position of the issuer
following the acquisition or purchase; and

where the targetia company, a copy of the target és
including all amendments to date.
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ANNEX 19
EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S R EPORT

This Annex details the external auditor's report which is prepared pursuant to Anfean(féntof a
Registration Documerfbr Registratiorof Debt Instruments Offerebly way of Private Placemerfor

an Issuer Without Securities Listaah The Exchange Annex (12)(Contents of a Prospectus for
Shares), Annekl3) (Content of a Prospectus for a RightaisAnnex(14) (Contents of a Prospectus

for Debt Instruments and Convertible Debt Instruments for an issuer without securities listed on the
Exchange) and Annefl5) (Content of a Prospectus for Debt Instruments for an issuer that has
securities currently listed on the Exchange) to the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing
Obligations. The Authority must be consulted in cases where the issuer is uncettawhasher an
external auditor's report is required.

The external auditor's report must be prepared by an independent external auditor who is a current
member certified by SOCPA.

1) Contents of external auditor's report:
a) The report must cover the issw@erd its subsidiaries (if applicable).

b) The report must be extracted from the audited financial statements and adjusted as considered
necessary by the reporting external auditor.

c) The report must be prepared in accordance with the accounting stasdastsbhy SOCPA.

d) The report must include the following financial information, presented in a form consistent
with that which is adopted in the issuerds
three financial years immediately preceding the apptia for registration and offer of
securitiesubject to the relevaprospectus or the application for the registratiogeaiurities
subject to the relevant registration document [use as applicable]:

1. balance sheet;

2. income statement;

3. cash flow satement;

4. accounting policies; and

5. any notes to the financial statements covering, as a minimum, the last three financial
years.

e) The report must contain an opinion by the external auditor as to whether or not, for the
purposes for which it was ared, the report gives a true and fair view of the financial
matters set out therein.

f) If the opinion in paragraph (e) above is qualified, the report must refer to all material matters
about which the external auditor has reservations, give all resahge qualifications and,
if both relevant and practicable, quantify its effect.

g) Inthe event that the issuer is applying for registration and offer of the securities or applying
for the registration obecuritiesluse as applicable] for the first time, the report must not
contain any qualification unless the Authority is satisfied that the qualification is acceptable
to the Authority and has been adequately explained so as to enaiveetters to make a
properand appropriate assessment of the significance of the matter that is the subject of the
qualification.
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2) Statement of adjustments

If the external auditor, when preparing his report, considers it necessary to effect adjustments to
previously published figusg such adjustments must be limited to those that the external auditor
considers necessary. The external auditor must prepare and sign a written statement of the
adjustments, and submit it to the Authority for each period to which the report relatesh in su
form and detail and with such explanation as will show how the reported figures reconcile to the
corresponding information in the published accounts. The statement of adjustments must be made
available for inspection.

3) Material acquisitions and disposafsade during the period under review

a) Where the issuer has acquired at any time during the three financial years immediately
preceding the application faegistration and offer of securitiesr application for the
registration ofsecuritiequse as apptable] thatare subject to the report, an undertaking or
assets which would be classified as material by the Authdimgncial information on the
undertaking or assets must be given covering the last three years. An acquisition or
disposition will be raterial where the consideration due in respect of such acquisition or
disposition is greater than 15% of the net book value of the existing net assets of the issuer
and its subsidiaries (if applicable).

b) The external audi t or Basquisitempidarnatioman she issuenandl ud e t
its subsidiaries and relevant undertaking referred to in paragraph (a) above.

c) Where the issuer has, since the date to which the latest published annual financial statements
have been made up, acquired or dégub of an undertaking or assets which would be
classified as material by the Authority, a pro forma net assets statement showing the effect of
the acquisition or disposal on the net assets must be submitted.

In the case of a new application for registration and offeeofiritieor application for theegistration

of securitiequse as applicablg] wher e t he external auditordés repol
for the last three financial years ofyaundertaking acquired by the issuer during the period under review

has been qualified, the issuer will be regarded as unsuitable for registradiaffer of the securities

or registration oBecuritiequse as applicablepnless the Authority is satisfl that the qualification has

been adequately explained so as to enable the investors to make a proper and appropriate assessment of

the significance of the matter that is the subject of the qualification.

207



alloJhgguull dus
Capital Market Authority .

ANNEX 20
FORM OF A FINANCIAL ADVISOR'S LETTER

[To be provided on the financial advisor's letterhead

To: The Authority

In our capacity acting as the financial advisorgleése insert the name of the "issudréferred to
hereinafter asissuer)i n respect of the issuerés apploi cati on
registrationof securitiequse as applicable[please provideletails of the securiti@¢g capital increase

by way of a debt conversiopléase provide details of the delsinversiof [use as applicableland in
accordance with Articl€¢39) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations, we
[please insert the name of the financial adismnfirm, to the best of our knowledge, and through
conducting dueliligence and making enquiries of the issuer and its advisors, that the issuer has satisfied
all conditions required for registration and offer of securities and has satisfied all other matters required
by the Capital Market Authority (the "Authority”) a$the date of this lettefplease insert the financial
advisor namgfurther confirms that it has, to the best of its knowledge and within its capacity as
financial advisor, provided to the Authority any information or clarifications in such form ahawit

such time limit as the Authority required for the purpose of verifying wheptesige insert the financial
advisor nampand the issuer have complied with the Capital Market Law, Listing Rules and the Rules
on the Offers of Securities and Continuingli@ations.

In particular, please insert the financial advisor naheenfirms that:

1) it has provided all the relevant services required by the Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligations with due care and skill;

2) it has taken reasonable stdp satisfy itself that the directors of the issuer understand the nature
and extent of their responsibilities under the Capital Market Law, its Implementing Regulations
and the Exchange Rules; and

3) it has come to a reasonable opinion, based on due emauiryrofessional experience, that:

a. the issuer hasatisfied all relevant requirements for the registration and offer of secuorities
registration ofsecurities[use as applicable](including provisions regarding the prospectus)
(including provisions regarding the shareholder circu{@mdiuding provisions regarding the
registration documenfuseas applicable];

b. the directors of the issuer have established adequate procedutesisand systems which
enable the issuer to comply with the requirementh@Rules on the Offer of Securities and
Continuing Obligationsthe Listing Rules, the Capital Market Laws Implementing
Regulations and the Exchange Rukesd

c. that allmatters known todlease insert the financial advisor najwehich should be taken
into account by the Authority when considerithg application for registration and offer of
securities or the application for the registration s&curities[use as applichle], have been
disclosed to the Authority.

d that the scope of the financial due diligeni
application for registration and offer of securitbegegistration okecuritiegas applicablejuse
asapplicable]
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[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than tgars. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigatamedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request]
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ANNEX 20 (A)
FORM OF A FINANCIAL ADVISOR'S LETTER FOR A SPECIAL PURPOSES
ENTITY
[To be provided on the legal advisor's letterfead

To: The Authority

In our capacityacting as the financial advisor to (please insert the name ofpleeial purposes
entity") (referred to hereinafter dspecial purposes entiyin respect of thespecial purposes
entityds application for regi st wvidetdetadsrof tre seduritef)iner o f
accordance with Articl€39) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations, we
[please insert the name of the financial advisor] confirm, to the best of our knowledge, and through
conducting due diligence and making enquiries offhexial purposes entity, theossorandtheir
advisors, that the issuand the sponsdrave satisfied all conditions required for registration and
offer of securities and has satisfied all other matters required by the Capital Market Authority (the
"Authority") as of the date of thigtter.[please insert the financial advisor name] further confirms
that it has, to the best of its knowledge and within its capacity as financial advisor, provided to the
Authority any information or clarifications in such form and within such time withe Authority
required for the purpose of verifying whether [please insert the financial advisor, tlaengonsor

and thespecial purposes entityave complied with the Capital Market Law, Listing Rules and the
Rules on the Offers of Securities and@ouing Obligations.

In Particular, please insert the financial advisor nmenfirms that:

1) It has provided all relevantesvices required by the Rules on the Offer of Séiegriand
Continuing Obligationswith the required care and experience.

2) That it has taken reasonable steps to verify that the members of the board of directors of the
Special Purpose Entity and the Sponsor understand the nature and extent of their responsibilities
in accordance with the Capital Market Law and its Implemeri@egulations an@&xchange
Rules

3) It has reached a reasonable opinion, based on adequate investigations and professional
experienceto ensure that:

a. The Special Purpose Entity and the Sponsor have met all requirements relating to the
registration and placemeaf securitiesor the registration oecuritiequse as applicable]
(including provisions relating to the Prospeabusegistration documeyais applicable

b. The members of the board of directors of the special purpose entity and the sponsor have
developed procedures, controls and systems sufficient to enable the special purpose entity
and the sponsor to meet the requirements of the Rules On The Offer Ofi&zéund The
Continuing Obligations, the Listing Rules, the Capital Market Law and its implementing
regulations, anthe Exchang®ules.

c. All known issues of [insert name of the financial advisor] that the Authority should consider

when reviewing the application for registration anddfiering of securitiesor application
for the registration ofecuritiequse as applicable]hasbeen déclosed to théuthority.
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[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate,
certified copies) for a periodot less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any
existing or threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents,
the offeror shall retain such documents until the completion of such litigation,ai@iwvestigation
procedures. Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request]
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ANNEX 21
FORM OF A LEGAL ADVI SOR'S LETTER
[To be provided on the legal advisor's letterhead

To: The Authority

We act as legal advisor tplgaseinsert the name of the issliéreferred to hereinafterdsi ssuer 0) i
respect of the i ssuer ds appl iocradisirabon obécaritiejusee gi st r a
as applicable](please provide details of the securijies

We further refer to the draft prospectus / shareholders ciréutagistration documenfuse as

applicablg prepared in relation to the issuptdase provide details of the offeaind more specifically,

in connection with the applicationtothe Capkbh r k et Aut hority (the HfAAut hor
and offer of thesecurities othe issuelor registration ofecuritieuse as applicable]We have, in

relation to the application, and in consultation with the financial advisor to the applicahased the

issuer in relation to the requirements of the Capital Market Law its Implementing Regulations and the
ExchangeRulesincludingthe Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations.

In particular, we have advised the issuer on thetent of the legal sections of the prospectus /
shareholders circuldrregistration documerjuse as applicableIn this respect, we have carried out
such further review and enquiries as we consider appropriate in the circumstaribesantdertaken

a formal legal due diligence reviduse as applicable])

In our capacity as such counsel, we confirm that we are not aware of any material matter of
noncompliance by the issuer with the requirements of the Capital Market Law its Implementing
Regulations ad the Exchange Ruléscluding any conditions imposed by the Rules on the Offer of
Securities and Continuing Obligations and the Listing Rules, including the content requirements in
relation to the prospectus/ shareholders circutagistration documerjuise as applicableas at the

date hereof.

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) br a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of suchdliiom, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request]
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ANNEX 21 (A)
FORM OF A LEGAL ADVI SOR'S LETTER FOR A SPECIAL PURPOSES ENTITY

[to be provided on the legal advisor's letterhead

To: TheAuthority

We, acting as legal advisor tpl¢ase insert the name of the special purposes entitf ir ef er r e d
hereinafter as "special purposes entity") i n re
registration and offer of securitiesregstration of securitieBise as applicable{please provide details

of the securitigs

We further refer to the draft prospectus prepared in relation to the special purposegleasieygrovide

details of the offdr/ registration documertise asapplicable], and more specifically, in connection

with the application submitted to tlapitalMarketAut hor i ty (t he fAAuthorityo)
offer of its securitie®r registration oits securities and after consultation with the financadvisor

regarding the application in relation to the requirements o€Ctpital MarketLaw its Implementing
Regulations and th&xchangeRules including theRules on theOffer of Securities andContinuing

Obligations, we particularly advised the spe@arposes entity of the requirements that should be
included in the legal chapters of the prospe¢tregistrationdocumentuse as applicable]ln this

respect, we have carried out such further review and enquiries as we consider appropriate in the
circumstances.

In our advisory capacity, we confirm that we are not aware of any material matter consisting a violation
by the special purposes entity to the requirements ofCtygtal Market Law its Implementing
Regulations and thExchangeRulesincluding any conditions imposed by tRelles on theDffer of
Securities andContinuingObligationsand thelListing Rules, including the requirements of the content

of the prospectubregistrationdocumenfuse as applicablegs at the date hereof.

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified
copies) for a period not less than ten yebwrscase ba lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completion of such litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted taAthiority upon request]
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ANNEX 22
FORM OF LETTER REQUIRED FOR A CAPITALISATION ISSUE

Theissuer must provide th&uthority with an application letter to obtain theu t h o approval 6ns
any capitalisation issue and the registration of shatesletter shall contain the following
information on the relevant issue according to the most recent audited annual financial statements:

1. the nominal val ue oapitalbdioee andaftentletissus; | i st ed shai
2. the number of shares issued before and after the issue;
3. the ratio of shares to be issued as a result of the issue to the number of shares issued prior to
the issue;
4. the value of the reserves to be utilised in the issue;
5. the nature of the reserves to be utilised in the issue;
6. a statement that the reserves used for any capital alteration are sufficient for such capital
alteration and that the capital alteration complies with applicable rules and regulations
7. the details onltgare fraction treatment (if any);
8. the date of the audited annual financial statements from which the value of the reserves to be
utilised was taken and a certified copy of such statements;
9. details of any dividends or other actions that may impact thimedtaarnings and the
reserves that appear in the financial statements referred to in paragraph (8) above or an
appropriate negative statemeand
10. include a statement on the approval from the relevant regulatory authorities as well as a copy
of this appoval (where applicable).
[This annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determindeliblydhgy
for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriate, certified copies)
for a period not lesthan ten years. in case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or threatened
action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall retain such

documents until the completion of such litigation, claim oestigation proceduredoreover, such
documents must be submitted to fhghority upon request]
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ANNEX 23
CONTENT OF LETTER REQUIRED FOR CAPITAL REDUCTION

The issuer must provide the Authority with a signed and dated application letter to obtain the
Aut horityds approval on any <capital reduction. T

1. The nominal wvalue of t he andafterdhe capital rebuctort. e d s h a
2. The total number of share$ the issuebeforeand after theapital reduction.

3. The ratio of remaining share$the issueafter the capital reduction to the number of shafes
the issueprior to the capital reduction.

4. Thevalue of the capital reduction.
5. Themethod of the capital reduction.
6. The details on sdre faction treatment (if any).

7. The date of the financial statements from which rémguired numbers fovaluationsof the
capital reduction were taken and a certified copy of such statements

8. Include a statement on the approval from the relevant regukatithgrities(if any) as well as
a copy of this approval.

[This Annex shall be submitted electronically through the automated system determined by the
Authority for this purpose and the offeror shall retain the original copies (or, where appropriategdcertif
copies) for a period not less than ten years. In case of a lawsuit or claim (including any existing or
threatened action) or any existing investigation procedures relating to such documents, the offeror shall
retain such documents until the completioinsuch litigation, claim or investigation procedures.
Moreover, such documents must be submitted to the Authority upon request]
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